
 

 

    
Agenda for Poverty Working Panel 

Monday, 20th March, 2023, 10.00 am 
 
Members of Poverty Working Panel 

Councillors: M Allen, M Armstrong, J Bonetta, M Chapman, 

B De Saram, S Hawkins, P Jarvis, D Ledger (Chair), M Rixson 
and T Woodward  

 
Venue: Online via Zoom 

 
Contact: Sarah James; 

01395 519978 Email: sjames@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Friday, 10 March 2023 
 

 
 
1 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online  

 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 December 2022  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3 Apologies   

4 Declarations of interest   

5 Poverty Strategy actions quarterly update - Helen Wharam, Public Health Project 
Officer   

6 Update on use of hardship funds - Libby Jarrett, Assistant Director Revenues & 
Benefits   

7 Alternative Fuel Payment and the Alternative Fund - Briefing by Libby Jarrett, 

Assistant Director Revenues & Benefits   

8 Update on Warm Spaces - Yusef Masih, Interim Housing Services Manager  
(Pages 9 - 15) 

9 Greater Manchester Poverty Action East Devon District strategy - case study - Cll 
Dan Ledger, Chair  (Pages 16 - 22) 

10 Joseph Rowntree Foundation - The essential guide to understanding poverty in 

the UK - Yusef Masih, Interim Housing Services Manager  (Pages 23 - 163) 

 
 
 

 
Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 

public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 
it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 

East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content


record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 

you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 
meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 

equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  
 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 

disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 
asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 

oral commentary during the meeting. The Chair has the power to control public recording 
and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 

Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Speaking will be 
recorded. 

 
Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Poverty Working Panel held at Online via Zoom app 

on 8 December 2022 

 
Attendance list at end of document 

The meeting started at 10.00 am and ended at 12.10 pm 
 

 
42    Public speaking  

 

There were no members of the public registered to speak. 

 
43    Declarations of interest  

 

There were none. 
 

44    Minutes of the previous meeting held on 17 October 2022  

 

The minutes of the previous meeting were noted as a true and accurate record. 
 

45    Rough Sleeper Navigators' presentation  

 

The Housing Solutions Manager introduced this item which detailed the work being 

undertaken to target rough sleeping in the district.  The Rough Sleeper Navigators are 
two of four posts financed through the Rough Sleeper Initiative via DLUHC, following a 

bidding process in which EDDC had to explain out how the money would be targeted.  
The funding is for £568k over 3 years effective from April 2022, which enables the team 
to make some longer term plans to target rough sleeping.    

 
The presentation set out the scale of homelessness and rough sleeping in East Devon, 

and detailed the schemes and projects in place to address rough sleeping including: 
 Housing First, which provides accommodation for those for whom other accommodation 

options are not available or have not worked out. 

 A Rent Deposit and Bond Scheme, which assisted 81 households into private sector 
housing in 2021-22 and 38 so far in the first six months of 2022-23. 

 Two Rough Sleeper Navigators who provide support for rough sleepers, follow up new 
reports of rough sleepers, carry out outreach work and partnership working in the 
community, and follow through cases from the start until a positive outcome is achieved. 

 
Positive outcomes for people and households from a rough sleeping background include: 

 11 assisted into supported accommodation last year, and 9 this year 

 17 assisted into private sector accommodation last year, and 9 this year 

 10 assisted into social housing last year, and 3 this year. 

 

The following points were made in discussion: 
 The number of rough sleepers changes constantly and there are seasonal fluctuations.  

Whereas some are assisted into accommodation, others may return home or move out of 
the district. 

 Accommodation options are somewhat restricted for rough sleepers with dogs, since a lot 
of temporary and private sector accommodation will not accept pets, but every effort is 
made to keep people and their dogs together.  There is a recent case where a home was 
found for a person and their dog but a positive outcome would have been secured more 
quickly had it not been necessary to find somewhere that would take dogs.  

page 3

Agenda Item 2



Poverty Working Panel 8 December 2022 
 

 Some rough sleepers are initially resistant to accepting help but the Rough Sleeper 
Navigators persist, with a view to forming trusting relationships over time. 

 There are more male than female rough sleepers and often there are complex needs 
including drink or drug issues but there is no specific factor common to all rough sleepers.   

 There is a strong focus on prevention and as soon as it is known that a person is at risk of 
homelessness, the Housing Options Team can act to try to prevent a rough sleeping 
situation. 

 The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) is triggered where temperatures drop 
below freezing over 3 consecutive nights, and Councils are obligated to make contact 
with rough sleepers and offer temporary accommodation.  This can kick-start a positive 
process of engagement and a lot of effort goes into trying to address a person’s situation 
and move them on to more permanent accommodation.  It was noted that SWEP is in 
operation at the present time.   

 
The Working Panel then heard from the Rough Sleeper Navigators Leah Steele and Julie 

Brooke who detailed a number of case studies which illustrated the breadth of the critical 
work they do in the community, which changes people’s lives. 

 
Discussion following the Rough Sleeper Navigators presentation included the following 
points: 

 One Member was concerned to learn that the housing cost element of Universal Credit is 
insufficient for a room in a shared house, and this is a key contributory factor to the 
situations people find themselves in.  He suggested it would be appropriate for this 
Council to lobby for an increase in the housing element of Universal Credit. 

 Members recognised the emotional pressure that the Rough Sleeper Navigators must be 
under and asked if they have the emotional support and training that they need.  The 
Rough Sleeper Navigators commented that they feel well supported by each other and 
their managers, and can access counselling if necessary through the Employee 
Assistance Programme. 

 
The Strategic Lead – Housing, Health & Environment thanked the Rough Sleeper 
Navigators for the difficult work they do with some very good outcomes, often following 

very persistent interventions for people who initially do not want to be helped.   
 

46    Breathing Spaces Scheme update  

 

The Service Lead – Revenues and Benefits introduced this item which detailed the 
background to the Breathing Spaces scheme and how it works.   
 

Breathing space came into force in May 2021 through legislation, and is a mechanism by 
which residents are able to engage with a debt advisor and to obtain the time that they 
need to organise their debts so that they can manage them or enter into one of the 

existing insolvency processes.   
 

The number of residents entering breathing space has been low in East Devon 
particularly when compared with the number of banded properties/adult residents in the 
district.  The notifications have caused additional work to officers to search for debts and 

hold them for the required periods of time but the low numbers involved has meant that 
this additional work is minimal. 

 
The trend this year has been for less people and less debt to be entering breathing 
space within the area compared to last year but with the cost of living crisis which is likely 

to lead more people falling into debt or not being able to maintain debt plans, there may 
be more residents entering into breathing space along with higher level of debts owed. 

 
page 4



Poverty Working Panel 8 December 2022 
 

The debt that has the highest amount held by breathing space notifications is Council 
Tax but this was expected from the outset.  No debts so far for business rates have been 

the subject of Breathing Space. 
 
The Government are still considering the introduction of a Statutory Debt Repayment 

Plan, and the consultation findings relating to this can be found at Microsoft Word - 
SDRP Government response November 2022 (publishing.service.gov.uk).  As the 

Statutory Debt Repayment Plan is not yet law, the Council as a creditor is not bound to 
have to accept any repayment plan put forward by the Insolvency Service.  No 
repayment plans have come in under this route however, and for a lot of people using 

the Breathing Space scheme, it has not led to any follow on action or arrangements, and 
it appears they have not used the time to address their debts.  It is therefore intended to 

do some follow up work to help this Council to better understand what some of the 
outcomes are for those using the Breathing Spaces scheme. 
 

The Working Panel noted the report. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

47    Housing Support Fund update  

 

The Service Lead – Revenues and Benefits introduced a briefing on the Additional 
Discretionary Fund.  This follows Members approval at full Council on 19 October 2022, 

where Officers were asked to investigate creating an Additional Discretionary Fund using 
evidence from the Social Resilience (Poverty) Dashboard, and how this could be 
financed and resourced. 

 
At the 2 November 2022 Cabinet Meeting under the report titled “Household Support 

Fund (HSF) and Discretionary Fund” it was highlighted that the Council already had 
funds set aside of £257K within the Hardship Fund to support households struggling to 
afford essentials. It was proposed that this funding could be used in addition to the 

Household Support Funding to help households struggling.   
 

The previous Covid-19 Hardship Policy has been updated and renamed the Cost of 
Living Hardship Fund, to run alongside the Housing Support Fund (HSF) Policy.  This 
updated draft policy allows flexibility over how the fund of £257K will be utilised.  

Currently, the Council is not in a position to identify where the need is for further support 
until the targeted funding from the HSF has been distributed and there is a better 

understanding of who is approaching through the open application process.  As the HSF 
is time limited, the Council will always seek to use that funding first. 
 

A full equality impact assessment will be presented to Cabinet as part of the proposed 
draft policy, if Working Panel members agree to this approach. 

 
The report also detailed other schemes in place to support people with the cost of living 
including the Energy Rebate Scheme, Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme, 

Alternative Funding Scheme and Alternative Fuel Payment. 

page 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1119828/SDRP_Government_response_November_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1119828/SDRP_Government_response_November_2022.pdf


Poverty Working Panel 8 December 2022 
 

 
The following points were made in discussion: 

 It is important to get the word out about the HSF, via social media as well as flyers in 
community centres, and the Financial Resilience Team are already active out in the 
community and working with partnership organisations. 

 There are a lot of people living in mobile homes, on boats and in caravans who will need 
help with the cost of heating; however it is not currently known if these households will 
meet the eligibility criteria for the Alternative Funding Scheme, which includes being 
registered for Council Tax.  Anyone who is struggling can make contact and the Council 
will look to provide emergency support if it is needed. 

 The Social Resilience Team are working to understand the reasons why some 
households do not want to receive funding, to help inform their work going forward, in 
particular with the Discretionary Fund.  The Service Lead – Revenues and Benefits will 
report back on this to the Working Panel at a future meeting. 

 People on Pension Credit receive extra Government support through the Cost of Living 
Payment and those who are registered disabled will have received an additional payment 
automatically.  People are also often linking in with voluntary groups, and so have a 
support network.  Some pensioners have an income level which means they sit just 
slightly above the thresholds to access Pension Credit and this is a cohort of people to 
whom the Council would like to try to promote the HSF. 

 For the next meeting the Service Lead – Revenues and Benefits will present a version of 
the Social Resilience (Poverty) Dashboard that can be provided as an interim measure 
until such time as IT upgrade work is complete, which will enable a public facing version 
to be published, and an appropriate version to be made available for Members.   

In a vote, Members of the Working Panel endorsed the report. 
 

48    Food Poverty update  

 

The Community Development Worker delivered a verbal presentation outlining the 

challenges faced by food banks in the district in the context of consistently growing 
demand and decreasing frequency and quality of donations.   

 
In a meeting of food providers, it was suggested that East Devon DC could help by 
networking, and sharing resources, ideas and good practice, and the Council tries to do 

this in the food provider meetings.  The Community Development Worker outlined at 
length recommendations for how the Council might support food providers, and how the 

food providers might access alternative sources of donations.    
 
Discussion included the following points: 

 A Member raised that there is a grant which is available from the Prince of Wales’ 
Charitable Funds for white goods, and suggested this is something the Community 
Development Worker might look into.   

 It was felt that more publicity about the surge in demand could be helpful. 

 The removal of best before dates on loose fruit and veg has meant that less of it is 
available for food banks and what is available is on the edge of rotting, so there is a 
supply problem. 

 Exeter Food Action does extraordinary work as a logistics hub in distributing food, with a 
huge network and knowledge of how to disperse food quickly.  However there is a focus 
on trying to bypass Exeter Food Action, partly to reduce food miles, and to get food more 
directly to where it needs to be within the district. 

 Funding to tackle poverty situations was considered at the last Community Grant Panel 
meeting and a Member was particularly interested in a bid from Project Food in Axminster 
which involved working in connection in with a local farmer.  The Member hoped this 
could be replicated elsewhere in the district. 

 A press release is going out highlighting that Community Grant funding is still available 
and informing people of how they can apply. 

page 6



Poverty Working Panel 8 December 2022 
 

 The Community Development Worker stated that she regularly asks the food providers 
for referrals to the Financial Resilience Team with a view to helping people with the root 
causes of poverty.  She commented that food providers are of the view that that the 
biggest cause of food poverty is Universal Credit. 

 The Service Lead – Revenues and Benefits expressed that data from the Social 
Resilience (Poverty) Dashboard highlights some of underlying issues that are not directly 
linked to Universal Credit, although some people do miss out on payments due to 
difficulty navigating the benefits system. 

 Budgeting is identified as a significant issue and a meeting is arranged with the new Chief 
Executive of Citizens Advice to look at some work around budgeting tools, which may 
help.  An update on this could be brought to a future meeting of the Working Panel. 

 An update on the Poverty Action Plan will be brought to the next meeting. 

 

The Strategic Lead - Housing, Health and Environment remarked on the joined up way 
the Council is working to support vulnerable people in our communities, commenting that 
this is a Council that cares.  He added that he will bring an update to the Working Panel 

on the work that the Council is doing around winter pressures. 
 

The Chair thanked the Community Development Officer for her update and Members 
agreed that a report encapsulating the recommendations will be brought to Cabinet on 4  

January 2023. 
 

 
 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 

M Allen 
M Armstrong 

B De Saram 
D Ledger (Chair) 
M Rixson 

 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 

P Arnott 
J Rowland 
E Rylance 

E Wragg 
 
Officers in attendance: 

Julie Brooke, Rough Sleeper Navigator 
Sharon Church, Benefits Manager 

Andrew Hopkins, Communications Consultant 
Sarah James, Democratic Services Officer 

Libby Jarrett, Service Lead Revenues and Benefits 
Sarah Jenkins, Democratic Services Officer 
Andrew Mitchell, Housing Solutions Manager 

Victoria Robinson, Community Development Officer 
Leah Steele, Rough Sleeper Navigator 

Helen Wharam, Public Health Project Officer 
 
Councillor apologies: 

J Bonetta 
S Hawkins 

page 7



Poverty Working Panel 8 December 2022 
 

P Jarvis 
T Woodward 

 
 
 

 
 

Chair   Date:  

 

page 8



Report on Winter Pressures Project March 2023 

In September the Communities Team was tasked with delivering the Winter Pressures project. The Winter Pressures 

project consisted of two deliverables: 1) Warm Hubs across the district; 2) A Housing Emergency Financial Support 
Fund for tenants in need of urgent support. 

In late October an officer was appointed to lead on the Winter Pressures project. 

Warm Hubs 

A significant amount of preparatory work was needed in order for us to open Warm Hubs across the district and this 
mobilisation was achieved in a very short timescale by the Communities Team. This included: 

  A comprehensive mapping exercise to find out where warm hubs were being opened by others across the 

District, and where there would be gaps 

 A Risk Assessment to understand the risks involved in running the Warm Hubs and to explore how those 

would be mitigated, including looking at health and safety measures and determining the staffing required 

 Visiting every centre to ensure the centre was up to standard in regards to Health and Safety, and then to 

ensure resources were in place to open each centre as a warm and welcoming space  

 Arranging deep cleans for a number of the centres 

 Designing publicity and A-boards for the centres, with support from Strata 

 Organising a weekly cleaning schedule with an external contractor (once it was established that StreetScene 

couldn’t accommodate the extra demand)  

 Collaborating with the Rentals team, who helped run the Warm Hubs in the weeks before Christmas 

 Recruiting a new staff member into the Communities Team to support the Warm Hubs after Christmas 

On the 28th November, we opened 10 weekly Warm Hubs across East Devon. The 10 venues were: 

 Monday:          Dunning Court Community Centre, Honiton, EX14 1FQ  

            Ratcliffe House Community Centre, Burnside, EX8 3AQ 

            Waffle at the Hospital, Seaton 

 Tuesday:           Millwey Community Centre, Axminster, EX13 5EW 

            Trumps Court Community Centre, Sidmouth, EX10 8BL – Closed end of January 2023 

            Bidmead Community Centre EX8 2TF, Exmouth (replaced on 30/01/2023 by Churchill Court  

            Lympstone) 

 Wednesday:    Broadview Community Centre, Broadclyst, EX5 3HA 

 Thursday:         Lymebourne Community Centre, Sidmouth, EX10 9HZ 

            Yonder Close Community Centre EX11 1HE, Ottery St Mary 

 Friday:               Park Close Community Centre, Woodbury 

Sharing our model 

In the weeks before Christmas, the Project Officer received numerous calls from Parish Councils asking for advice on 
how to open a warm hub, as our Warm Hubs were some of the first to open.  

A researcher from Exeter University has attended Broadclyst Warm Hub and Lymebourne Warm Hub in order to 

understand what makes Warm Hubs work.  

A Success Story 

To date, since opening, we have had 1036 separate visits to the Warm Hubs.  These visits have been made by 221 

different residents of East Devon. The youngest visitor was 8 months old, the oldest 96. The visitors have 

come from all types of housing including EDDC sheltered housing; EDDC General Needs housing;  privately rented 
homes, and a small number of privately owned homes. 

page 9

Agenda Item 8



The busiest Hub is Broadview, in Broadclyst.  By Wednesday 1st March 215 visits had been made to that Hub in 14 

weeks.  We think this is because it is the most rural of our Hubs and there is very little other provision locally, and so 
it draws in visitors from the surrounding villages. 

One of the respondents from Broadclyst said: 

“I have personally found the Warm Hub to be a completely wonderful service which has surpassed my 
expectations, and I know that many other tenants share my views on this!  

 It is not just a functional warm space, but a positive, joyful, welcoming and fun place to spend time.  

We have a real mix of tenants here – from the elderly to youngsters and middle-aged people like myself – most 
have physical difficulties/disabilities and are at home for the majority of the day. 
 

Personally, I have found the Warm Hub to be a lifeline and an absolute godsend! I am very sociable but became 

very lonely, depressed and isolated [during Covid]. The weekly Warm Hubs have really helped me feel positive and 

happy again and I have made some very good friends.”  N- Broadclyst 

We set up a contract with local charity Waffle for them to provide a Warm Hub in Seaton, as there is no EDDC 

community centre in Seaton.  Waffle’s aim is to reduce social isolation and they have two venues, one in Axminster 

(the Waffle house), and one in the old community hospital building in Seaton. Since the Warm Hub opened, EDDC 

tenants have been able to go into the café on a Monday and get free tea, coffee and toast. 42 residents have taken 

advantage of this provision, with many returning every week. 

The quietest is Warm Hub Dunning Court in Honiton, it is likely this I because it is right in the centre of the town with 
a range of other support offered locally.  

We have served over 730 hot meals including 118 fully plated Christmas dinners.    

 Christmas Dinner at Yonder Close 

page 10



We have given out over 200 free blankets, 500 hats, gloves and pairs of socks.  The disparity between visitor 

numbers and woolly items are because we respond to requests from the MSOs, charities and social workers for 
warm items for our EDDC tenants who don’t attend the Hubs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Warm blankets and hats at Dunning Court 

 

We have organised benefits surgeries and Budgeting Workshops to help the tenants access the benefits they are 
entitled to as well as trying to help them manage their money more effectively. 

“The Warm Hub leader put me in touch with an organisation which checks if you are on the right benefits and that 

you are getting all the help you are entitled to.  I have managed to increase my money by quite a lot since 

speaking to them.” E –Sidmouth. 

“Through the Warm Hub, I have been helped by ECOE who organised a home energy advice visit for me.  They gave 
me energy saving tips and helped me talk to my energy provider about my energy arrears and setting up a 
payment plan. 
 
Through the Warm Hub I have also been referred to the Food Bank in Broadclyst, who are now delivering me 
weekly food parcels, as I have been cutting out food to try and pay my rising bills.  This is a HUGE help” N – 
Broadclyst 
 
We have also arranged more “fun” activities and workshops.  In each Warm Hub we have run cookery classes ‘Easy 
Cooking on a Budget’ ; a series of Rag Rugging Workshops, which involved recycling waste materials into “rag rugs”; 
seated Tai Chi sessions, and a musical performance. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tenants enjoying “cooking on a budget” at Woodbury  

 
page 11



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tenants enjoying cooking on a budget at Broadview Community Centre 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Everyone enjoyed rag rugging at Lympstone 

 

page 12



 

 Seated Tai Chi at Woodbury 

 

Tenants enjoying the musical performance at Ratcliffe 

page 13



By far the most beneficial aspect of the Warm Hubs has been the social aspect; overwhelmingly the visitors have told 

us again and again that they value the chance to socialise and meet their neighbours over everything else.  The 

feedback forms are full of people saying how much they value the social interaction.  

What was your favourite experience or moment? 

“Meeting people, playing games and having lunch, even if we don’t have any money we can have a hot meal once 
a week.” L -  EX5 

“The weekly Warm Hubs have really helped me feel positive and happy again and I have made some very good 
friends” S – Axminster. 

Finally the one thing everyone agrees on is that they really want the Hubs to continue at the end of March,  all 61 

respondents to the feedback questionnaire said they wanted the Warm Hubs to continue. 

Housing Emergency Financial Support Fund 

Setting up the Emergency Financial Support Fund required writing a policy and procedure for accessing the fund; 

establishing audit processes and financial controls; setting up a partnership agreement with the Financial Resilience 

Team, and writing a Data Protection Notice. The fund was launched early in March, after being approved by the 
Resident Involvement Management Group.  

Some examples of who we have helped include a tenant who came into Lympstone Warm Hub reporting he was 

freezing in his home. The officer present was able to buy him some credit for his meter whilst seeking to understand 
and address the complex reasons that he had become unable to afford his heating. 

In other example, a tenant at Broadview Warm Hub had completely run of food. As well as making a referral to the 
foodbank, the officer present was able to buy some dog food for the family dog.  

We also helped a family with young children needed money on their meter, so they could stay warm until their next 

payment was due. Finally, we helped one tenant was unable to afford the carpets in a property she was being 

required to move to, after being moved out of another EDDC property that was carpeted. After it was established 

that neither the Financial Resilience Team nor any local group or charity could support her, we were able to offer 

support. 

We anticipate more demand on this fund now the policy and procedure has been shared with all frontline Housing 

officers.  

A full report into the Winter Pressure project will be available by the beginning of May. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 15



 

1 

 

Case study 3: East Devon District Anti-Poverty strategy 

Context  

East Devon District is one of eight district Councils within the county of Devon in the South 

West of England. East Devon has strong economic growth and investment in the area has 

created employment opportunities in a variety of sectors such as hi-tech and bio-technology 

businesses. Despite this, a significant number of residents are affected by poverty due to a 
combination of low pay and high cost of living in East Devon.  

The impetus to create the anti-poverty strategy came in 2019 when the council’s housing 

and benefits team assessed the local picture of poverty they identified that there were 

worsening levels of poverty, with concentrations of poverty in particular communities in the 

district. Below are key figures which depict the issues East Devon is facing:  

 One in four people receive weekly pay (£275.60) which is only 65% of the average 

weekly pay (£426.10) in the district.  

 East Devon has a higher proportion of part-time workers (37.5%) than the South 

West (36.3%) and the UK (32.4%). 

 In 2019, the average lower quartile monthly rent was £650, while lower quartile 
average house prices were ten or more times the average lower quartile earnings. 

The anti-poverty strategy is a three-year strategy from 2021 to 2024 and it is accompanied 

by an action plan. The strategy is embedded in the council’s plan for 2021 to 2023, it is set 

out as one of the priority actions in the councils priority one: better homes and communities 

for all. They recognise they do not have all the answers and many areas are outside of their 

control or influence, nevertheless, they are committed to making sure the council 

maximises everything it does in the areas it can intervene to make a difference to local 

residents.  

The council emphasises that the creation of the strategy has provided a clear framework for 

addressing poverty in East Devon and focuses on the areas the council does have the 

opportunity to improve and influence. It identifies which particular groups require support 
and the geographical areas that they need to target.  

Scope and design  

Vision  

The council sets out its vision in the strategy, it states that it wants to ensure that:  

 Nobody should get into poverty without immediate help from the council  

 Nobody should be in involuntary poverty longer than 2 years in East Devon 

Poverty definition and identification of the drivers of poverty in East Devon 

The council accepts that there are several definitions of poverty, however, they refer to the 

most common relative income poverty. They define it as “a person or community that lacks 

page 16

Agenda Item 9

https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s11929/120421%20EDDC%20Poverty%20Strategy%20draft.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3723416/poverty-strategy-action-plan-v7.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-plan/index.htm#priority-one
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-plan/index.htm#priority-one


 

2 

 

the financial resources and essentials for a minimum standard of living; and where a 

household income is below 60% of the average”.  

The strategy outlines the causes and effects of poverty, combining the issues Joseph 

Rowntree Foundation identifies with local knowledge through the poverty working panel 
informed by residents and key local stakeholders. The causes identified include: 

 Low-paid, insecure jobs  

 Low skills or education 

 Ineffective benefits system  

 High cost of housing, goods, and services 

 Financial literacy  

 Discrimination 

Development of the strategy  

Poverty Working Panel  

The council created a poverty working panel in 2020, the panel was primarily tasked with 

identifying how can the tackling/anti-poverty approach be coordinated, improved, and 

captured in a corporate strategy document that improves the situation for households in 

East Devon. The poverty working panel is chaired by the portfolio holder for Sustainable 
Homes and Communities and made up of elected members and officers.  

The panel focused on poverty-related to income and employment, debt and financial 

vulnerability, food, and nutrition, affordable warmth and water, affordable housing and 
homelessness, and health equality.  

The panel pursued nine lines of inquiry to develop the strategy, a condensed version of the 

key areas and questions, are as follows:  

 Anti-poverty strategy: how can the council tackle poverty in the district?  

 

 Target areas: are target areas of policy intervention to address poverty being 

consistently delivered and understood?  

 

 Partnership working: what are the limitations on the council’s influence and ability to 

tackle poverty? How should the council best coordinate partnerships to deliver 

shared anti-poverty ambitions?  

 

 Outcomes: how can outcomes be identified, and are the long-term ambitions 

realistic, achievable, measurable, and appropriate?  

 

 Resources: to what extent will the strategy influence the council budget and attract 

sufficient resources?  

 

page 17



 

3 

 

 Councillors: how best can councillors deliver the strategy? How can the council 

effectively lobby for change in social policy that addresses poverty?  

 

 Cross-cutting: how could the strategy be cross-cutting and meaningful?  

 

 Awareness: how can the council deliver the strategy to ensure that stakeholders, 

partners, and residents understand the strategy and what it means for them?  

 

 What works and what doesn’t work: what has the council’s approach on poverty 

achieved to date? How can the council do more of what works?  

Partnership working 

Partnership working has been integral to the formation of the strategy.  The council 

highlighted that it has worked closely and continues to with a number of partners to ensure 

the strategy remains fit for purpose.  

In particular, to pursue the lines of inquiry mentioned above, the poverty working plan 

gathered evidence, looking at good practice such as the format used by Cambridge City 

council for their strategy and asking internal and external stakeholders to give evidence on 

the key issues in East Devon before they started to develop the strategy. For example, they 

worked with internal services such as the housing and benefits team and economic 

development team and external organisations such as DWP, Citizens Advice, and Local 
Enterprise Partnership.  

Funding  

The strategy does not have a specific budget of its own, the council is using pots of funding 

already allocated to services and general hardship funding.  They highlighted that the 

strategy has not required a huge amount of additional funding, as the strategy has pulled 

together work that the council has been doing for a number of years and is adding layers to 
it.  

Priorities 

The strategy is underpinned by three themes, which are summarised below:  

1. Addressing the causes and effects of poverty: The main purpose of the strategy is 

poverty reduction across East Devon. The council is seeking to balance ongoing 

efforts to address the effects of poverty with a further focus on preventative work in 

partnership with key local stakeholders both external and internal to the council.  

 

2. Balancing direct delivery, partnership working, and influencing activity: The strategy 

seeks to be clear on actions that the council can deliver directly, together with some 

actions that are delivered in partnership with public, voluntary, and community 

partners and which issues require influencing and lobbying activity to bring about 

change and secure funding.  

page 18



 

4 

 

 

3. Building the capacity of residents and communities, and facilitating community 

action and mutual support: The strategic approach is focused on building the 

capacity of local residents and communities.  They are working with residents and 
communities to identify the solutions to address poverty.  

The poverty working panel has developed five strategic objectives with lead services 

identified to work on specific objectives. The strategy and action plan that accompanies the 
strategy highlights the key activities that the council will take to achieve the objectives 

through direct service delivery, partnership working, and influencing and lobbying.  

Below we outline the objectives and include a selection of some of the key activities under 

them:  

1. Helping people on low incomes to maximise their household income and minimise 
their costs, building financial resilience and reducing indebtedness. Lead Service – 

Finance.  

 District council actions: Supporting low-income residents to access financial support, 
and providing advice on benefits, budgeting, and debt issues.  

 
 Partnership actions: The council provides funding to voluntary and community 

groups for activity that achieves one or more of the priorities or actions listed in the 
strategy and action plan which aims to address poverty in East Devon. The Action on 

Poverty Fund accepts applications of between £500 to £5,000.   
 

 Influencing and lobbying actions: Promoting Living Wage accreditation to employers 

in East Devon, including businesses, public bodies, and voluntary and community 
sector organisations. 

2. Strengthening families and communities, including supporting groups of people 
that are more likely to experience poverty, and community and voluntary groups 

working to combat poverty. Lead Service – Housing. 

 District council actions:  Reviewing the needs of the community and voluntary sector 
in building stronger communities, and identify where the Council can best provide 

support. 
 

 Partnership actions: Developing a collaborative, area-based approach to support 
communities with high levels of deprivation in partnership with a range of 

organisations 
 

 Influencing lobbying actions: Building a greater recognition of the need for resilience 

and supporting households to get back on their feet.  

3. Promoting an inclusive economy, by raising skills and improving access to a range 
of employment opportunities for people on low incomes. Lead Service – Growth, 
Development & Prosperity. 

page 19

http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk/grants-and-funding/grants-available-from-us/east-devon-action-on-poverty-fund
http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk/grants-and-funding/grants-available-from-us/east-devon-action-on-poverty-fund


 

5 

 

 District council actions: Exploring opportunities to spread the benefits of economic 
growth across the District, ensuring that all communities  have access to high quality 
skills and education provision.  
 

 Partnership actions: Working with local businesses to identify ways in which they 
might use their skills, capacity, and resources to help tackle poverty and 
disadvantage. 
 

 Influencing lobbying actions: Lobbying the Government on relevant economic policy 
issues, and seeking to influence the strategic approach of the Local Enterprise 
Partnership.  

4. Addressing the high cost of housing, improving housing conditions, creating 

affordable warmth and reducing homelessness. Lead Service – Housing. 

 District council actions: Developing new Council homes for rent, and ensuring that 
rent levels are as affordable as possible. The Council has an ambitious programme to 
deliver at least 100 new council homes over 5 years subject to funding being 
available. 

 Partnership actions: Funding a network of prevention, relief, and support activity 
delivered by partner organisations through a combination of contracts and annual 
grant funding. 

5. Improving health outcomes for people on low incomes, including access to good 
diet, health care, and ill health prevention. Lead Service – Environmental Health. 

 District council actions: Using planning policy to help ensure new developments help 

create a good living environment that supports good mental and physical health 
outcomes, through the provision of open space and the design of the built 

environment. 
 

 Partnership actions: Supporting outreach advice service for residents experiencing 
mental health issues due to low income, debt, or addiction. 

 

 Influencing lobbying actions: The council is not the lead agency on public health, 
social care, and clinical issues, so it is seeking to collaborate with and influence, for 
example, Devon Health and Wellbeing Board, which includes representatives of NHS 
England, Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS providers, Healthwatch and local  
authorities.  

Delivering the strategy  

Responsibility  

Responsibility for delivering the strategy is shared across the council and partner 

organisations. The council emphasised that they cannot tackle poverty in isolation. The 

objectives of the strategy can only be achieved when the strategy has a strong commitment 

from assigned council leads and departments and works effectively in partnership with key 
local stakeholders to deliver the objectives of the strategy.  

page 20



 

6 

 

The accompanying action plan comprises 61 actions some of which are subdivided and 

many actions are shared by more than one council department, will be developed and 

delivered in partnership with local stakeholders, and require lobbying government and 

other national organisations to deliver.  

Leadership   

The council highlights that political commitment from the council lead, cabinet, and 

portfolio holder for Sustainable Homes and Communities who has poverty as a named 

responsibility has strengthened the strategy’s reach.  

The strategy’s objectives are linked to lead services and there is a strong commitment from 

the heads of the departments to deliver the key actions.  

Links to other strategies  

The strategy cuts across all council services to ensure poverty is considered in every area of 

council delivery. The council emphasised that poverty is a cross-cutting issue and there are 

clear linkages and alignment with a number of strategies/policies including the public health 
strategy, housing strategy, corporate debt policy, and equality policy and objectives.  

Monitoring and evaluation  

The action plan details completion dates and performance measures, and outcomes. Each 

lead service that has activities that link into the action plan will periodically review those 
items and report back to the Poverty Working Panel with updates on progress, with light-
touch reviews annually. The official review of the strategy is every three years. 
 
The action plan includes the following types of performance measures and outcomes:  
 

 Capturing data on where referrals for financial support have come from e.g. schools, 
local charities, support agencies, and foodbanks.  

 Feedback from partner organisations.  

 Reduction in the number of residents receiving unemployment benefits. 

 Number of new homes for rent provided annually on Council owned sites. 

 Number of entries to Council-owned leisure facilities by people holding concession 
memberships. 

 

Social Resilience (Poverty) Dashboard 

The council has created an East Devon dashboard of poverty indicators, drawing on best 

practise from other councils and organisations it provides visibility of locally relevant data. 

They emphasised that this has been a key success of the strategy as it has given them a 

platform to fully understand the issues that they are facing. They can visualise and 

contextualise it and information can be drawn from individual wards so they can use to 

target action effectively in the most deprived areas. The dashboard is currently only 

page 21

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/environmental-health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing/east-devon-s-public-health-plan-and-review-of-progress/public-health-strategic-plan/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/environmental-health-and-wellbeing/health-and-wellbeing/east-devon-s-public-health-plan-and-review-of-progress/public-health-strategic-plan/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/housing-and-homelessness/housing-strategies-and-policies/housing-strategy-2020-2024/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-tax/find-out-about-our-policies-relating-to-council-tax/corporate-debt-policy/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equality-and-diversity/equality-policy-and-objectives-2021-2025/


 

7 

 

available internally but the council is currently developing it to become available to the 

public.  

Oversight and governance  

The delivery of the strategy is overseen by two bodies. The poverty working panel who 
report back to the cabinet on the delivery of the strategy. The delivery of the strategy is also 
overseen by the strategic management team of chief officers.  
 

page 22



UK Poverty 2023
The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK

page 23

Agenda Item 10



Contents

UK Poverty 2023 Contents

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 1

Acknowledgements 2

Foreword 3

Executive summary 5

Trends in poverty 11

The experience of being in poverty 73

Annexes 113

Notes 131

References 132

page 24



UK Poverty 2023 Acknowledgements

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 2

Acknowledgements
Thank you to all the team at JRF who worked on the report: Carla Cebula, 
Aleks Collingwood, Rachelle Earwaker, Joseph Elliott, Peter Matejic, Isabel 
Taylor and Andrew Wenham.

page 25



UK Poverty 2023 Foreword

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 3

Foreword
by Paul Kissack, Group Chief Executive of the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation (JRF) and the Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust 
(JRHT)

The UK has entered 2023 at a moment of profound challenge. After a long period 
of persistently high poverty rates and increasing levels of deep poverty across the 
UK, both the Covid-19 pandemic and the historically high inflation rates that 
increased the prices of energy, food and other essentials in 2022 have hit poorer 
households the hardest. This winter, 7.2 million low-income households are 
going without essentials – hungry, cold, without basics like showers, toiletries or 
adequate clothing – and 4.7 million are behind on their bills.

We know the current challenge is not just the result of some passing ‘cost of living 
crisis’. It comes instead on the back of years of economic and social failure. For a 
decade and a half we have seen no meaningful improvements in living standards, 
especially for people on lower incomes. Over 20 years we have seen very deep 
poverty rise. Over decades our country has become much wealthier – but this 
wealth is tightly concentrated, with rates of homeownership declining and 
inheritance becoming more important to life chances. We have some of the largest 
geographical inequalities in the western world. Improvements in life expectancy 
have stalled and for some are going backwards, while we see deeply worrying 
trends in mental health.

Faced with these challenges, the results of which are laid bare in this report, it 
would be easy to despair. But at JRF we are redoubling our commitment to social 
change. Around us we see challenges which are both urgent and deep, and we are 
increasingly clear about the task before us.

We are driven by the unshakeable belief that poverty can be solved in the UK. 
Honouring our history, there is a strong moral purpose to this mission: to end the 
poverty that blights the lives and life chances of millions of people, and to ensure 
dignity and esteem for everyone in the UK, addressing insecurity, exclusion and 
powerlessness. This is urgent work – perhaps more urgent today than at any time 
in our history.

But while urgent action is vital, we are also driven by the belief that deeper and 
more radical change is needed to our economic and social models. Faced with 
growing crises, chronic failures and deep foundational challenges (including the 
climate emergency, the digital revolution and an ageing population), we believe 
we are in – or should be in – a period of deeper transition. We do not claim to 
have a clear blueprint for the new. Instead, we believe the task before us is to help 
imagine it, shape it, test it and support others involved in that work.

page 26



UK Poverty 2023 Foreword

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 4

The complex web of challenges we face today requires us to take a wider lens on 
the changes needed. While JRF remains anchored in a focus on poverty – and the 
need to address income poverty and destitution – we need to work on building 
greater economic security and the conditions in which people can thrive. As 
highlighted in this report, poverty is closely entwined with four key areas of focus 
for JRF: work, technology and markets; care, family and relationships; housing 
and land; and assets and wealth. 

Across these themes we will take forward three sorts of work: shedding new 
light on the nature and scale of social injustice in the UK today, while setting 
out practical routes to a more equitable future; campaigning and advocating for 
change, while supporting a movement of people and organisations shaping a more 
equitable future; and investing in new propositions to speed up the transition to a 
more equitable future for people and planet, backing people engaged in this work. 

One hundred years ago, a reimagining of the UK – leading to the Beveridge 
Report in 1942 – was informed by fresh insights, inspired by campaigning voices, 
acted upon by practical women and men puzzling a way forward through new 
experiments and fuelled by imagination and a sense of belief. As millions of 
families face their bleakest winter, it is time to put our shoulders to the wheel 
once again and rediscover the pioneering spirit of our forebears. As this issue of 
UK Poverty clearly illustrates, nothing less than a radical economic and social 
reshaping of the UK for the decades ahead will be enough to meet the challenges 
we face. JRF stands ready to play its part.

page 27



UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 5

Executive summary
It is clear that we are in the midst of a profound cost of living crisis with huge 
implications for society. Many of us are having to make difficult choices on what 
spending we prioritise, but some of us face increasingly bleak choices, none of 
which should be necessary in a country as wealthy as the UK.

This is the second issue of our new-style UK Poverty report, which looks at trends 
in poverty across many important characteristics and impacts. We know poverty 
at any stage in life can lead to negative impacts, so it is critical to scrutinise the 
data thoroughly to work out who is worst affected, determine how trends are 
changing over time and see what the future prospects are likely to be.

Many economic and social trends have changed dramatically in the less than three 
years since Covid-19 first severely impacted lives in the UK. Throughout each 
section of this report we had to ask ourselves key questions about the period in 
which the data was collected. The latest official poverty data is for April 2020 to 
March 2021, but 2021/22 and 2022/23 are very different years. By looking across 
a range of data sources and insights we can build up as comprehensive a picture 
as possible of the current situation and the state of poverty in the UK, and form 
a judgement of future prospects.

What does the latest official data for 2020/21 tell us?
Around one in five of our population (20%) were in poverty in 2020/21 – 13.4 million 
people. Of these, 7.9 million were working-age adults, 3.9 million were children 
and 1.7 million were pensioners. There was a reduction in the headline poverty 
rate and numbers between 2019/20 and 2020/21. It might sound very surprising 
that poverty fell in the first year of the pandemic, with the largest reductions for 
pensioners and children.

The explanation of these results is based on changes to overall incomes, policy 
choices and how the pandemic affected population groups differently. A falling 
average income caused the relative poverty line to fall, at the same time as a range 
of temporary coronavirus-related support was introduced, including a £20 a week 
uplift to Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits. Children and pensioners are 
the two groups where the impact would be most likely to be seen: children, as they 
are the group most likely to be in poverty and thus their families would be the 
most likely to be receiving benefits that were increased, and pensioners, who are 
least likely to have been affected economically by the pandemic, as they are less 
likely to be working.

page 28



UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 6

Which groups have the highest poverty rates?
The latest data shows a similar picture to previous reports in terms of the groups 
more likely to be in poverty, but there have been reductions in poverty rates 
for some of the groups with the highest poverty rates, where the temporary 
coronavirus-related support is likely to have had a large effect. The reduction in 
average income also caused the relative poverty line to fall.

Poverty for families receiving Universal Credit or equivalents remained very high, 
at 46%. This is despite the temporary £20 a week uplift, which was in place for 
the whole of the period covered by the survey, and a resetting of Local Housing 
Allowance to reflect again actual rents in an area. Poverty rates continued to be 
highest for people in the social rented and private rented sectors, and much higher 
for households including a disabled person or an informal carer.

Families with three or more children still clearly had the highest poverty rate by 
family size, but the rate in 2020/21 was much lower than in 2019/20, with the 
rate for families with a child aged under four also falling more than for families 
with older children. Similarly, some of the increase in deep poverty since 2002/03 
showed a reversal in the latest data.

Looking at the geography of poverty, the latest data reflects a similar ranking, with 
Northern Ireland and Scotland having lower poverty rates than England and Wales 
and, within England, the North East and London having the highest rates.

The impact of the pandemic on the labour market was immense. Around 11.7 
million jobs were furloughed, many on reduced pay. At the height of the pandemic 
there were 929,000 fewer payrolled employees than before lockdown began. 
This has contributed to a fall in the share of people in poverty living in working 
households.

Finally, there remain huge variations in poverty rate by ethnicity. Around half 
of all people in households headed by someone of Bangladeshi ethnicity were in 
poverty in 2020/21, with rates for people in households headed by someone of 
Pakistani or Black ethnicity also having very high poverty rates of more than 4 in 
10, more than twice the rate of people in households headed by someone of white 
ethnicity.

page 29



UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 7

Living standards are likely to have fallen since the 
official data was collected
Since the last official poverty data, the direct impact of the pandemic on society 
has lessened, but some of the changes it has brought about will be long-lasting, 
with a further severe global economic shock coming from the Russian invasion 
of Ukraine and the continuing effects of Brexit. The labour market has recovered 
strongly, but employment is still below pre-Covid-19 levels, with an increasing 
share of the population moving into inactivity, and pay has not increased in line 
with inflation.

In our last report we said we expected inflation would rise, but at that point the 
peak was expected to be about 4%, which would have been the highest rate for 
10 years. Inflation is now forecast to peak at around 11%, the highest rate for 40 
years. The speed of the increase in inflation made the effects of the withdrawal of 
the £20 a week uplift in October 2021 even more severe, with benefits only going 
up by 3.1% in April 2022, when inflation was much higher. This meant April 2022 
saw the greatest fall in the value of the basic rate of unemployment benefits since 
1972, when annual uprating began and, as the cost of living has continued to rise 
throughout 2022, the real term purchasing power of households receiving these 
benefits has continued to fall. The pressure on renters has grown, especially for 
poorer households affected by the frozen rates of Local Housing Allowance.

Future prospects are deeply worrying
Trends look even more worrying for the future. The Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR, 2022) forecasts falling employment from mid-2022 to late 
2023 and for the employment rate to remain below its mid-2022 level for the 
whole period to the start of 2028. At the same time, wages are forecast to not keep 
up with inflation for the whole of 2023 (although this is mitigated somewhat for 
low earners by increases in the National Living Wage). Benefits were increased in 
line with inflation, as was the benefit cap, with lump sums added to these to help 
recipients cope with higher prices. However, Local Housing Allowance continues 
to be frozen and the basic rate of benefits remains close to destitution levels. Costs 
have risen dramatically and while the OBR expects inflation to fall throughout 
2023, it is forecast to remain well above the Bank of England target throughout 
the year and lower inflation just means prices are rising less quickly but not 
falling, following the large recent increases. Rents are expected to continue to rise, 
with mortgage payments also rising due to higher mortgage interest rates.

The extent to which these factors drive higher poverty levels will depend, in 
part, on what happens to average incomes and how the current recession affects 
low- and middle-income households. It will also, critically, depend on the extent 
to which national and local governments’ policies protect the living standards of 
the households least able to cope with these economic headwinds.

page 30

https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-november-2022/


UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 8

The experience of deepening poverty
Our latest cost of living tracker, carried out in late October and early November 
2022, illustrates the wide-ranging effect of the cost of living crisis on poorer 
households. Looking across the poorest fifth of families, the results present a 
truly shocking picture: more than 7 in 10 families are going without essentials, 
around 6 in 10 cannot afford an unexpected expense, more than half are in arrears 
and around a quarter use credit to pay essential bills. The situation has worsened 
greatly since we first asked this set of questions in October 2021.

Low-income households have less of a buffer against rising costs or any 
unexpected expenses, given they are less likely than other households to have 
savings; in 2018–20, just over a third of people in the poorest fifth of households 
had liquid savings of less than £250 compared with 1 in 50 of the richest fifth. 
Low-income households with children, single working-age people, private and 
social renters and households whose head was sick or disabled were also more 
likely to have low levels of savings.

Almost a fifth of poor households experienced food insecurity in 2020/21, with 
more than a quarter of households receiving Universal Credit being food insecure. 
The impact of the cost of living crisis on customs taken for granted is laid bare in 
our latest cost of living tracker where around half of the poorest fifth of families 
say they have reduced spending on food for adults, half are already reducing the 
number of showers they take and around 6 in 10 are heating their home less. 
Around 4 in 10 families with children are spending less on food for their children. 
This is the background to the growth in food bank use, with the latest full year 
Trussell Trust data covering 2021/22 showing a much higher level of use than 
before the pandemic.

Looking at the direct impact of the pandemic, the rate of deaths caused by 
Covid-19 was higher in the most deprived areas than in the least deprived in every 
UK nation. For England and Scotland, the death rate from Covid-19 in the most 
deprived areas was at least twice that in the least deprived areas. As an area’s level 
of deprivation increased, so did its number of deaths from Covid-19.

Among working-age adults, people living in poverty are more likely to suffer 
from poor health more broadly. There is evidence that suggests low incomes 
are associated with potential symptoms of anxiety, such as lack of sleep, lacking 
energy and feelings of depression. For children, even at a young age, there is a 
gap in young people’s educational attainment by parental income level, and this 
continues throughout the different stages of a child’s education. The impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic has generally widened the attainment gap between the 
most and least disadvantaged pupils in the UK, with reasons for this including the 
digital divide, home learning environments and falling incomes.

page 31



UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 9

What needs to happen now?
The Chancellor of the Exchequer said in the 2022 Autumn Statement, ‘How we 
look after our most vulnerable citizens is not just a practical issue but speaks to 
our values as a society.’ As can be seen from the evidence throughout this report, 
poorer households are some of the most vulnerable to the effects of the cost of 
living crisis. They have entered this period after a long period of stubbornly high 
poverty rates and rising deep poverty which was followed by a pandemic that had 
a greater impact on more deprived areas.

There are some elements designed into the benefits system that increase poverty, 
including:

• the two-child limit in income-related benefits

• the benefit cap

• the five-week wait for the first Universal Credit payment

• unaffordable debt deductions from benefits

• Local Housing Allowance rates (frozen since April 2020) again breaking 
the link between housing costs and benefits.

What is evident beyond this though is that the basic rates of benefits are 
inadequate and do not allow recipients to meet their essential needs. Resetting 
basic benefit rates and ensuring that they cannot be brought below these rates 
through the repayment of advances or other deductions is a critical step to 
protecting people who need benefits, not just during this cost of living crisis but 
whenever anyone needs social security support.

Beyond social security, the evidence from the OBR is that the economic fallout of 
the current recession will last a number of years. This will have big effects across 
society, on the labour market, on the housing market, on the relative prosperity 
of different parts of the UK and on public services. In dealing with challenges 
in any of these areas, the value of needing to protect those in poverty from 
experiencing the worst impacts of the recession should be a principle running 
through all decisions. It is also necessary to look more long-term at what getting 
to a United Kingdom free of poverty would take. This means examining the 
building blocks of social and economic systems, be that the labour market, the 
housing market, the social security system, or how we organise family life or care, 
to see how these can be made to work in the interests of poorer households so 
that there is a positive vision beyond simply getting through the current recession.

page 32



UK Poverty 2023 Executive summary

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 10

The approach taken in this report
UK Poverty is a set of short sections, each following the same structure, which 
starts with why the issue is important, goes on to set out the latest data, examines 
past trends and then looks forward to future prospects. As well as using data from 
official household surveys from across the UK (primarily the Family Resource 
Survey (DWP, 2022a) and the Households Below Average Income series (DWP, 
2022b) which is based on this), it also draws on data collected in JRF’s cost of 
living tracker (see Earwaker, 2022a). This is made up of three waves of a largescale, 
bespoke survey designed to understand the impact of the cost of living crisis on 
low-income households.

All data sources used are subject to different margins of error, which we have 
considered before drawing attention to findings and trends in this report. Given 
the impact the Covid-19 pandemic had on survey fieldwork (more details can be 
found in Annex 5), higher margins of error will apply to data collected during the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In particular, figures from the FRS for 2020/21 are subject to 
additional uncertainty and may not be strictly comparable with previous years.

We would appreciate any feedback you have on this publication. Please email 
analysis@jrf.org.uk with any comments.

page 33

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2021
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-under-and-without-jrfs-cost-living-tracker-winter-202223


Trends in poverty

UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 11

Overall poverty rates for children, working-age adults 
and pensioners 12

Family composition, age and sex 19

Poverty depth and duration 26

Geography and poverty 30

Work and poverty 40

Benefit receipt and poverty 47

Housing and poverty 52

Ethnicity and poverty 59

Disability, carers and poverty 65

page 34



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 12

Trends in poverty

Overall poverty rates for children, working-age 
adults and pensioners

Why is this important?

We know poverty has a wide range of negative consequences. It restricts the 
options and opportunities available to people and limits their access to things that 
are mostly taken for granted by society. Poverty at any stage of life can lead to 
negative consequences.

Consequences include poverty constraining a person’s ability to afford to buy 
what they need and participate in the routine activities of others in society. Low 
incomes also reduce financial resilience to unexpected expenses, such as car repairs 
or a faulty washing machine, and can lead to households falling behind with bills 
for utilities, Council Tax or other essentials.

Money worries in turn contribute to low-income adults and their children being 
much more likely than wealthier adults and children to suffer from depression or 
anxiety. Poverty can also affect the prospects of children, who may fail to reach the 
same level of educational attainment as those from wealthier families. This in turn 
can make escape from poverty even harder when they become adults.

What’s the headline story in the latest data

The latest official poverty data (from the Households Below Average Income 
series) is for 2020/21. Results based on the latest year’s data are a lot less 
reliable than in other years. This is because all the fieldwork for this year’s survey 
had to change at short notice from the normal face-to-face interviewing to 
telephone interviewing in response to the coronavirus pandemic and national 
lockdown restrictions. This change affected both the size and composition of the 
achieved sample, with adjustments needed for the fact that fewer households 
were sampled early in the survey year at the start of the pandemic. Further 
details of the impact of the pandemic on the data source is given in Annex 5. 
Our assessment is that the dataset can be used for analysis, but we need to be 
cautious in judging whether changes are due to real effects or data quality issues, 
as well as reviewing our conclusions when further data becomes available. This 
is particularly true when looking at subsets of the data, for instance for different 
countries or at a regional level.

page 35



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 13

In 2020/21, around one in five of our population (20%) were in poverty – 13.4 million 
people. Of these, 7.9 million were working-age adults, 3.9 million were children 
and 1.7 million were pensioners.1 Throughout this report, when we use the term 
poverty we are using the relative poverty rate, after housing costs, to measure 
poverty unless otherwise stated. See Annex 1 for more information on poverty 
definitions.

The latest data tells us that more than one in four children in the UK were living 
in poverty (27%) in 2020/21. Around four in ten children in lone-parent families 
were in poverty, compared with one in four of those in couple families.

Lone-parent families (with a single, working-age adult) were by far the most likely 
of any family type to be struggling with poverty. When we look at pensioners, the 
poverty rate for single pensioners was almost double that of couple pensioners 
and around 1 in 7 pensioners overall are living in poverty.

Number of people in poverty and poverty rates for different groups, 
UK 2020/21

Group Number in 
poverty

Poverty rate 
(%)

People in poverty 13,400,000 20

Children in poverty 3,900,000 27

Working-age adults in poverty 7,900,000 20

Pensioners in poverty 1,700,000 15

Single pensioners in poverty 900,000 20

Couple pensioners in poverty 800,000 11

Single working-age adults in poverty, no children 2,800,000 23

Working-age adults in a couple in poverty, no children 1,900,000 14

Working-age lone parents in poverty 700,000 38

Working-age parents in poverty in couple families 2,500,000 20

Children in poverty in lone-parent families 1,200,000 39

Children in poverty in couple families 2,700,000 24

Since the end of the survey period (March 2021), there have been lots of signs 
of a worsening situation for poorer households, with JRF’s cost of living tracker 
showing that 3.1 million households were in arrears in October 2022. This is a 
lot worse than the situation in summer 2022, when we last ran the survey, when 
2.7 million were in arrears, which in turn was worse than the 2.3 million in arrears 
when we ran the survey in late 2021.

page 36



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 14

How has this changed over time?

The number and proportion of children, working-age adults and pensioners in 
poverty have all fallen between 2019/20 and 2020/21, with the biggest falls 
in the proportion of a group in poverty being for children (down 4 percentage 
points to a still far too high 27%) and for pensioners (down 3 percentage points 
to 15%). Seeing a reduction in poverty in 2020/21 during the economic turmoil 
of a global pandemic might seem counter-intuitive but it is consistent with a 
falling average income causing the relative poverty line to fall, at the same time as 
a range of temporary coronavirus-related support was introduced. Children and 
pensioners would be the two groups where the impact would be most likely to be 
seen: children as they are the group most likely to be in poverty and thus to be in 
families receiving benefits subject to increases, and pensioners who are least likely 
to have been affected economically by the pandemic as they are less likely to be 
working.

Children have consistently had the highest poverty rates throughout the last 25 
years. Twenty-five years ago, a third of children lived in poverty. This fell to 28% 
by 2004/05 and reached its lowest level of 27% in 2010/11 to 2013/14. After this 
period, child poverty rose, reaching 31% in 2019/20, before falling back to 27% 
in 2020/21. Families with children are more likely to be receiving benefits than 
families without children, so this pattern reflects changes in employment levels, 
earnings and benefits.

After the pensioner poverty rate fell dramatically from between 28% and 29% 
in the mid to late 1990s to 13% in 2012/13 (driven by increasing income from 
private pensions and increases in benefits), it edged upwards until 2019/20, 
before the reduction to 15% in the latest data. Therefore, the enormous fall in 
pensioner poverty that was seen over the previous two decades had started to be 
reversed before the Covid-19 pandemic. The decrease seen in the most recent data 
was probably due to pensioners’ lower likelihood of being exposed to the negative 
impacts on the labour market during the pandemic.

page 37



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 15

While overall poverty rates have stayed at about the same level since 
around 2004/05, different groups have seen different poverty trends 
since 1994/95

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

What are the future prospects?

Future trends in poverty depend on what happens to its drivers, which include 
employment and earnings, benefits and tax credits, and housing costs, as well 
as how the cost of living is changing. The latest published data covers 2020/21, 
the first year of the pandemic. Since the start of the pandemic, there have been 
massive and, to some extent, temporary distortions to these key drivers. It will 
take some time for these to move through the published data (in addition to the 
pandemic affecting the ability to collect accurate data), meaning care will have to 
be taken when interpreting upcoming official poverty statistics.

page 38



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 16

Summary of changes to drivers of poverty levels

Driver Effect of 
increase

Currently Future prospects

Employment Generally 
poverty 
reducing

Mixed:

Low unemployment and 
high employment but 
increasing inactivity.

Bad:

OBR forecasts falling 
employment from mid-
2022 to late 2023 and for 
it still to be below its mid-
2022 level at the start of 
2028.

Earnings Ambiguous – 
can increase 
relative poverty 
if benefitting 
middle-income 
households more 
than low-income. 
As well as hourly 
pay, hours and 
control over 
working patterns 
are factors 
affecting earnings

Mixed:

Average earnings are 
currently falling in real 
terms, as they are not 
keeping up with inflation. 
In April 2022, the National 
Living Wage was increased 
by more than inflation, 
and the work allowance 
increased and taper rate 
reduced in Universal Credit, 
which will support low 
earners.

Bad:

OBR forecast wages not 
keeping up with inflation 
for the whole of 2023. 
This could be mitigated 
somewhat by increases in 
the National Living Wage, 
however this isn’t perfectly 
targeted at the poorest 
households with someone 
in work.

Benefits Generally 
poverty 
reducing

Bad:

Benefits are currently at 
a 40-year low because the 
historic inflation rate used 
for uprating was much 
lower than the inflation 
rate across the whole 
of 2022/23. Lump sum 
payments have mitigated 
this somewhat, but the fall 
in the basic rate remains.

Mixed:

Benefits have been 
increased in line with 
inflation as has the benefit 
cap (the maximum amount 
of benefit someone out 
of work can receive in 
benefits), with lump sums 
added to these to help 
recipients cope with higher 
prices. Local Housing 
Allowance continues to be 
frozen and the basic rate of 
benefits remains close to 
destitution levels.

Housing 
costs

Generally 
poverty 
increasing

Bad:

Rents increasing – many 
are related to Consumer 
Price Index (CPI), with some 
housing costs (eg shared 
accommodation) based on 
Retail Price Index (RPI).

Bad:

Rents expected to continue 
to rise, with mortgages 
rising too due to higher 
mortgage interest rates, 
which are forecast to more 
than double between Q3 
2022 and Q4 2023 and 
remain at about that level 
going forward.

page 39



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 17

Driver Effect of 
increase

Currently Future prospects

Inflation Limited effect on 
relative poverty 
but will increase 
cost of living

Bad:

At 40-year high driven by 
high energy prices, which 
is feeding into the costs 
of many other items, 
including essentials, which 
means inflation for poorer 
households is higher than 
for richer ones.

Bad:

While the OBR expects 
inflation to fall throughout 
2023, it is forecast to 
remain well above the 
Bank of England target 
throughout the year. Falling 
inflation does not reverse 
the increases in prices, but 
simply means prices have 
stopped rising so quickly.

It is clear from this table that the current economic situation is bad, with many 
of the key drivers already showing a negative picture, and the OBR is forecasting 
future worsening trends in many cases. It is clear from their forecast of falling real 
household disposable incomes in 2022/23 and 2023/24 that these effects will 
have a profound impact on many people’s living standards.

It is therefore welcome and necessary that the Government has sought to mitigate 
some of the worst effects on households with the lowest incomes by uprating 
benefits with inflation and continuing with lump sum payments and the energy 
price guarantee to limit energy price rises, which will provide a lifeline for families. 
It does seem likely though that these decisions will not be sufficient to mitigate 
the rising costs, including of essentials like energy, food and housing, and further 
action is very likely to be needed.

During recessions, relative poverty measures (which depend on how poorer 
households are faring compared with the average household) are highly dependent 
on both what governments do to protect the incomes of poorer households and 
also on the impact of the recession on the average household. Relative poverty 
in 2023/24 may actually show an improvement compared with 2022/23 because 
poorer households’ incomes are falling less quickly than the average household. 
In some ways this is a limitation of a relative poverty measure, in that while the 
overall measure may show ‘improvement’ it will not necessarily reflect an increase 
in the income, and likely living standards, of individuals with low incomes. This is 
also likely to be only a short-term effect which reverses as the economy starts to 
grow again from 2024/25. It could still mean the incomes of poorer households 
are falling, so with a likely picture of more and more households going without 
essentials, there will be little comfort in any short-term reductions in relative 
poverty. We will need to look across a range of indicators to look at the whole 
picture of how poorer households are faring in future years and whether the pre-
pandemic pattern of rising child and pensioner poverty returns.

page 40



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 18

How does this section interact with other sections?

Overall poverty levels are influenced by all subsequent sections. It is only by 
looking across all these that a true picture of the current and future situation can 
be ascertained.

page 41



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 19

Family composition, age and sex

Why is this important?

Larger families, that is those with three or more children, have always faced 
a disproportionate risk of poverty. The benefits cap, which limits the income 
a household can receive in out-of-work benefits, and the two-child limit, 
which restricts eligibility for child-related benefits to the first two children, 
disproportionately affect such families.

Families with younger children and lone-parent families, which are predominantly 
headed by women, also face a disproportionate risk of poverty. Having younger 
children affects parents’ ability to work, the hours they can work and their pay, 
while lone parents are less likely to be able to work full-time, and less likely, because 
of childcare responsibilities, to be able to travel to a job that may pay better.

A gender perspective is often missing from debates about poverty. The debate 
is often based on analysis of household incomes, which includes an implicit 
assumption about how incomes are shared within a household. Although the 
FRS does not collect information on respondents’ gender, it does record their sex. 
While this does not allow us to investigate fully how gender affects poverty for 
women and men, it does allow a more complete picture of the links between sex 
and poverty to be seen.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

In 2020/21, the child poverty rate for children in families with three or more 
children was almost twice as high as the rate for children in one- or two-child 
families (38% compared with 21% and 22%). This means around 1 in 5 children 
in one- or two-children families were in poverty, compared with almost 2 in 5 
children in families with three or more children.

One in five working-age males and working-age females were living in poverty 
(19% and 20%). These rates were lower for male and female pensioners (14% and 
15%). The age groups for adults that have the highest poverty rates were 60–64 
(25%), 40–44 (22%), 16–24 (20%) and 55–59 (20%).

We know from the previous section that lone-parent families, which are 
predominantly headed by a woman, have the highest poverty rate of any family 
type. Two in five children in lone-parent families were in poverty in 2020/21 
(39%) compared with 1 in 4 children in couple families (24%).

page 42



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 20

Poverty rates vary greatly depending on the age of children in the family. Almost 
3 in 10 children in families where the youngest child is aged under five (28%) or 
between 5 and 10 years old (29%) were in poverty. Around a quarter (24%) of 
children in families where the youngest child is aged 11 to 15 years old, and 21% 
in families where the youngest child is 16 to 19 years old were living in poverty.2

Number of people in poverty and the poverty rates for different groups, 
UK, 2020/21

Group Number in 
poverty

Poverty rate 
(%)

Children in poverty in one-child families 700,000 21

Children in poverty in two-child families 1,500,000 22

Children in poverty in three-child families 1,700,000 38

Working-age males in poverty 3,800,000 19

Working-age females in poverty 4,000,000 20

Children in couple families 2,600,000 24

Children in lone-parent families 1,200,000 39

Pension-age males in poverty 700,000 14

Pension-age females in poverty 900,000 15

Children in poverty (by age of youngest child in the family)

0 to 4 1,600,000 28

5 to 10 1,400,000 29

11 to 15 600,000 24

16 to 19* 200,000 21

Children in poverty (by age)

0 to 4 1,000,000 26

5 to 10 1,300,000 27

11 to 15 1,100,000 28

16 to 19* 500,000 30

page 43



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 21

Group Number in 
poverty

Poverty rate 
(%)

Working-age adults in poverty (by age)

16 to 24 1,000,000 20

25 to 29 700,000 17

30 to 34 800,000 18

35 to 39 800,000 18

40 to 44 900,000 22

45 to 49 800,000 18

50 to 54 800,000 17

55 to 59 900,000 20

60 to 64 1,000,000 25

Pension-age adults in poverty (by age)

65 to 69 400,000 14

70 to 74 500,000 14

75 to 79 400,000 15

80+ 500,000 18

*  A person is defined as a child if they are 16 to 19 years old and they are: not married nor in a civil 
partnership nor living with a partner; living with parents/a responsible adult and in full-time non-
advanced education or in unwaged government training.

page 44



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 22

How has this changed over time?

The two most striking trends over time are for larger families and for families with 
children aged under 10.

Between 2012/13 and 2019/20, the proportion of children in large families who 
are in poverty increased from 33% (1 in 3 children) to almost half, after positive 
movement on child poverty for larger families in the decade before. Larger families 
receive a bigger share of their income from benefits than smaller families, so even 
before the two-child limit was introduced they were more vulnerable to reductions 
in benefits. In the latest data, this poverty rate fell back to a similar level as seen 
in 2015/16 (38%). The overall increase between 2012/13 and 2020/21 is still very 
concerning, despite the reduction in the latest year.

Child poverty rates have been consistently higher for children living in 
large families

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

page 45



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 23

Poverty rates for children in families where the youngest child is under five rose 
between 2013/14 and 2015/16 and then plateaued at around 35% until 2020/21. 
In this most recent data, the rate was 28%. This is the lowest it has been since 
this data was first collected. Historically, poverty rates have always been highest 
in families where the youngest child is aged under five. However, the latest 
data shows that this rate is now similar to that of children in families where the 
youngest child is aged five to ten (28% and 29% respectively). While poverty rates 
for families whose youngest child is under five have dropped sharply this year, 
the poverty rate for families where the youngest child is aged five to ten has been 
rising since 2017/18.

Child poverty rates were highest in families where the youngest child is 
under five until 2020/21 when similar rates were seen in families where 
the youngest child is five to ten years old

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Both larger families and families with younger children are more likely to be on 
benefits. The drop in poverty rates that we see for larger families and for those 
with children aged under five in the latest data is likely to be due to the £20 a week 
uplift to Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits during the first year of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. This was withdrawn at the end of September 2021. We will 
need further data to see if the fall in the poverty rates is sustained and how much 
is due to additional support put in place during the Covid-19 pandemic.

page 46



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 24

Pensioner poverty rates rose between 2012/13 and 2019/20. Pension-age women 
tend to have higher poverty rates, reflecting the fact that they generally live longer 
than men and often have a less complete National Insurance contribution history 
due to gaps in their employment history. In 2020/21, this gap between poverty 
rates for male and female pensioners narrowed considerably (15% for female 
pensioners and 14% for male pensioners).

The poverty rate has been consistently higher for female pensioners 
than for male pensioners, but the gap narrowed considerably in 
2020/21

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

What are the future prospects?

The decrease in the poverty rate for children, working-age adults and pensioners 
that was seen in 2020/21 was probably due to a combination of lower average 
incomes across the UK causing the relative poverty line to fall and the temporary 
financial support that was introduced, specifically for low-income families, in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. This would have affected children (whose 
family are likely to receive benefits) and pensioners (who are less likely to 
have income from earnings) in particular. As the additional support has been 
withdrawn and average earnings have started to recover, children and pensioners 
are at a high risk of falling back into poverty without additional government 
support.

page 47



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 25

Similarly, the fall in poverty rates for larger families and young children in the 
latest data was probably due to the £20 uplift to Universal Credit and equivalent 
benefits introduced in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. As this was withdrawn 
in October 2021, it is likely that the poverty rates for these families will once 
again increase. These families have a higher proportion of their incomes coming 
from benefits (despite their increasing employment rates in recent years), so are 
also disproportionately affected by general changes in the benefits system, as well 
as by the benefits cap. Although benefits will be uprated in line with inflation in 
April 2023, which will maintain the value of benefits, benefit rates are currently 
at a historic low and families receiving benefits will continue to struggle to meet 
essential costs.

The latest data still does not show the full effect of the two-child limit policy, 
which explicitly targets larger families. This has withdrawn means-tested support 
from third and subsequent children born since April 2017. In the latest data, more 
than half of families containing three or more children have their youngest child 
born before this date so are unaffected by the benefits cap. As time goes on, more 
and more families will be affected by this and poverty rates in larger families are 
therefore likely to increase further.

Prospects for pensioner poverty are mixed. There are some reasons for optimism: 
the triple lock at a minimum makes sure the value of the state pension keeps 
up with prices; pensioner incomes are less likely to be affected by the current 
recession; and more new pensioners will have some private pension provision 
because of the introduction of auto-enrolment into pension schemes. On the 
other hand, the shift from defined benefits to defined contribution pension 
schemes will result in lower income from occupation pensions in retirement and 
lower homeownership will mean more pension-age people need to cover the 
costs of private rental accommodation over the coming years. The rising levels of 
inactivity since the pandemic of people in their 50s and 60s is also concerning, 
with people often underestimating their life expectancy after retirement and how 
long a period their retirement income needs to cover.

How does this section interact with other sections?

The main interactions of these factors are with the labour market: poorer parents 
in larger families or with younger children find it harder to work full-time, 
particularly given the cost and availability of childcare. Lone parents are also less 
likely to be able to work full-time, and less likely to be able to travel to a job that 
may pay better because of childcare responsibilities.

page 48



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 26

Poverty depth and duration

Why is this important?

We know that there are a number of negative outcomes related to living in poverty 
but there is also evidence that longer spells of poverty have greater impacts than 
shorter-term or temporary spells. Families living in deep poverty or destitution 
are also likely to experience more severe outcomes as they struggle to make ends 
meet.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

The most commonly used poverty line is 60% of the median equivalised 
household income after housing costs. To look into deeper poverty, lower 
thresholds can be used. In this report, households with an equivalised household 
income after housing costs that is below 50% of the median are considered to be 
in deep poverty, and those with an income under 40% of the median are said to 
be in very deep poverty. As explained in the overall poverty rates section above, 
these relative poverty rates are affected by changes to the average income across 
the country. As this fell during the Covid-19 pandemic, the relative poverty lines 
used in this analysis also fell in 2020/21 and were lower than they had been in 
2019/20. Challenges to data collection during the Covid-19 pandemic are also 
likely to have affected the deep and very deep poverty rates, particularly as there 
was a larger undercount of Universal Credit in the first half of the survey year. 
See Annex 5 for more details.

In 2020/21, around 3 in 20 people (14%) were living in deep poverty, including 
2.7 million children (19% of children). This rate was lower for pensioners (8%). 
This is probably because almost all pensioner families (97%) receive the state 
pension, which will prevent extremely low incomes. Across all households, 8% of 
people were living in very deep poverty. This means that 69% of people in poverty 
were living in deep poverty and 42% in very deep poverty.

Some groups are more likely to be in deep and very deep poverty than others. For 
example, more than one in four people from a minority ethnic background or in 
single-parent families and nearly 36% of working-age people in workless families 
were in deep poverty in 2020/21.

The deepest and most damaging form of poverty is destitution, which means 
going without the essentials we all need to eat, stay warm and dry, and keep clean. 
In 2019, 2.4 million people, including 550,000 children, experienced destitution. 
The current cost of living crisis is pushing more people into hardship and 
destitution. In autumn 2022, JRF’s cost of living tracker found that 1.4 million 
households in the bottom income quintile had both not heated their home and 
had cut down on food, skipped meals or gone hungry since the beginning of 2022.

page 49



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 27

Poverty duration is measured through the length of time someone spends in 
poverty; the Income Dynamics publication (DWP, 2022c) considers someone to be 
in persistent poverty if they have been in poverty for three of the last four years. 
Groups with high poverty levels tend also to have high persistence of poverty. Just 
over one in six children are in persistent poverty, compared with just over one in 
ten working-age adults or pensioners. Adults (31%) and children (33%) in lone-
parent families are much more likely than those in couple families to be trapped 
in persistent poverty. All minority ethnic groups in the UK are at a greater risk 
of experiencing persistent poverty than white people. Around one in four Black 
people and almost one in three people who selected they were Arab or from ‘any 
other’ ethnic group are trapped in persistent poverty compared with one in ten 
white people.

Persistent poverty rates for different groups, UK, 2016/2017– 2019/2020

Group Persistent poverty 
rate (%)

People in persistent poverty 12

Children in persistent poverty 18

Working-age adults in persistent poverty 11

Pensioners in persistent poverty 10

Single male pensioners in persistent poverty 17

Single female pensioners in persistent poverty 18

Couple pensioners in persistent poverty 6

Single working-age males in persistent poverty with no children 13

Single working-age females in persistent poverty with no children 14

Working-age adults in a couple in persistent poverty with no children 5

Working-age lone parents in persistent poverty 31

Working-age parents in persistent poverty in couple families 13

Children in persistent poverty in lone-parent families 33

Children in persistent poverty in couple families 14

Source: Understanding Society, 2017–2020

How has this changed over time?

Over the last 20 years the poverty rate has remained relatively stable, however 
there has been an increase in the proportion of people in very deep poverty. 
Focusing on people living in poverty, the proportion in very deep poverty 
increased from 37% in 2002/03 to a peak of 47% in 2018/19, falling back to 42% 
in the most recent year.

page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/income-dynamics-2010-to-2020/income-dynamics-income-movements-and-the-persistence-of-low-income-2010-to-2020


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 28

As shown in the chart below, the proportion of people in poverty who were in very 
deep poverty has been higher in every subsequent year than it was in 2002/03. 
As was mentioned previously, the sudden fall in 2020/21 of the proportion of 
people in very deep poverty is probably due to policy and economic shifts during 
the Covid-19 pandemic and data collection challenges. Even with these changes, 
the proportion of people in poverty who were in very deep poverty still remains 
5 percentage points higher than in 2002/03.

Increasing proportions of people in poverty are in very deep poverty

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: The group in very deep poverty includes people who are below 40% of the median income after 
housing costs (AHC). The group in deep poverty, but not very deep poverty are in households below 50% of 
the median income (AHC) but above 40% of the median (AHC). The group in poverty but not deep poverty 
are in households classed as in poverty (below 60% of the median income (AHC)) but not in deep poverty, 
meaning they are above 50% of the median income (AHC).

Across the UK, our best estimate is that the number of households experiencing 
destitution, the most severe form of poverty, at any point during the year 
increased by 35% between 2017 and 2019. While we do not have a more recent 
figure on the number of people experiencing destitution, the number of food 
parcels distributed by The Trussell Trust rocketed from 1.1 million in 2015/16 to 
more than 2.1 million in 2021/22, showing that increasing numbers of families 
are struggling to afford the essentials, while levels of destitution could also be 
continuing to rise (The Trussell Trust, 2022b).

Levels of persistent poverty have hardly changed since 2010–2014, with 1 in 
5 children in persistent poverty and just over 1 in 10 working-age adults or 
pensioners being in persistent poverty over the whole period.

page 51

https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 29

What are the future prospects?

Some of the most recent improvements in the deep poverty rate are likely to 
reverse in the coming years as policies put in place to offer additional support 
during the Covid-19 pandemic come to an end. Furthermore, the cost of living 
crisis is putting additional financial pressures on low-income families. The 
poverty rate based on a relative income measure does not fully capture the effect 
of high inflation rates that are not matched by increasing incomes, as the only 
cost that is directly considered is housing. While relative poverty rates may not 
change dramatically in the next set of data, the cost of living crisis is leading to 
more people experiencing the deep hardship of going without the essentials, an 
experience that is no longer restricted to those on the very lowest incomes.

JRF’s cost of living tracker has shown an increase in the proportions of low-
income households struggling to pay bills or not heating and eating over the last 
six months. No one should go without food and warmth. The growing number of 
families going without these essentials is deeply concerning and suggests we could 
see a growing number of people becoming destitute.

Future prospects for persistent poverty are likely to be more muted. Any 
temporary effects from both the economic challenges and policy responses will 
take time to feed through to these statistics, or indeed will not affect them at 
all if these are temporary. A prolonged recession with falling employment and 
earnings associated with rising costs including increases in housing costs will also 
ultimately have an effect on persistent poverty levels.

How does this interact with other areas?

It is important to keep in mind that when relative poverty rates are presented in 
other sections of this report this includes people who are just below the poverty 
line and people who are far below the poverty line as well as people who have 
recently fallen into poverty and those who have been in poverty for an extended 
period of time. If different groups have similar overall poverty rates but experience 
different depths and duration of poverty that may lead to more negative 
consequences for one of those groups. When appropriate, we will comment on 
differences in depth and persistence of poverty in the relevant sections.

page 52



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 30

Geography and poverty

Why is this important?

Across nations, regions and local areas in the United Kingdom, differences in 
employment opportunities, levels of wages, adequacy of benefits and housing 
costs are important determinants of poverty rates. While ultimately Westminster 
maintains control over many policy and fiscal decisions, the devolution of powers 
to governments in Edinburgh, Cardiff and Belfast, to mayoralties in London and 
across England, as well as the ongoing role of local authorities, presents politicians 
and political leaders at national and local levels with policy levers with which they 
can seek to address poverty.

It is important to understand the way in which drivers of poverty interact to 
produce different rates of poverty at national, regional and local levels, and to 
monitor the rates of poverty over time to ascertain the progress of governments 
and political leaders in eradicating poverty across the UK.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

This section sets out the poverty rates and key drivers of poverty across the 
nations and regions of the UK. The data we use here includes the latest official 
data which covers the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic, the financial year 
2020/21. The disruption caused by the pandemic meant that changes had to be 
made to the survey fieldwork, which affected the size and representativeness of 
the sample of respondents (see Annex 5 for more information). The 2020/21 
sample was around half the size of the sample in previous years, and there is 
greater volatility in that year’s data. As a result, neither the Scottish Government, 
the Welsh Government nor the Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency 
(NISRA) published poverty statistics for the three-year period 2018–21 due to the 
underlying weaknesses in the data. Similarly, we decided not to publish our usual 
analysis of the figures in our Poverty in Scotland 2022 report (Birt et al, 2022) as 
the sub-sample of data for Scotland alone was not considered reliable enough to 
show a trend over time.

page 53



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 31

That means that the principal usefulness of the new data is to compare levels 
between regions and nations rather than over time. Any comparisons over time 
should be treated with caution. In any event, when reporting regional statistics 
using this data we use three-year averages, which means the data in this section 
covers the period 2018–21. This section therefore mostly offers a comparison of 
rates of poverty and an explanation of how and why they vary between nations 
and regions in the UK. However, there is much to be done right across the country 
to reduce poverty rates and support those on low incomes.

Average number of people in poverty and poverty rates by UK 
nation/region, 2018–21

Nation/Region Poverty rate (%) Number in poverty

North East 26 680,000

North West 21 1,540,000

Yorkshire and The Humber 24 1,300,000

East Midlands 20 930,000

West Midlands 23 1,350,000

East 19 1,170,000

London 25 2,260,000

South East 20 1,760,000

South West 19 1,060,000

Wales 24 750,000

Scotland 18 950,000

Northern Ireland 17 320,000

page 54



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 32

UK Poverty rate by region, 2018–21

Source: JRF analysis of Households Below Average Income 2018–20, DWP

page 55



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 33

Scotland has a lower rate of poverty (18%) than England (22%) and Wales 
(24%) and around the same rate as Northern Ireland (17%). Housing costs are an 
important driver in the lower rates of poverty in Scotland; a smaller proportion 
of households live in the rented sector in Scotland than in the rest of the UK on 
average, while renters in Scotland disproportionately live in the lower-cost social 
rented sector (57% of renters are in social rented, compared with 45% of renters in 
the rest of the UK). Both private and social renters in Scotland pay lower housing 
costs on average compared with England and Wales. The poverty rate for social 
renters is lower in Scotland (40%) than in England (44%), and only a fifth of these 
(22%) are pulled into poverty by their housing costs compared with over a third 
(36%) of social renters in poverty in England.

Wales has the highest poverty rate among the four nations, with almost one in 
four (24%) people in poverty. Important drivers are the relatively high proportions 
of working-age adults not in work (26%), in jobs classified as ‘routine’ that are 
typically lower-paid, including in production, sales and services, agricultural and 
clerical roles (32% of those in work) and receiving Universal Credit or equivalent 
(legacy) benefits (21%).

Northern Ireland has the lowest poverty rate (17%) of the four nations, 
despite having the lowest rate of employment, as well as high rates of low-paid 
employment and proportion of families receiving Universal Credit or equivalent 
(legacy) benefits that is comparable to Wales, the North of England and the 
West Midlands, which have much higher poverty rates. The lower poverty rate in 
Northern Ireland is predominantly explained by the lower cost of housing. The 
proportion of people living in rented accommodation in Northern Ireland is the 
lowest across the four nations, and the average (median) weekly housing costs paid 
by low-income social and private renting households is the lowest of anywhere in 
the UK; £74 for social and £97 for private renting household in Northern Ireland 
compared with £99 and £131 respectively for the rest of the UK. Even for those 
buying with a mortgage, weekly housing costs (the definition for which excludes 
mortgage principal) are substantially lower in Northern Ireland than on average 
across the UK. This reflects the substantially lower house prices which require less 
borrowing and, consequently, lower levels of mortgage interest.

The poverty rate in England for 2018–21 was 22%. The following section breaks 
down the poverty rate by English region.

page 56



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 34

The latest data shows the North East of England had the highest poverty rate of 
all regions in 2018–21 at 26%. This was broadly consistent with the previous year 
(25%) and saw the North East surpass London which had consistently had the 
highest poverty rate for two decades, principally due to very high housing costs. 
Yorkshire and The Humber and the West Midlands also have higher than 
average poverty rates at 24% and 23% respectively. In these areas, higher poverty 
rates are driven by comparatively lower earnings, with a higher proportion of 
adults working in lower-paid occupations, and higher rates of economic inactivity 
and unemployment among working-age adults. People in these regions are also 
disproportionately likely to live in the rented sector and renters in these regions 
have the highest poverty rates for renters across the UK. However, renters in these 
regions are typically in poverty before housing costs are factored in, indicating that 
while the costs of renting may exacerbate and deepen poverty the most pertinent 
driver in these regions tends to be low incomes rather than high housing costs.

Demographic differences across regions also explain some of the differences 
in poverty rates by region; people living in the North East, Yorkshire and The 
Humber and the West Midlands are more likely to be in the demographics more 
at risk of poverty than elsewhere in England. All three regions have above average 
proportions of their populations living in single-parent families. The West 
Midlands and Yorkshire and The Humber have the highest proportions of children 
living in larger families (three or more children) after Northern Ireland, while the 
North East and the West Midlands have the highest proportions of children living 
in young-parent families (where one parent is under 25) after Wales. The North 
East has the highest proportion of people living in a family where someone has a 
disability, followed by Wales and then the West Midlands.

The regions of Yorkshire and The Humber and the West Midlands are also 
the most ethnically diverse after London, with 15–18% of their populations 
minority ethnic, compared with around 8% for the rest of the UK on average 
(when excluding these regions). These two regions have the largest Pakistani 
communities, where around 1 in 20 people are Pakistani, compared with fewer 
than 1 in 50 in the rest of the UK on average; the poverty rate for Pakistani 
people in the UK is 2.3 times that for white people. The sections in this report on 
disability, family composition, age and gender and ethnicity describe how poverty 
rates are much greater for these groups.

page 57



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 35

London has consistently had the highest poverty rate of every UK region or nation 
for the last two decades, although the latest data shows a 2 percentage point fall in 
the poverty rate between 2017–20 and 2018–21 to 25% – the second highest rate 
after the North East at 26%. Housing costs are a key driver of poverty in London. 
Half of Londoners are renters, with just over half of those in the social rented 
sector living in poverty and just over 3 in 10 private renters in poverty. Lower-
income Londoners (in the bottom 40% of incomes) renting privately pay twice the 
average rent paid by low-income private renters across the UK, while low-income 
social renters in London pay almost a third more (32%). More than two-thirds of 
the private renters in poverty in London are only considered to be in poverty after 
housing costs.

The poverty rate for white Londoners is 19%, the same as the average rate for 
white people across the UK as a whole. However, the poverty rate for people of 
minority ethnicities is much higher than for white people in London at 35%. 
This is even higher for Bangladeshi (54%), Pakistani (46%) and Black people 
(42%) in particular. These minority ethnic households are more likely to live in 
rented accommodation, not be in work, have lower wages or work in lower-paid 
occupations if they are in work, live in single-earner households and be younger, 
have children and live in larger families. All of these characteristics increase the 
risk of poverty for these groups.

The South West and East of England have among the lowest poverty rates at 
19%, followed by the South East and East Midlands at 20%, and the North 
West at 21%. The regions of England with the lowest rates of poverty typically 
have above average proportions of working-age adults in work, with those in work 
more likely to work in higher paid managerial and professional jobs. They have 
higher shares of people living in homes they or their family own than the country 
as a whole, while renters in these regions typically have lower rates of poverty than 
in other regions. However, within these regions renters are more likely to be in 
poverty only once housing costs are factored in.

We cannot break down the overall poverty statistics below the regional level, 
but research carried out by Loughborough University and published by 
EndChildPoverty.org (Stone, 2022) provides further insight into the geography 
of poverty by estimating the proportion of children who are in poverty after 
housing costs by local authority. The map below shows the average child poverty 
rates for 2018–21. Four local authorities in London have the highest child poverty 
rates: Tower Hamlets (51%), Newham (49%), Barking and Dagenham (46%) and 
Hackney (45%). These are followed by Luton, just north of London in the East of 
England, at 45%.

page 58

https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Local_indicators_of_child_poverty_after_housing_costs_2020_21/20974252/1


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 36

Child poverty rate estimates by local authority, 2020/21

Source: After housing costs child poverty rates estimates from Loughborough University, 2020/21

page 59



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 37

The map highlights the degrees of variation in poverty rates both within and 
across regions, with some regions having consistently high or low child poverty 
rates across local authorities, while others have a much wider range in poverty 
rates. Local authorities in the North East consistently have above average poverty 
rates, and all local authorities in this region, except Northumberland, have seen 
child poverty rates increase by at least 10 percentage points since 2012–15. Child 
poverty rates in Wales are also consistently above average, and clustered in the 
range of 27–36%. Wales has also seen substantial increases in child poverty rates 
over the last six years, with poverty rates increasing by between 3 to 6 percentage 
points.

Local authorities in the East Midlands, South West, South East, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland have child poverty rates clustered towards the lower end of the 
range, although there are exceptions within these areas with some local authorities 
like Glasgow City (29%), Leicester (35%), Slough (35%) and Bristol (33%) having 
above average poverty rates. Three quarters of the local authorities in these 
regions have seen falls in child poverty rates over the last six years.

There is a much wider range of poverty rates across local authorities within 
London, Yorkshire and The Humber, the North West and the West Midlands. 
The local authorities with both the highest and lowest poverty rates are in London, 
with Tower Hamlets at 51% and City of London at 10%. In Yorkshire and The 
Humber, Bradford has the highest child poverty rate at 40% while Harrogate has 
the lowest at 17%. In the West Midlands, Birmingham has the highest poverty 
rate at 42% while Warwick has a 19% poverty rate.

How have poverty rates by region changed over time?

Across all nations and regions, except for the South East, poverty rates were lower 
in 2018–21 than they had been in 1998–2001. Scotland saw the largest fall of 
6 percentage points, followed by the North West and South West with 5 and 4 
percentage point decreases. Across all regions, falls in the overall rate of poverty 
have been predominantly driven by falling levels of pensioner poverty (although 
the poverty rate has been increasing over recent years for this group), alongside 
the increasing proportions of working-age adults who are in work (although the 
rate of in-work poverty itself has increased).

page 60



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 38

Impacts of Covid-19 on the latest data aside, over the last decade the progress in 
reducing child poverty rates has been unravelling. In the last six years, rates of 
child poverty have been increasing in the North East (up 12 percentage points), 
Yorkshire and The Humber (up 6 percentage points), Wales (up 5 percentage 
points) and the West Midlands (up 3 percentage points) in particular, while 
remaining stubbornly high in London. These areas have some of the lowest rates 
of employment for working-age adults, while those in work in these regions not 
only face some of the lowest average wages across the UK’s nations and regions, 
but Yorkshire and The Humber, the North East and the North West have seen 
some of the lowest growth in earnings over the last six years. The regions with the 
highest poverty rates also have the highest rates of receipt of Universal Credit or 
equivalent benefits, with the erosion in the adequacy of these benefits reducing 
their incomes and increasing the depth of poverty they are experiencing, as 
described above in the depth of poverty section.

What are the future prospects?

As the cost of living crisis escalates, families right across the country are struggling 
and facing extreme hardships, although our analysis from the cost of living 
tracker finds that those living in cities, particularly renters, are disproportionately 
experiencing the worst impacts of the crisis (Elliott, 2022). Those in London, the 
North of England, Scotland and Northern Ireland were disproportionately likely to 
cite experiencing hardships such as going without essentials, being behind on bills 
and being unable to keep their home warm.

There are various trends in employment, housing and benefits that are likely to 
increase poverty in some areas more than in others. A continuation of trends in 
employment rates and a continued divergence in wage growth across regions is 
likely to drive increased poverty risk in the North East, Yorkshire and The Humber 
and the West Midlands in particular.

The most recent data on private rents shows high rental growth across all nations 
and regions for all existing private rental tenancies, with Northern Ireland 
standing out as having particularly high rental cost growth. This may point to 
housing being a more significant driver of increasing poverty for Northern Ireland. 
All parts of the UK are seeing very high private rental growth for new tenancies, 
with private rents increasing at their fastest in over a decade. The largest increases 
are in London (17%), Wales and the North West (both at 12%) and Northern 
Ireland (11%) (Zoopla, 2022). These substantial hikes in rents for new tenants in 
particular will increase the risk of poverty for those affected.

page 61

https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/london-north-england-and-scotland-hit-hardest-crisis-spiralling-prices
https://advantage.zpg.co.uk/insights/rental-market-report/


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 39

The continued inadequacy of benefits disproportionately affects those areas of the 
country where a larger share of households receives those benefits. Despite the 
increase in the benefit cap, the cap itself will continue to disproportionately affect 
families in the south of England in particular, where a higher proportion of those 
on Universal Credit are already affected by the cap. As support towards housing 
costs through the Local Housing Allowance for private renters remains frozen 
at 2019 levels, this will also affect regions with a high proportion of low-income 
private renters and high housing costs.

Divergence in policy across nations will probably drive greater disparity in poverty 
rates across the country. Scotland has taken decisive action in defining child 
poverty targets in legislation and enhancing the benefits system with a Scottish 
child payment for those receiving qualifying benefits; this was introduced in 
February 2021 at £10 a week per child under the age of six; the value doubled 
in April 2022 to £20 a child and increased again in November 2022 to £25 
when it was also rolled out to all eligible children under 16. In response to both 
the pandemic and cost of living crisis, both Scotland and Northern Ireland 
haven taken steps to limit rent increases for social renters, while the Scottish 
Government is introducing more protections for private renters including greater 
rent controls and eviction bans. The political stasis in Northern Ireland, which 
currently lacks a functioning government or assembly, means local politicians have 
been unable to use the nation’s institutions to deliver further and tailored support 
to families through the cost of living crisis.

How does this section interact with other sections?

This report on geography and poverty focuses on national and regional variations. 
However, there are also clearly important sub-regional and local variances in rates 
of poverty (as highlighted in the child poverty figures for local authorities) as well 
as on the experiences of being in poverty. Local economies, including jobs and 
housing markets, interact to influence employment rates and rates of pay, as well 
as the availability and affordability of housing.

page 62



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 40

Work and poverty

Why is this important?

The data used in this report covers the period in which the UK was gripped 
by the Covid-19 pandemic. Its impact on the workforce was immense. Around 
11.7 million jobs were furloughed, many on reduced pay. At the height of the 
pandemic there were 929,000 fewer payrolled employees than before lockdown 
began. With work being one of the main ways of protecting against poverty, what 
happened to people in the workforce during the Covid-19 pandemic plays an 
important role in understanding the state of poverty in the UK.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

In 2020/21, 61% of working-age adults in poverty lived in a household where at 
least one adult was in work. At an individual level, 11% of all workers lived in a 
household in poverty. While poverty status is based on the income of the whole 
household and on all income sources not just earnings from work, poverty rates 
do vary by whether someone is working full- or part-time and whether they are 
an employee or self-employed. The poverty rate for part-time workers was double 
that for full-time workers (18% compared with 9%) and self-employed workers 
were twice as likely to be in poverty than employees (21% compared with 10%).

At a more granular level of the workforce, there were differences in poverty rates 
by sector. Workers in the wholesale and retail trade/repair of motor vehicles and 
motorcycles had the highest poverty rates at 18%. Accommodation and food 
services (16%), and administration and support activities (15%) followed closely 
behind. This is probably linked to low pay as the median pay in all three sectors is 
lower than the median pay across all sectors in the UK (ONS and HMRC 2022).

The poverty rate for working-age adults living in a working household differs 
between the regions and nations of the UK. In 2020/21, Northern Ireland had the 
lowest poverty rate at 1 in 9. This was much lower than the rates in Yorkshire and 
the Humber, the West Midlands, London, and Wales (all with a rate of 1 in 6) and 
the worst hit, the North-East (1 in 5).

How has this changed over time?

The proportion of working-age adults in poverty who were living in working 
households fell by 7 percentage points between 2019/20 and 2020/21. It fell from 
a record high of 68% before the pandemic to 61% in the latest data. Even after this 
drop, which is in part due to a reduction in employment during the pandemic, it 
is still much higher than the proportion of working-age adults in poverty living in 
working households (50%) seen in 1996/97.

page 63

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/november2022


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 41

The proportion of working-age adults in poverty in working households 
decreased from its previous high before the pandemic

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

The overall rate of workers in poverty has also decreased in the latest data. In 
2020/21, 11% of all workers were in poverty compared with 13% in 2019/20 
(compared with 29% and 31% of non-workers in these years). The last time that 
the rate of workers in poverty was as low was in 2006/07. Between 2019/20 
and 2020/21, poverty among part-time workers also fell to 18% from 22%. This 
remained broadly unchanged for full-time workers (9% and 10%). We will need 
to look at future data to see how the after-effects of the pandemic as well as the 
ongoing recession will affect these statistics.

page 64



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 42

The poverty rate for part-time workers fell between 2019/20 and 
2020/21 but it has remained more stable for full-time workers

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

The poverty rate for self-employed workers was largely stable (22% in 2019/20 
and 21% in 2020/21). This continues the long-term trend of self-employed 
workers having a poverty rate between 20% and 25%. For employees, the drop in 
the latest data has taken their poverty rate down to its lowest level since 2007/08 
(10%).

page 65



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 43

The poverty rate for employees has dropped to its lowest level in over a 
decade and the equivalent rate for self-employed workers remains much 
higher

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

In 2020/21, the wholesale and retail trade became the sector with the highest 
rate of poverty, overtaking accommodation and food service activities, and 
administrative and support service activities. This came as much of the retail 
industry was shut down by lockdown restrictions and wholesale and retail reached 
its joint highest ever poverty rate. At the same time, the poverty rate among 
administrative and support service activities was at its lowest level since 2009/10 
and accommodation and food services has dropped to its lowest level on record. 
Some of this might reflect changes in the composition of the groups working 
in these sectors during the pandemic rather than a sustained improvement in 
poverty rates.

page 66



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 44

The greatest risk of poverty has shifted to wholesale and retail in the 
latest data

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

After a 2 percentage point increase in the poverty rate for workers in the North 
East, and a 2 percentage point decrease in the poverty rate for workers in London, 
the North East is now the area in the UK with the highest rate of poverty among 
working-age adults living in households where someone works. The latest increase 
is its sixth in eight years, and the overall poverty rate among workers in the North 
East is now 5.5 percentage points higher than it was in 2012/13.

page 67



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 45

The North-East now has the highest rate of poverty for workers across 
all UK regions and nations

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

What are the future prospects?

In-work poverty will be shaped by a labour market recovering from the 
coronavirus pandemic, as well as by the cost of living crisis and the effect of the 
ongoing recession.

The employment rate is increasing, although it is still below pre-Covid levels and 
the effect of the recession is forecast by the OBR to reduce the employment rate. 
There are historically high rates of vacancies, increasing the likelihood of workers 
being able to move to higher-paid work, or seek higher wages in their current roles.

Growth in nominal regular pay has reached rates as high as 6.1%, but this is still 
below the current rate of inflation (ONS, 2022f). Average actual weekly hours 
have increased to a level similar to that of pre-coronavirus lockdown. Indeed, for 
part-time workers average hours actually increased to a record high at the start of 
2022 (ONS, 2022e). The number of part-time workers has also decreased, after 
a general increase from the beginning of 2021. With their higher risk of poverty, 
this decrease could have some downward impact on in-work poverty rates.

page 68

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 46

Beyond this, there are areas for concern within the labour market. While we 
are seeing high rates of vacancies, the question remains whether the roles can 
be considered ‘good’ work. Do they provide enough hours, a sufficiently high 
hourly rate of pay, and good enough conditions to make them viable options of 
employment?

The ongoing cost of living crisis, with inflation outstripping earnings growth, 
brings with it a risk of increased in-work poverty. Real terms total pay is falling 
at its fastest rate since 2001, when comparable records began. This will affect 
the value of workers’ incomes through their earnings and increase their risk of 
poverty. On top of that, many will also potentially see their housing costs increase 
through higher rents and, for homeowner/buyers, through mortgage interest 
payments and service charges should they increase at a rate greater than earnings.

How does this section interact with other sections?

Work is one of the three major issues that drive poverty in the UK, alongside 
housing costs and the performance of the social security system. An increasing 
minimum wage, increasing wages and workers working more hours can only 
protect people against poverty so far if housing costs are too high and the UK’s 
social security system fails to be the lifeline that it should be. The negative effects 
on poverty from the UK’s social security system and housing costs could moderate 
any positive impacts from work, if, for example, pay and hours are increasing.

There can also be barriers to access to work because of the cost and availability of 
childcare, and the need to provide care for any disabled adults or children. Working 
patterns are particularly important to disabled people and carers who may need 
flexible or part-time work. This includes families with children, especially lone 
parents who live with no other earner in their household, and disproportionately 
affects women who take on the majority of caring responsibilities for both 
children and adults. There are also regional inequalities in the availability of work 
and the transport networks that affect getting to and from work in a timely or 
affordable way.

page 69



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 47

Benefit receipt and poverty

Why is this important?

A poverty-fighting social security system is a necessary part of any solution to 
poverty and destitution. It can replace or supplement the incomes of people 
who cannot earn enough money through work to meet their core living costs 
due to unemployment, underemployment, low pay or low-quality work. It can 
also offer support when people experience shocks to their income or unexpected 
costs (for example, job loss or sudden illness) as well as supporting people 
who are unable to work full-time (for example, because of disability or caring 
responsibilities).

It also supports people who have higher core living costs than others. For example, 
living with a disability often adds to the cost of living as your energy costs may 
be higher. Similarly, having children is more expensive than not having children 
because there are extra people in the household who need supporting who do not 
contribute to the household’s income.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Around half of all families in the United Kingdom received some form of state 
support in 2020/21. However, some family types were much more likely to receive 
benefits than others. Almost all pensioners received the state pension, while three-
quarters of couples with children and 9 out of 10 lone-parent families received 
child benefit. Working-age families with children are much more likely to receive 
benefits – and particularly to receive non-income-related benefits – than families 
without children.

There are high rates of poverty for people in families receiving benefits. Given 
that many of these benefits are income-related and are therefore designed to be 
available only for low-income families, this is to be expected to a certain extent, 
particularly given the current inadequacy of the system. As shown in the table 
below, poverty rates are higher in families that receive benefits than those who 
do not.

page 70



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 48

Benefit Poverty rate in families in receipt 
of benefit (%)

Universal Credit or equivalents1 46

Disability benefits2 17

Carer’s Allowance3 34

Pension Credit 27

None of the above 14

1.  Universal Credit or equivalent covers families receiving Universal Credit (UC) or any of the legacy 
benefits it is replacing, that is, working-age Jobseeker’s Allowance (income-related), Employment and 
Support Allowance (income-related), Income Support, Child Tax Credit, Working Tax Credit and Housing 
Benefit.

2.  Disability benefits include any form of Disability Living Allowance, War Disablement Pension/Armed 
Forces Compensation Scheme, Attendance Allowance, Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit and any 
form of Personal Independence Payments. The income from these benefits has been included as income, 
but these are actually paying for the extra costs associated with being disabled, rather than increasing 
living standards. If these benefits are not included as income the poverty rate for this group rises to 39%.

3.  Carer’s Allowance recipients are more likely to live with someone receiving disability benefits. If disability 
benefits are not included as income the poverty rate for this group rises to 61%.

There has been a positive move in Scotland via the benefits system with a Scottish 
child payment being made to those receiving qualifying benefits; the value doubled 
in April 2022 to £20 a child and increased again in November 2022 to £25 when 
it was also rolled out to all eligible children under 16. This is likely to have reduced 
the risk of poverty among families in Scotland receiving these payments.

How has this changed over time?

Poverty rates among families receiving these benefits were largely stable between 
2005/06 and 2010/11, though families receiving pension credit were less likely 
to be in poverty in 2010/11 than they had been five years earlier. However, since 
then, poverty rates among people in households receiving most benefits have 
increased while poverty rates for people receiving none of the listed benefits 
remained stable at 14%–15% throughout this period. Although the latest data 
suggests that poverty rates among people receiving Universal Credit or equivalent 
benefits and Pension Credit had fallen since the previous year, these were still 
substantially higher than they had been 10 years earlier.

page 71



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 49

The biggest increases in poverty since 2005/06 were among families 
receiving Universal Credit or equivalent benefits or Carer’s Allowance

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Some of the long-term increases in these poverty rates may be due to changes 
to the benefits system that mean it is now more targeted at families with the 
very lowest incomes. However, these increases have also coincided with more 
than a decade of cuts to welfare spending.3 The lower poverty rates for people in 
households receiving Universal Credit or equivalent benefits in the latest data 
came at a time when the £20 uplift to Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits 
was in place. However, outside this uplift, the real term value of the basic rate of 
benefits continued to fall and is now below the pre-pandemic level.

page 72



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 50

Between April 2016, when benefits levels were frozen, and the start 
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the value of benefits declined. Although it 
increased when inflation and earnings fell at the start of the pandemic, 
it is now below pre-pandemic levels

Source: DWP abstract of statistics and ONS inflation and wage data

In April 2022, benefits were uprated using the inflation rate measured in 
September 2021. However, by April 2022 inflation was considerably higher than 
it had been the previous year. Therefore, 2022 saw the greatest fall in the value of 
the basic rate of unemployment benefits since 1972, when annual uprating began. 
As the cost of essentials has continued to rise throughout 2022, the real term 
purchasing power of households receiving these benefits has fallen.

page 73



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 51

What are the future prospects?

In April 2023, benefits will be increased in line with inflation (as measured in 
September 2022). The benefit cap will also rise by inflation for the first time since 
it was introduced in 2013, and after being cut in 2016. This will help the value of 
benefits to recover slightly as inflation in April 2023 is expected to be lower than 
inflation in September 2022. However, benefit rates are currently at a historic low 
and families receiving benefits will continue to struggle to meet essential costs. 
Furthermore, the Local Housing Allowance remains frozen while rental prices have 
continued to rise, meaning that housing continues to become less affordable for 
families receiving benefits.

The government’s autumn financial statement also included new payments for 
households on means-tested benefits who will receive an additional £900 cost 
of living payment in 2023/24. Pensioner households will receive an additional 
£300 cost of living payment, and individuals on disability benefits will receive an 
additional £150 disability cost of living payment in 2023/24. These payments 
will help alleviate some of the financial pressures facing low-income families, but 
they do not take into account the higher costs faced by different households (for 
example families with children) or offer tapered support to households who fall 
just above the qualifying threshold. As the energy price guarantee is set to rise to 
£3,000 in April 2023, the amount of income that will be required for households 
to afford the essentials may cause more households to fall into hardship.

How does this section interact with other sections?

Benefit levels are one of the key drivers of poverty rates, in combination with 
levels of work and earnings. A well-designed benefit system can help protect 
people from falling into poverty or falling into deeper poverty and to lift them out 
of poverty. It should enable people to afford the essentials, including healthy and 
nutritious food for their family, even as the cost of living rises. A benefits system 
that does not offer such support can cause anxiety as well as financial hardship 
among those who struggle to access help.

page 74



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 52

Housing and poverty

Why is this important?

Housing provides the base from which people live their lives, connecting them to 
work, education, services and their communities. The affordability of housing, 
alongside the stability, quality and size of homes, is crucial in itself, but also, if 
unaffordable, can drag occupants into poverty.

The experience of being in poverty also influences the type, quality and size 
of homes that households are able to access, can result in instability if families 
are unable to keep up with payments, and can be a driver of overcrowding and 
concealed households, for example if adult children live with their parents 
as they are unable to afford a home of their own, or find a home of the right 
size. At worst, households facing unaffordable housing costs can experience 
destitution, homelessness or rough sleeping.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Housing costs are a major factor in determining whether people are pulled into 
poverty, with the cost of housing a key driver of poverty for renters in particular. 
A third of private renters (32% or 3.9 million people) are in poverty, driven by a 
combination of high housing costs and low incomes; over half of private renters 
in poverty (51%, 2 million people) are pulled into poverty by their housing costs, 
compared with just under four in ten (38%, 1.7 million people) social renters 
pulled into poverty by housing costs.

The rate of poverty was highest among social renters at 42% (4.4 million people). 
This reflects the comparatively lower incomes of many people in social renting 
households (70% are in the bottom 40% of incomes) and the higher costs of 
paying rent compared with the housing costs for owner occupiers while interest 
rates were low. The higher rate of poverty in the social rented sector reflects the 
role of this tenure in housing those in greatest need.

page 75



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 53

Average number of people in poverty and poverty rates by tenure, 
2020/21

Tenure Number in poverty Poverty rate 
(%)

Owned outright 2,900,000 14

Buying with mortgage 2,300,000 10

Social renting 4,400,000 42

Private renting 3,900,000 32

Poverty rates are lowest for those who own outright (14%) and are buying with a 
mortgage (10%). The vast majority of these households in poverty are in poverty 
before housing costs, rather than being pulled into poverty by their housing costs.

The poverty rate is highest for social and private renters, many of 
whom are in poverty only after housing costs

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

How has this changed over time?

Across all tenures the poverty rate in 2020/21 was lower than 25 years ago, 
reflecting the overall reduction in poverty rates over the period. Although 29% of 
those in poverty now live in the private rented sector, up from 17% in 1994/95, 
and a third (33%) live in the social rented sector, down from 44% in 1994/95, this 
largely reflects changes in trends in tenure across the whole population during this 
period, described further below.

page 76



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 54

In recent years housing costs have not typically been a driver of poverty for those 
who own their home outright, for whom housing costs are negligible, or for those 
buying with a mortgage. These two groups make up the majority of the population 
(66%) but, due to their substantially lower poverty rates, they only make up 38%, 
or just under four in ten, of people in poverty.

The proportion of those living in poverty in the private rented sector is 
much higher than it was 25 years ago

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

In real terms, housing costs (made up of rent without taking into account 
housing benefit, water rates, community water charges and council water charges, 
mortgage interest payments net of tax relief, structural insurance premiums for 
owner occupiers, and ground rent and service charges) have risen significantly 
for low-income social and private renters since 1994/95. They have remained at 
similar (and low) levels for low-income households (defined here as households 
in the bottom 40% of before housing cost incomes) who own outright and fallen 
for those buying with a mortgage, as shown below. Across the UK, rent setting 
policies in the social rented sector have seen long-term above-inflation increases in 
rents, although the 1% a year rent reduction for four years from 2016/17 for social 
rented homes in England curbed this increase.

Private rents for low-income households rose, on average, in line with, rather 
than above, inflation between 2008/09 and 2019/20. Nonetheless, the high 
cost of housing for private renters remains a key driver of the number of people 
in poverty as the number of households in this tenure has grown. Compared 
with 25 years ago, the UK’s private rented sector is now home to three times as 
many families with children, increasing from under a tenth to just over a fifth of 
these families. This includes an increase from one to three million children. The 
increase has been most stark for the lowest income families with children, with 
the proportion of families in the bottom 40% of incomes living in private rented 
accommodation increasing from a tenth to a quarter.

page 77



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 55

Across all countries and regions of the UK, low-income private renting households 
paid the highest housing costs and highest proportion of income towards housing 
costs of all low-income households, averaging £128 a week or 38% of incomes 
compared with £99 a week or 31% of incomes for social renters. These rates are 
before housing support is considered, and this will help with the affordability of 
housing for those receiving support.

Housing costs are much higher in real terms for low-income social and 
private renters than 25 years ago

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: Indexed median real weekly housing costs by tenure for households in the bottom 40% of incomes. 
Index: 1994/95 = 100.

The measure of housing costs indexed in the above graph excludes mortgage 
principal and includes rents and mortgage interest as well as other costs such as 
water rates and structural insurance payments. This is the measure of housing 
costs that is used when calculating after housing costs poverty rates because those 
who developed this measure did not want to include the component of mortgage 
repayment that pays towards the purchase of an asset, the mortgage principal, 
when determining whether a household is in poverty. Interest payments, the cost 
of borrowing paid to the lender, are included in housing costs when calculating 
poverty rates.

page 78



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 56

The graph above demonstrates the fall in mortgage interest rates over the last 
decade, which have reached record lows in recent years. This helps to explain 
why our analysis finds that very few households buying with a mortgage are in 
poverty only after housing costs. At the height of the financial crisis in 2007, 4% 
of households buying with their mortgage were in poverty only after housing costs 
when mortgage interest rates averaged around 5.8%. In recent years the proportion 
of households buying with a mortgage in after housing costs only poverty has fallen 
to around 1%, with mortgage interest rates averaging around 2%.

Energy efficiency

In the context of the cost of living crisis, with energy bills doubling between October 
2021 and October 2022 even with the mitigations of the energy price guarantee, 
the energy efficiency of homes plays an important role in reducing consumption 
of, and expenditure on, energy. Households in poverty in England are slightly more 
likely to have homes that are more energy efficient than households not in poverty. 
Altogether, 38% of those in poverty live in homes with a standard assessment 
procedure energy efficiency rating of A–C, compared with 34% of those not in 
poverty. This is mainly because of the success of the social rented sector in England 
in delivering energy efficiency in their housing stock; 56% of all households in 
the social rented sector live in a home rated A–C, with only 3% rated E or below. 
Homes in the private rented sector and owner-occupied homes perform more poorly, 
with 29% and 27% rated A–C respectively, while around one in five (19% and 22% 
respectively) are rated E or below.

While a more energy efficient home will go some way to mitigate the impact of 
increasing energy bills by reducing consumption, the simple fact is that many families 
have insufficient incomes to meet the cost of doubling energy bills. In autumn 2022, 
JRF’s cost of living tracker found that more than a third of low-income private renting 
households (35%) and more than four in ten social renting households (41%) had 
been unable to heat their home at some point in the last six months.

What are the future prospects?

Low-income households who rent their home or are buying with a mortgage are 
likely to face increasing housing costs that will risk pushing more into poverty in 
the coming years. Rocketing private rents, paired with frozen support towards 
housing costs for private renters and an inadequate supply of social rent homes, 
will increasingly force lower-income households to choose between paying ruinous 
rents or homelessness.

page 79



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 57

All nations and regions across the UK apart from London have seen their highest 
annual increase in the average level of private rents for existing tenancies for over 
a decade, at 4% in November 2022 (ONS, 2022d). This is driven predominantly 
by soaring rents on new lets across the country which are, on average, up 12% on 
last year. This is around three times the rate of the previous peak (4% year on year 
growth in the mid-2010s (Zoopla, 2022)). Although the Scottish Government 
has imposed a temporary rent freeze in the private sector until March 2023, UK 
Government support towards housing costs for private renters has been frozen at 
2019 levels since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, and increasing proportions 
of private renters are facing a shortfall between the rents they are paying and the 
housing support they receive. This means that more and more private renters are 
having to make up the difference through other income. A recent report by the 
All Party Parliamentary Group for Ending Homelessness (2022) concluded that 
the cost of living crisis, with spiralling rents and inadequate benefits, is pushing 
people to the brink of homelessness and destitution.

In the social rented sector, the governments in Westminster and Cardiff have 
agreed to a cap on rent increases of 7% in England and 6.5% in Wales, which 
will go some way to mitigate what otherwise could have been an increase of 11% 
in social rents. Two-thirds of social renters have some or all of their housing 
costs covered by housing benefit or its equivalent housing entitlement under 
Universal Credit. For most of these households, the increase in social rents will 
have no impact on their disposable income as their benefit entitlement will also 
increase to cover this. The remaining third of social tenants who do not receive 
support towards their housing costs will need to manage increasing rent alongside 
increases in their other bills. This will pile pressure onto already stretched 
household budgets.

Households buying their home with a mortgage are at risk from increases in 
mortgage interest rates which, for those on a standard variable rate and those 
moving onto a new fixed rate, could add £100s to the monthly mortgage 
repayment for the average household. This will pile further pressure on household 
finances at a time when they are already struggling to manage increasing energy, 
grocery and other bills. The most at-risk house buyers are those on lower incomes 
and those with low equity or high outstanding mortgage debt. This includes 
recent buyers who are increasingly indebted as they are likely to have borrowed 
larger multiples of their incomes to buy increasingly expensive homes enabled 
by what had been historically low interest rates. Low-income households with 
high outstanding mortgage debt could see monthly payments for housing costs 
including mortgage principal increase from around a third to almost half of their 
monthly income, on average.

page 80

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/november2022
https://advantage.zpg.co.uk/insights/rental-market-report/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/247903/crisis-appgeh-report-on-ending-rough-sleeping-by-2024.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 58

Our analysis finds there are 100,000 households buying with a mortgage at 
risk of being pulled into poverty after housing costs due to increased mortgage 
interest rates if they remain at around 5.5% over the next few years. A substantial 
share of lower-income households will be unable to afford increases in monthly 
payments of this magnitude, which will probably result in increased mortgage 
arrears and, despite the greater forbearance lenders are required to practise 
since the 2007 crash, there could be an increase in families losing their home. 
Households who have bought their homes under a shared ownership scheme are 
also disproportionately at risk as they face inflation-linked rent increases alongside 
mortgage rate increases. Many social landlords have committed to voluntarily 
capping the increase in shared ownership rents at 7%, rather than at RPI +0.5%, 
which will go some way towards mitigating this impact.

JRF’s cost of living tracker found that in autumn 2022 more than a quarter of 
private renters in the lowest income quintile were in arrears with their rent (26%), 
along with 23% of social renters. This is compared with 18% of mortgage holders 
in the lowest income quintile who were in arrears with their mortgage; 71% of 
private renters on the lowest incomes were in arrears with at least one household 
bill or lending commitment, along with 60% of social renters and 61% of mortgage 
holders. These figures are more than double the figure for people who own their 
homes outright (27%). Furthermore, 89% of private renters, 84% of social renters 
and 80% of mortgage holders in the lowest income quintile reported going 
without essentials since June 2022 or experiencing food insecurity in the 30 days 
before they were surveyed in October or November 2022. The proportion among 
those without housing costs (who own their own home outright) is much lower, at 
52%.

The cumulative impact of these effects means that housing trends are likely to 
cause poverty levels to increase.

How does this section interact with other sections?

Geography is an important determinant of housing costs; private rents and house 
prices are much higher in London, the South and larger cities, while even social 
rents, set based on local property values and earnings, are higher than average in 
these areas.

As is the case for the majority of this report, this section provides UK-wide 
numbers, the sample for which, reflecting the population, is dominated by English 
figures. It is worth noting, however, that the significant differences in housing 
policy and outcomes in the different nations of the UK mean these figures are 
more pertinent to the English housing system than they are in Scotland and 
Northern Ireland in particular.

page 81



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 59

Ethnicity and poverty

Why is this important? 

Poverty rates between ethnic groups vary significantly, with some groups at a higher 
risk of poverty than others. Across the UK, direct racism (through the decisions 
and actions of individuals and organisations) as well as social norms, policies, 
rules and structures lead to inequitable outcomes and poverty. Highlighting and 
understanding these differences is essential to solving poverty in the UK.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Poverty rates for Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethnic groups are higher than for other 
ethnic groups. Between 2018/19 and 2020/21 (three-year averages are used due to 
the potential volatility in annual data), 51% of people from the Bangladeshi ethnic 
group were living in poverty while the poverty rate for the Pakistani ethnic group 
was 44%. More than 2 in 5 people from Black ethnic groups were also in poverty 
(42%). In comparison, around 1 out of 5 people from white ethnic groups were 
living in poverty (19%).

Four in 10 people in the Bangladeshi ethnic group (41%) also experienced deep 
poverty (with an equivalised household income after housing costs that is less 
than 50% of the UK average). This was the highest rate for any group, followed by 
people from Black (33%), Other Asian (33%) and Pakistani (32%) backgrounds. 
They are also the most likely to be experiencing very deep poverty (with an income 
less than 40% of the UK average); almost a quarter of people from a Bangladeshi 
background (24%) and at least a fifth from Pakistani (20%) and Black (22%) 
backgrounds experience very deep poverty. These rates are more than twice as 
high as for white ethnic groups (8%). Therefore, while poverty rates and deep 
poverty rates are highest for people from the Bangladeshi ethnic group, with 
elevated levels also seen among people from Pakistani, Black and any Other Asian 
backgrounds, very deep poverty rates vary less between different minority ethnic 
groups.

page 82



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 60

People in the Bangladeshi ethnic group have the highest overall poverty 
rate, followed by Pakistani and other Asian and Black ethnic groups, 
but very deep poverty rates vary less between different ethnic groups

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Before the Covid-19 pandemic, almost a quarter of people from Asian (23%) 
and Black (24%) ethnic groups were living in households experiencing persistent 
poverty between 2016 and 2020 (DWP, 2022e). This is more than twice as high 
as the proportion among people from white ethnic groups (11%). However, people 
from Other ethnic groups (which includes individuals who identified as Arab or 
‘none of the specified ethnic groups’ in the survey) had the highest persistent 
poverty rates over this period (31%).

Ethnic minorities have higher in-work poverty and higher child poverty rates. 
The in-work poverty rate is probably because many ethnic minority groups, 
particularly Pakistani and Bangladeshi workers, are more likely to have the types of 
jobs and working patterns that are associated with in-work poverty.

page 83

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 61

Ethnic minority groups are more likely to work in low-paid jobs (DWP, 2022e). A 
third of workers from Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic groups (34%) are working 
in jobs in the three lowest socio-economic classes (elementary jobs, jobs in sales 
and consumer services or process and plants and machine operative jobs). This is 
compared with only 22% of white workers. Only one in five workers (21.9%) from 
Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic groups are in jobs classified as ‘professional’ by 
the standard occupational classification (compared with 25% of white workers). 
This is the lowest proportion across all ethnic groups.

People from ethnic minority groups are more likely to work part-time, be 
self-employed or be in insecure work (DWP, 2022e). Workers from Pakistani, 
Bangladeshi and Black ethnic groups are more likely to be on zero-hours contracts 
than white workers; 2.8% of white workers are on zero-hours contracts compared 
with 7.9% of Black workers and 7.2% of Pakistani and Bangladeshi workers 
combined. These differences are even starker when looking at women in the 
workforce: 9.9% of Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in the workforce and 10.5% 
of Black women in the workforce are on zero-hours contracts, compared with only 
3.4% of white women workers.4

There are clear, and persistent, differences in the hourly pay for employees in 
different ethnic groups. Since 2013, employees from Pakistani and Bangladeshi 
ethnic groups have had the lowest average hourly pay. In 2021, this was £12.03 
an hour compared with £13.51 for white workers. As highlighted in last year’s 
UK Poverty report (JRF, 2022) the pay gaps between women and men are not 
consistent across all ethnic groups. On average, men earned a higher hourly 
median wage than women in all but three ethnic groups in 2019. Bangladeshi 
women earned a similar amount to Bangladeshi men in the workforce, but this 
was substantially lower than the average hourly pay of most other groups.

Additionally, ethnic minority families are more likely than white families to 
spend more than a third of their income on housing. While 14% of white 
families spend more than 30% of their income on housing costs, this is more 
than twice as high for Black families (34%). Pakistani and Bangladeshi families 
are also more likely than white families to spend more than a third of their 
income on housing (25%).

page 84

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 62

In autumn 2022, JRF’s cost of living tracker highlighted the higher likelihood 
of households in the bottom fifth of incomes across the UK who were from 
Asian, Black and Mixed ethnic groups of being in arrears and going without 
essentials. Among these low-income households, eight in ten (80%) working-age 
households from the Black ethnic group, 77% from mixed ethnic groups, and 
67% of Bangladeshi or Pakistani households were in arrears, compared with just 
under six in ten (57%) of white households. Even more were already going without 
essentials; more than five out of six low-income working-age households from 
the Bangladeshi or Pakistani ethnic groups (85%), Mixed ethnic groups (88%) and 
Black ethnic groups (91%) reported having gone without essentials by October/
November 2022, compared with 80% of white households.

The Opinions and Lifestyle Survey also found that people from minority ethnic 
groups were struggling to meet their energy and housing costs between June 
and September 2022 (ONS, 2022c). One in five adults from Black ethnic groups 
(21%) and 1 in 10 from Asian ethnic groups (10%) reported being behind on their 
energy bills during this period, compared with only 4% of white adults. People 
from minority ethnic groups were also more likely to be behind on their housing 
payments; 9% of people from Black ethnic groups and 8% from Asian ethnic 
groups were behind on their rent or mortgage payments, compared with only 2% 
from white ethnic groups.

How has this changed over time?

Poverty rates for ethnic minority groups have been consistently higher than for 
white ethnic groups over the past 25 years. Although there has been a large fall 
in poverty rates for both the Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethnic groups over this 
period, they remain the most likely to be in poverty. Since 2000/2001, poverty 
rates among the Black ethnic group have been relatively stable, at around 40%. 
This is twice as high as the poverty rate for the white ethnic group, which has been 
around 20% since 2003/04.

page 85

https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritainjunetoseptember2022


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 63

Poverty rates for Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethic groups have declined 
over the last 25 years, but remain much higher than the poverty rate 
for the white ethnic group

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: In 2001/02, the ethnicity categories in the FRS were changed in line with the Government Statistical 
Service’s harmonisation standard. Before then, information on mixed or multiple ethnic groups was not 
available in the data. Three-year averages for this group are therefore only available from 2001/02–2003/04 
onwards.

page 86



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 64

What are the future prospects?

The cost of living crisis is having a larger impact on households from Black, Asian 
and other ethnic minority groups. In 2022/23, according to analysis from the New 
Economics Foundation, white households are expected to experience an increase 
in their cost of living that is equivalent to 5% of their income. For households 
from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups, this is estimated to be 8% of their 
income (Tims and Caddick, 2022). As highlighted above, levels of poverty are 
already higher among these households and, without additional support, the 
ongoing cost of living crisis is likely to push more people from minority ethnic 
groups into poverty, and many into deeper poverty than they have already been 
experiencing.

The Opinions and Lifestyle Survey from June to September 2022 (ONS, 2022c) 
found that adults from Black, Asian and other ethnic minority groups were 
more likely to use more credit than usual to cover their increased costs of living 
than white adults; in particular, a quarter of adults from Black ethnic groups 
(26%) said that there were using credit more than usual, compared with only 
14% of white adults. This additional borrowing, and future repayments of this, 
risks compounding future financial pressures among this group. People from 
Pakistani, Indian, Black, Bangladeshi and other Asian ethnic groups are also more 
likely to have reduced their pension contributions due to the increased cost of 
living, further increasing their risk of experiencing poverty later in life (Scottish 
Widows, 2022).

As one in four families (25%) from Bangladeshi and Black ethnic groups receive 
income-related state support (compared with 15% of white families) and families 
from the Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethnic groups are the most likely to receive 
Child Tax Credits (1 in 6) and Working Tax Credits (1 in 10), the value of benefits 
is particularly important for these groups. Therefore, the increase in benefits 
and the benefits cap in line with inflation in April 2023 and the additional cost 
of living payments for households on means-tested benefits will help alleviate 
some of the financial pressure faced by these families. However, as benefit rates 
are currently at a historic low, many of them will continue to struggle to meet 
essential costs.

How does this interact with other areas?

Ethnic minority families are disproportionately affected by changes to the benefit 
systems. They are also more likely to be working in low-paying insecure work, 
so labour market trends are also critical. There are also differences in the typical 
family types for different ethnic groups, with the average family size for some 
ethnic minorities being higher than average. They will also have higher household 
costs because they are more likely to have children in their household.

page 87

https://neweconomics.org/2022/05/losing-the-inflation-race
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritainjunetoseptember2022
https://adviser.scottishwidows.co.uk/assets/literature/docs/60677.pdf
https://adviser.scottishwidows.co.uk/assets/literature/docs/60677.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 65

Disability, carers and poverty

Why is this important?

Disabled people face a higher risk of poverty and have done so for at least the last 
20 years. This is driven partly by the additional costs associated with disability 
and ill-health, and partly by the barriers to work disabled people face. As a 
result, disabled people and/or families where someone is disabled frequently rely 
on benefit payments as a source of income, which at current rates will almost 
inevitably lead to higher poverty rates.

Across the UK, millions of people provide unpaid care for an ill, older or disabled 
family member or friend. The number of unpaid carers has been increasing as 
the population ages. Many carers find that they really struggle to balance work 
and care, and that they are facing their own health problems as a result of their 
caring role. There are also significant financial costs associated with caring, with 
carers often using their income or savings to pay for support services and care 
equipment. Carers also face poorer health outcomes, with a high proportion of 
carers struggling with mental and physical health problems. All of these factors 
mean that carers are much more likely than those who aren’t carers, to be living in 
poverty.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Disability

This section sets out poverty rates for disabled people and for individuals within 
families where someone is disabled.

There are 14.6 million disabled people in the UK – that is around 1 in 5 people. 
Looking at this by age, 9% of children, 21% of working-age adults and 42% of 
pensioners self-report being disabled. Just over one-third of all families contain at 
least one person who is disabled.

page 88



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 66

The poverty measure that has been used in this section measures income 
after housing costs, excluding disability benefits from household income. 
These disability benefits are designed to cover the costs associated with being 
disabled and including these as income can give a misleadingly low assessment 
of the poverty risk. Many disabled people need to buy specialist equipment 
to live independently, including things like powered wheelchairs, adapted 
cutlery or screen readers. They may need to adapt their homes to carry out 
everyday activities. Disabled children may need therapies such as physiotherapy, 
hydrotherapy, and speech and language therapy. Parents and family members 
might also need therapies and support services such as counselling to help them 
through their child’s diagnosis journey. Disabled children often require specialist 
toys and play equipment. Some impairments or conditions have a significant 
impact on energy costs and for some public transport is inaccessible meaning that 
some disabled people have no choice but to use taxis and private hire vehicles to 
get around (John et al, 2019).

The poverty rate for disabled people is 29%, some 9 percentage points above those 
who are not disabled. The difference is particularly stark for working-age adults: 
disabled working-age adults are almost twice as likely to live in poverty compared 
with those who are not (35% and 18% respectively).

Poverty rates are higher for disabled people

Disabled/not disabled Age group Poverty rate 
(%)

Disabled Child 32

Working-age adult 35

Pensioner 19

Not disabled Child 27

Working-age adult 18

Pensioner 14

The poverty rate among working-age disabled men is 36%, 18 percentage points 
higher (or double the rate) for those who are not disabled. For working-age 
disabled women, the poverty rate is lower at 33%, though still 15 percentage 
points higher than for women who are not disabled. The lower poverty rate among 
disabled women compared with disabled men can be explained in part by different 
family structures. Among working-age adults, 48% of disabled men are single 
without children, 16 percentage points higher than for disabled women. As single 
working-age adults have higher poverty rates than those in couples, the higher 
proportion of single men within this group will be driving the higher poverty rate 
for disabled working-age men compared with disabled working-age women.

page 89

https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag/


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 67

The poverty rate for individuals who live in families where someone is disabled 
is 28%, 9 percentage points higher than those who live in families where no one 
is disabled. Of all families in poverty, just under half contain someone who is 
disabled, compared with 3 in 10 families not in poverty.

Poverty rates vary by who is disabled within the family and is especially high where 
there are both disabled adults and children (32%).

Poverty rates are much higher for families containing a disabled adult

Disability mix within the family Poverty rate (%)

No one disabled 19

Disabled adults only 27

Disabled children only 30

Disabled adults and children 32

People living in a family with a disabled person are also more likely to be in very 
deep poverty. Between 2002/03 and 2019/20 the risk of living in very deep 
poverty increased by a third for people in families with a disabled person, to reach 
15% or 2.3 million people. Although this fell to 10% in the most recent data, this 
still means that 1.7 million people living in a family with a disabled person were 
living in very deep poverty in 2020/21.

Even before the pandemic, people in single adult families with a disabled family 
member were four times more likely to be behind on bills, six times more likely 
to be living in a cold home and nine times more likely to be unable to afford 
to eat properly, compared with those in families where no one is disabled 
(Schmuecker et al, 2022).

A key driver of the higher poverty rate is the lower employment rate for disabled 
people and in families where someone is disabled. In 2020/21 around half of 
disabled people aged 16 to 64 (48%) in the UK were in employment compared with 
8 in 10 (80%) for non-disabled people. This disability employment gap was even 
larger in Scotland, Wales and in the North West and the North East of England 
(DWP, 2022d). Disabled people with severe or specific learning difficulties, autism 
and mental illness have the lowest employment rates (ONS, 2022g).

Among families where someone is disabled, the workless rate (the percentage of 
working-age adults living in families where no one is in work) was 32%, compared 
with 14% in families where no one is disabled. Among those families who are 
working, 15% of those where someone is disabled only work part-time, compared 
with 11% where no one is disabled.

page 90

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-without-deepening-poverty-uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2021


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 68

Different employment rates also change the income profile for families where 
someone is disabled. Among families where someone is disabled, the median 
equivalised family income after housing costs is just 82% of the median income for 
families where no one is disabled. When disability and carer benefits are excluded 
from this, this falls to only 73%.

Carers

Around 1 in 16 adults (4.1 million) are informal carers, with nearly six in ten living 
in families where someone is disabled. Six in ten are women, and just over three-
quarters are of working age. Around two-thirds care, on average, for fewer than 
35 hours a week, with around one-third spending more than 35 hours a week 
providing informal care.

Informal carers are more likely to live in poverty than those without caring 
responsibilities: 29% compared with 20%. Within this, poverty rates vary by age 
and sex. Carers of working age have a higher poverty rate than their pensioner 
counterparts, and it is higher for men than it is women across both age groups.

Poverty rates are higher for working-age informal carers than non-carers

Working age Pension age All

Carer 
(%)

Non-carer 
(%)

Carer 
(%)

Non-carer 
(%)

Carer 
(%)

Non-carer 
(%)

Female 28 21 22 17 27 20

Male 34 21 24 14 32 19

Working-age informal carers are less likely to be employed, a difference that 
persists across sex. Around two-thirds of male carers (67%) and 6 in 10 female 
carers (62%) are employed. By contrast, 7 in 10 women (70%) and almost 8 in 10 
men who are not carers (78%) are employed. The amount of time spent caring also 
affects a carer’s ability to work. Almost 6 out of 10 people (58%) who are caring 
for 35 hours or more a week are not in work, more than 2.5 times the rate of those 
caring for fewer than 20 hours a week. Just under half of adults caring for 20–35 
hours a week are not in work (46%). Of those carers who are working, those with 
higher caring responsibilities (35+ hours) are more likely to work part-time than 
those providing lower levels of care (20–34 hours or less than 20 hours): 41%, 24% 
and 29% respectively.

This year, with the cost of living crisis, carers have faced unprecedented pressure 
on their finances. Nationally representative research by Carers UK (2022) shows 
that a quarter of carers (25%) said they were cutting back on essentials such as 
food or heating, and more than three-quarters (77%) said that the rising cost of 
living is one of the main challenges they will face over the coming year.

page 91

https://www.carersuk.org/images/Research/CUK_State_of_Caring_2022_report.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 69

How has this changed over time?

Disability

The poverty rate for disabled people has remained broadly constant at around 
a third since 2013/14. At the same time, the proportion of the UK population 
reporting being disabled increased, as it has done consistently over the last 
two decades, particularly among working-age adults. This has resulted in larger 
numbers of people exposed to a higher risk of being in poverty, as poverty among 
disabled people has consistently been higher than among non-disabled people. 
After a closing of the poverty gap in the early part of the 21st century, it widened 
notably from 2011/12 to 2013/14 and has remained at broadly the same level 
ever since. The latest data shows a slight decrease in the poverty rate for disabled 
people. Next year’s data will confirm whether this is an outlier or the start of 
a trend.

Although the poverty rate for disabled people has not varied much, the proportion 
of disabled working-age adults working has increased from 42% to 53% over the 
last 10 years, with a corresponding fall in the proportion receiving income-related 
benefits. The proportion of working disabled people who work part-time has 
remained relatively steady at around a third since 2012/13, compared with around 
a fifth of those who are not disabled. So, while more disabled people are working, 
they are still less likely to be able to access full-time work, and so often need to rely 
on income-related benefits to supplement their income.

page 92



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 70

Poverty has been consistently higher for disabled people than for 
people who are not disabled

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2002/03-2020/21, DWP

Note: Disability-related benefits are excluded from household income.

Carers

The proportion of adults who are informal carers has remained relatively stable, 
at around 8–10% over the last 15 years.

The poverty rate among carers continues to be higher than among those who 
are not carers. Following a similar pattern to poverty among disabled people, 
the poverty gap between carers and non-carers widened after 2012/13. The gap 
remained broadly stable (at around 4 percentage points) until the latest year 
when the poverty rate for informal carers has risen from 24% to 29%. We need 
more data to see if the increase in 2020/21 is sustained, or whether it is a one-off 
pandemic or data effect.

page 93



UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 71

Poverty has been consistently higher for informal carers than for 
people who are not informal carers

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

What are the future prospects?

The outlook for future poverty among disabled people, their families and carers 
remains concerning. The poverty gap between disabled and non-disabled people 
shows no signs of closing, and while a greater proportion of disabled people are 
now employed, many are on low pay and still rely on income-related benefits. The 
value of many of these benefits has been eroded since 2010, through less-than-
inflation uprating including the benefit freeze which was in place from April 2016 
to March 2020. While the lifting of the benefit freeze in 2020 has halted this 
decline, benefits are still insufficient to prevent people being swept into poverty, 
especially for families who cannot work. As the number of Personal Independence 
Payments claims continues to rise, suggesting an increase in the number of people 
with a long-term physical or mental health condition or disability needing these 
benefits, this is likely to lead to a greater number of disabled people living in 
poverty.

While employment among disabled working-age adults is at its highest level in 
the last 20 years, there are signs that the work could prove to be precarious, and is 
insufficient to prevent people being pulled into poverty. Alongside this, negative 
stigma around employing disabled people still persists, with 1 in 5 employers less 
likely to hire a disabled person than someone who is not disabled (Moore, 2021). 
If work is going to provide a route out of poverty for disabled people, much still 
needs to be done to ensure that employers are doing what they can to support 
disabled employees.

page 94

https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/disability-employment-gap-discrimination-pagegroup-b1966891.html


UK Poverty 2023 Trends in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 72

Governments across the UK have taken a range of actions to provide carers with 
help and support, but the State of Caring 2022 report from Carers UK (2022) 
shows that more must be done. While the Government has confirmed that 
the funding committed for health and social care in England last year will be 
maintained, and that there is an additional £500 million for hospital discharge, 
it still falls far short of what is needed, particularly given the cost of living crisis, 
workforce shortages and the pressures on the NHS.

How does this section interact with other sections?

The key interaction is with the labour market section and benefit receipt 
sections. The labour market is not good enough at offering sufficient flexibility 
and accessibility for all disabled people and carers who want work, and there are 
inadequate benefit levels for those currently unable to work.

There is also a link with the health analysis that shows that in itself being in 
poverty can contribute to poor health.

page 95

https://www.carersuk.org/images/Research/CUK_State_of_Caring_2022_report.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 73

Cost of living 74

Savings and debt 80

Food insecurity 87

Health and poverty 98

Education and poverty 107

The experience 
of being in poverty

page 96



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 74

The experience of being in 
poverty

Cost of living

Why is this important?

The cost of living is how much households spend on goods and services to help 
them fulfil their everyday lives. A key part of our definition of poverty is the 
ability to participate in society; having an income that allows you to meet the cost 
of living is integral to that. If the price of goods, especially of essentials, increases 
at a faster rate than incomes, this squeezes household budgets and puts pressure 
on those already on lower incomes.

We are currently in a cost of living crisis, where record inflation has led to rising 
prices that have not been matched by income growth. The crisis is hitting all 
households across the UK, but it is punishing the budgets of the lowest income 
households who are facing higher than average inflation rates. Lower-income 
households spend a higher proportion of their income on essentials, like food, 
which has seen eye-wateringly high inflation of 16.2% in the year to October 2022.

This matters because the support available to low-income households hasn’t 
been sufficient to meet the rising costs. Millions are being forced to go without 
essentials, are falling behind on their bills, and are facing damaging and long-
lasting impacts to their financial resilience for the future.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

JRF has been tracking the impact of the cost of living crisis on low-income 
households, with three large-scale surveys at six month intervals since October 
2021. The picture is dire for those on the lowest incomes (in the bottom 20% 
of equivalised household incomes), as shown below; 3.1 million households 
(53%) are in arrears with their household bills or behind on scheduled lending 
repayments, 4.3 million households (75%) are going without essentials and 
1.5 million households (26%) are using credit to pay their bills. This is all despite 
recent government support targeting those on the lowest incomes. This support 
is clearly falling short.

page 97



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 75

The majority of low-income households are in arrears, unable to afford 
unexpected expenses, or going without essentials

Source: JRF Cost of living tracker, October/November 2022

Falling behind with bills

The proportion of low-income households who have reported being in arrears with 
their household bills or behind on scheduled lending repayments has increased 
from 39% to 53% since October 2021. This equates to a change from 2.3 million to 
3.1 million households being in arrears.

This holds true across every type of household bill for those in the bottom income 
quintile. Unsurprisingly, energy arrears increased between October 2021 and 
May 2022, but subsequently have since held steady at the higher level of 21%. 
This suggests two things: one, that policies to help ease the pressure of energy 
bill increases are working to an extent, in that the problem has not got worse; and 
two, that warmer weather and conscious energy use (due to soaring prices) has 
prevented more households from falling into arrears on their energy bills.

page 98



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 76

However, arrears for Council Tax are up from 16% in May to 19% in October, and 
for water from 14% to 18% over the past year. Council Tax arrears are particularly 
concerning because the repercussions of falling behind are huge. If a household 
misses a payment and does not pay their arrears within seven days of being sent 
a reminder notice, they can be made to pay the entire year’s bill in a single lump 
sum. This large financial outlay in a single payment will probably be very difficult 
for low-income families, who tend to have little to no savings, to afford. If this 
single sum is not paid, the council can take money from a household’s benefit 
payments, reducing their future income.

Falling behind on high-cost credit repayments is also a concern for those in the 
bottom income quintile. A concerning number of low-income households report 
having high-cost lending, with 22% reporting having a loan with an unregulated 
lender (‘loan shark’), and almost a quarter (23%) with a high-interest loan, such as 
from a doorstop lender, payday lender or pawnshop. Of those who report having 
a high-cost credit loan in at least one of these types of arrangements (either to an 
unregulated lender, a doorstop lender, a payday lender or a pawnshop) more than 
half (51%) are in arrears with their loan. That amounts to one million households 
– almost a fifth (18%) of households on the lowest incomes – being in arrears 
with high-cost credit. This is a huge number of households who will face very high 
repayments after having to borrow to cover current costs.

Going without essentials

In May 2022, just over two-thirds (67%, or 3.9 million) of households on the 
lowest incomes reported that they had gone without at least one essential such as 
showers, toiletries, adequate clothing or a warm home since the start of 2022, or 
that they had experienced food insecurity in the previous month.

Between then and October 2022 that figure rose to three-quarters of the group 
(75%) – 4.3 million households. More than half of this group (57%) reported going 
without three or more types of essentials, highlighting the depth of hardship over 
the past six months, despite government support. The chart below outlines the 
proportions and numbers of low-income households unable to consistently afford 
each of these essentials. If the percentage of low-income households shown in the 
chart is more than 20%, that means more than 1 million households across the UK 
are going without that essential.

Almost 2 million of the poorest households have been unable to keep their home 
warm between June and October/November 2022, and 1.2 million haven’t been 
able to make an essential journey because they couldn’t afford it.

page 99



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 77

A large proportion of households in the bottom income quintile have 
gone without essentials since June 2022 or experienced food insecurity 
in the month before October/November

Source: JRF analysis of Cost of living survey, October/November 2022

Using credit to pay bills

A quarter of households in the bottom income quintile (26%) said they have 
borrowed money or used a credit card to pay for their essential bills like rent, 
Council Tax and energy. Around 1 in 10 (11%) said they had done so since June 
2022 alone. This is particularly worrying as these low-income households have 
taken on additional, short-term debt to pay these bills and they will need to repay 
this high-cost borrowing over the coming months and years.

Being unable to afford an unexpected essential expense of £200

Being unable to absorb financial shocks puts you in a financially vulnerable 
position, and it is clear from the arrears, essentials and credit picture painted 
above that this is true for households in the bottom income quintile. This is 
further confirmed as 6 in 10 (60%) report that they could not afford to pay a bill 
of £200 for an unexpected essential expense without cutting back on essentials or 
borrowing money.

page 100



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 78

How has this changed over time?

Over the last 12 months, households in the lowest income quintile have seen 
worryingly high levels of hardship get worse. The proportion in arrears has 
increased by more than a third since October 2021, from 2.3 million to 3.1 million 
households. The number going without essentials has increased by almost half a 
million households, from 3.9 million to 4.3 million households.

Data from before the pandemic tells us that this problem has worsened 
significantly. In 2019/20, 13% of these households reported through the Family 
Resources Survey being in arrears, falling to 11% in 2020/21 while the Universal 
Credit £20 a week support was in place. However, by October 2021 JRF’s cost of 
living tracker found that low-income households were three times as likely to be in 
arrears (39%), demonstrating the financial impact of the start of the cost of living 
crisis.

What are the future prospects?

The UK has seen record high inflation in the last 12 months but means-tested 
benefits have only increased by 3.1%. Cost of living payments have been welcome, 
but have been eaten up by extortionate energy, food and transport rises. While 
the energy price guarantee was helpful, the average gas and electricity bill for a 
typical customer is still almost twice as high in winter 2022/23 as it had been in 
winter 2021/22. Low-income households have already taken action to try to meet 
their increased cost of living; 39% (2.3 million households) in the bottom income 
quintile have tried to earn more money to help deal with the cost of living crisis, 
and 26% have had to take on lending just to pay their bills.

Looking ahead, while UK Government decisions to uprate benefits as normal and 
give further lump sum payments are welcome, additional support for those on 
the lowest incomes doesn’t come until April 2023. Therefore, there is a real risk 
that more low-income families fall into poverty, fall deeper into poverty or cannot 
afford the essentials before then. Already 52% are reducing the number of showers 
they take, 61% are heating their home less, 62% are using appliances less, 39% of 
families with children are spending less on food for their children, and half of all 
households have reduced spending on food for adults. By the time the new rates 
are in place, these figures are likely to have risen even further.

page 101



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 79

The damaging financial impact is already starting to appear when we see the 
worrying figures of high-cost credit arrears, and the number of households going 
without multiple essentials. Financial resilience for the future is also being eroded 
for many people who could previously afford to invest in their economic security. 
While many low-income households may already have been unable to afford 
insurance, more than a quarter (27%) reported that they have stopped or reduced 
their insurance payments (1.6 million households). This will have a material 
impact on the financial position if additional, unexpected costs are incurred. 
Furthermore, 25% of working-age households in the bottom income quintile 
(1.2 million households) report that they have stopped or reduced their pension 
contributions, which will erode their future financial resilience and increase their 
risk of experiencing poverty in the future.

How does this interact with other sections?

A key part of our definition of poverty is having an income that allows you to take 
part in, and contribute to, society. Having an income to cover the cost of living is a 
key driver in this. Cost increases, particularly for essentials, are difficult to manage 
for those on already stretched budgets. The value of benefits, as well as of wages 
and the amount of work available to those in employment, is therefore crucial to 
ensure that low-income families can still afford essential costs in the face of record 
inflation.

Some low-income households will also face additional financial pressures in the 
cost of living crisis, such as low-income households with no savings to use as 
a safety net or with additional expenditure needs, for example due to living in 
a household where someone is disabled or in an area of the country with high 
housing costs.

The pressures of meeting these essential costs can cause stress and anxiety and 
often involve making cuts in other areas which can affect overall wellbeing. The 
scarring impacts of a winter spent not being able to pay bills, going without food, 
a warm home and toiletries are significant on mental health and physical health.

page 102



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 80

Savings and debt

Why is this important?

A household with easily accessible savings is better placed to cope with sudden 
changes to their income (such as someone losing their job) or unexpected costs 
to cover (either one-off costs like replacing a household appliance or ongoing 
increases such as high levels of inflation increasing their living costs). Savings can, 
in the short-term, provide a degree of financial resilience. This can help reduce the 
risk of a household falling behind on bills or taking on additional debt.

Falling behind on bills or going into debt can place huge stress on the mental 
wellbeing of a household, which can lead to depression, anxiety and a greater 
chance of relationship breakups. This is why it is so important for households to 
have a buffer of liquid savings (savings that can be turned into cash quickly) to call 
on at short notice to avoid falling into debt and/or accumulating bill arrears.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Savings

According to the Office for National Statistics’ Wealth and Assets Survey (ONS, 
2022h), 9.3 million people in Great Britain (or 15% of the population) lived in 
households where adult liquid savings5 were less than £250 in 2018/20. However, 
this rate varied considerably between high- and low-income households6; a third 
of people living in the poorest fifth of households (34%) and 2 in 10 people in 
the second poorest fifth of households (21%) lived in households with less than 
£250 in savings, compared with only 1 in 50 (2%) of people in the richest fifth of 
households. When looking at differences by household wealth, more than half of 
households in the bottom 10% of household wealth in Great Britain owed more 
money on credit card payments and loans than they had in savings.

Within the fifth of households across Britain with the lowest incomes, there were 
also considerable differences in the levels of savings held by different groups. 
Those with children (especially those with young children) were at a particularly 
high risk of having savings under £250; almost half (48%, or 1.3 million people) 
of people in the poorest households with children under five had household 
savings under £250. In low-income households, single working-age people with 
and without children (55% and 45%, 1 million and 700,000 people respectively), 
private and social renters (42% and 54%, 900,000 and 2.5 million people) and 
households where the household reference person was sick or disabled (57%, 
700,000 people) were also more likely to have savings under £250.

page 103



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 81

Debt

Even before the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent increases in the cost of 
living, almost 4.9 million people (8% of the population of Great Britain) lived in 
a household where at least one person felt that their debt (excluding mortgage or 
student loan debt) was a heavy burden. A further 10 million lived in households 
where someone found debt to be somewhat of a burden, meaning one in four 
people lived in a household where debt was at least somewhat of a burden. 
However, this varied greatly between high- and low-income households. Almost a 
fifth of people in the poorest fifth of households (17%) and a tenth of people in the 
second poorest quintile (9%) lived in a household where at least one person found 
debt to be a heavy burden. In comparison, it was very rare for people in the richest 
fifth of households to live in a household where debt was a heavy burden (2%).

Among households in the lowest income quintile, at least a quarter of people 
in lone-parent families (27%, 500,000 people), in families with three or more 
children (25%, 600,000 people), living in social rental accommodation (26%, 
1.2 million people) or where the household representative or their partner was 
either sick or disabled (25%, 300,000 people) or unemployed (28%, 200,000 
people) lived in a household where debt was a heavy burden. Furthermore, nearly 
half of people in households with children under five, with three or more children 
or in lone-parent families found debt to be at least somewhat of a burden.

page 104



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 82

Within the poorest households, lone parents, social renters and people 
in households with a sick or disabled reference person are the most 
likely to have low savings and among the most likely to find debt a 
heavy burden

Source: Wealth and Assets Survey, 2018–20

Many of these groups are over-represented in the lowest income quintile. 
In particular, almost 8 out of 10 unemployed households are in the bottom 
income quintile along with 46% of households where the reference person 
is sick or disabled, 41% of lone-parent families, 40% of families with at least 
three children and 39% of social renters. As well as low incomes, many of these 
household types face additional expenditure (such as for disabled household 
members or children) which may also limit their ability to build up savings and 
increase their need to borrow more money to cover their essential expenses. 
Therefore these groups are both much more likely to have low household 
incomes and, even compared with other low-income households, more likely to 
have low levels of savings and a heavy burden of debt.

page 105



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 83

How has this changed over time?

Savings

The proportion of people in households with less than £250 in liquid savings fell 
by a quarter between 2010–12 and 2018–20 (from 21% to 15%). To an extent this 
is not surprising given inflation over the period means £250 would not stretch as 
far in the latter period compared to the former. These figures fell across all income 
quintiles, with 34% of people in the lowest income households having savings 
under £250 in 2018–20, compared with 41% in 2010–12.

Even within the poorest income quintile, different changes have been experienced 
by different groups. Among low-income households whose household 
representative was employed, the proportion of people with household savings 
under £250 fell by only 4 percentage points (from 43% in 2010–12 to 39% 
in 2018–20) while this remained broadly stable in retired households (12% in 
2010–12 and 11% in 2018–20).

However, as shown below, many of the groups with high poverty rates were 
markedly less likely to have household savings under £250 in 2018–20 than in 
2010–12. This was the case for people living in households with an unemployed 
household reference person, in particular. For these households, the rate dropped 
by almost 30 percentage points. This rate also fell in lone-parent households, 
households with a sick or disabled household representative and those in social 
rental accommodation, but the majority of people in these groups still lived in 
households with less than £250 of savings in 2018–20.

page 106



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 84

Although the proportion of low-income households with low savings fell 
between 2010–12 and 2018–20, the majority of lone-parent households, 
households with a sick or disabled representative and social renters 
still had savings under £250 in 2018–20

Source: Wealth and Assets Survey, 2010–12 and 2018–20

Although average household savings increased during the Covid-19 pandemic, this 
increase was not seen evenly across all types of households. The Bank of England 
estimated that high-income working households were almost twice as likely as 
low-income working households to have increased their savings in 2020 (42% 
compared with 22%). In contrast, the household savings of both unemployed and 
furloughed households were more likely to decrease than to increase during the 
pandemic. Therefore, while high-income households were able to increase their 
savings during the pandemic, low-income households were not able to build up or 
grow a safety net of savings to the same extent during this period.

Debt

The number of people living in households where at least one person found debt 
to be a heavy burden has also fallen overall. However, this reduction was not 
seen for the lowest income households (18% in 2010–12 and 17% in 2018–20), 
whereas the rate halved in the top two income quintiles (from 4% to 2% in the 
highest quintile and from 8% to 4% in the second highest quintile).

The proportion of people in the lowest income quintile who lived in a household 
where someone found debt to be a heavy burden did not decrease to the same 
extent as the proportion in households with low savings decreased. In particular, 
large families, single people (with or without children), people living with a sick 
or disabled household reference person and social renters were as likely to live in 
a household where at least one person felt a heavy burden of debt in 2018–20 as 
they had been in 2010–12.

page 107



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 85

Between 2010-12 and 2018-20, the proportion of people in low-income 
households where debt was a heavy burden changed little for many of 
the most vulnerable groups

Source: Wealth and Assets Survey, 2010–12 and 2018–20

Therefore, while almost all low-income households were less likely to have less 
than £250 in savings in 2018–20 than they had been in 2010–12, concerns about 
debt within low-income households persisted. This may be because low-income 
households’ ability to build up a small amount of savings in the 2010s did not 
prevent them from accruing debt that put a strain on their household finances.

Since this data was collected, the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent cost of living 
crisis have added an additional burden on household finances. This has pushed 
more low-income households into debt between 2021 and 2022. In October 2021, 
JRF’s cost of living tracker found that 39% of low-income households were either 
in arrears for at least one household bill or had fallen behind on payments for 
borrowing. By May–June 2022, this had risen to 47%. This had risen further to 
53% in October–November 2022.

By May–June 2022, 13% of households in the bottom income quintile had 
used credit to pay for essentials, such as rent or Council Tax, in 2022. This had 
risen to 26% by October 2022, with 11% reporting doing this since June 2022. 
Worryingly, many low-income households have used high-cost lenders (such as 
loan sharks, doorstep loans and payday lenders), with one quarter (25%) owing 
money to high-cost lenders in May–June 2022. This increased dramatically to 
33% in October 2022.

page 108



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 86

What are the future prospects?

While there was a decline in the proportion of people living in a household with 
low savings over the course of the decade before the Covid-19 pandemic, the 
subsequent cost of living crisis is likely to reverse this trend. In particular, the 
elevated price of essentials such as food and energy could mean that low-income 
households with liquid savings need to use these to cover increased costs and 
reduce the amount of savings they hold. However, the £650 cost of living payment 
for households on low-income benefits and tax credits may help to alleviate some 
of these pressures, as might the £900 further payments in 2023/24.

As many low-income households have low levels of savings, the rising cost of living 
may also increase their borrowing and reduce their ability to repay existing debts 
as the value of their income falls in real terms. Many low-income households have 
already started to borrow more money, including from high-cost lenders, as the 
cost of living rose in 2022. Therefore the proportion of low-income households 
who consider debt to be a heavy burden is likely to rise as more households 
struggle to balance tight incomes with repayments for new and existing debt.

How does this interact with other sections?

Increases in the cost of living will affect people’s ability to build up, and sustain, 
household savings and increase their risk of getting into problem debt. This 
may mean that they struggle to afford essential products and services, including 
housing, energy and food. Furthermore, the stress caused by low savings and debt 
may contribute to mental health issues, with people who are behind on bills or 
low levels of savings more likely than more financially resilient people to report 
indicators of mental distress. 

page 109



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 87

Food insecurity

Why is this important?

Many people in the UK struggle to have enough food. Even more struggle to afford 
food that is nutritious – food that meets dietary needs and food preferences for 
an active and healthy life. The banner of food insecurity covers a wide range of 
circumstances where there is a lack of access to sufficient, varied food, or a risk 
of this. Apart from basic nutrition, food security is linked to economic stability 
and long-term health.

For children, severe food insecurity has been linked to chronic health conditions 
like asthma and depression. A diet lacking in calories, protein, vitamins and 
minerals will impede a child’s physical, cognitive and emotional development. 
Adults in food-insecure households have higher rates of developing chronic 
diseases such as arthritis, asthma, diabetes and mental health issues, as well as 
lower life expectancy. For a pregnant woman, it can lead to higher risk of low 
birthweight, pre-term delivery and slow cognitive development for her baby.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Official food insecurity data

We now have two years of data from the Family Resources Survey (FRS) on food 
insecurity. The second year of data (from 2020/21) shows that 2.4 million people 
in poverty in the UK had a low or very low food security status, meaning they are 
unable to access enough, varied and/or nutritious quality food. Therefore, almost 
1 in 5 (18%) people living in poverty were food insecure. In comparison, only 3% 
of people not in poverty had a low or very low food security status. This highlights 
the strong relationship between food insecurity and poverty. The data also shows 
us that 27% of households in receipt of Universal Credit were food insecure.

page 110



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 88

The food security status of individuals in households in poverty 2020/21

Household food security status (%) In poverty after 
housing costs (AHC) 

(millions)

High food security 73 9.7

Marginal food security 9 1.3

Low food security 8 1.1

Very low food security 10 1.3

 

Food secure 82 10.9

Food insecure 18 2.4

All 100 13.3

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: Shared households are excluded from household food security tables. Figures may not sum due to 
rounding.

page 111



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 89

Food security questions in the Family Resources Survey

The respondent is read three statements and asked if the statement was ‘often true‘, 
‘sometimes true’ or ‘never true’ for the last 30 days.

1. [I or we] worried whether our food would run out before [I or we] got money to 
buy more.

2. The food that [I or we] bought just didn’t last, and [I or we] didn’t have money to 
get more.

3. [I or we] couldn’t afford to eat balanced meals.

Unless all three questions are answered as being ‘never true’ the respondent is then 
asked the following questions.

4. Did you (or other adults in your household) skip or cut meals because there wasn’t 
enough money for food? How many days did this happen?

5. Did you (or other adults in your household) ever eat less than you felt you should 
because there wasn’t enough money for food?

6. Were you (or other adults in your household) ever hungry but didn’t eat because 
there wasn’t enough money for food?

7. Did you (or other adults in your household) lose weight because there wasn’t 
enough money for food?

8. Did you (or other adults in your household) ever not eat for a whole day because 
there wasn’t enough money for food? How many days did this happen?

From the questions, a 10-point household score is generated. One point is scored 
for each ‘positive’ answer, that is answers of ‘often true’, ‘sometimes true’, ‘yes’, 
(with an additional point if ‘three days or more’ is selected for the second part of 
questions 4 and 8).

High food security (score = 0): the household has no problem, or anxiety about, 
consistently accessing adequate food.

Marginal food security (score = 1 or 2): the household had problems at times, or 
anxiety about, accessing adequate food, but the quality, variety and quantity of their 
food intake were not substantially reduced.

Low food security (score = 3 to 5): the household reduced the quality, variety, and 
desirability of their diets, but the quantity of food intake and normal eating patterns 
were not substantially disrupted.

Very low food security (score = 6 to 10): at times during the last 30 days, eating 
patterns of one or more household members were disrupted and food intake reduced 
because the household lacked money and other resources for food.

Food secure are those households with a high or marginal food security status. 

Food insecure are those households with a low or very low food security.

page 112



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 90

Of the broad groups of people in poverty, children in poverty were the most 
likely to be suffering from food insecurity. In 2020/21, around 22% of children in 
poverty live in a household with low or very low food security status, compared 
with 19% of working-age adults in poverty. Pensioners in poverty are the least 
likely age group to be food insecure. Only 4% of pensioners in poverty were 
suffering from food insecurity in 2020/21. When we look at the data by family 
type, people in lone-parent families in poverty were the most likely to be suffering 
from food insecurity (31%). Of all the family types they were also the most likely 
to report marginal food security. Single adults without children were the second 
most common family type to have a low or very low food security.

Among households in poverty children and people living in lone-parent 
families have a higher risk of experiencing food insecurity

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: Shared households are excluded from household food security tables.

page 113



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 91

Understanding Society data (Bramley et al, 2021) collected during the pandemic 
in mid-2020 showed that, as well as lone-parent families being most at risk 
of food insecurity and pensioners being most protected, having a low income, 
being young, being unemployed, living alone, living in social housing, having 
‘poor’ self-reported health and identifying as an ethnic minority were significant 
predictors of food insecurity (controlling for other factors). The sample size of the 
FRS in 2020/21 makes analysis by ethnicity difficult, but published tables show 
that households that were most likely to be food insecure had a Black head of 
household (21% of which were food insecure). Where the head of the household 
was white, the proportion of food insecure households was 6%. The households 
most likely to be food secure had an Indian head of household (4% food insecure).

More up-to-date data

There are other data sources that looks at food insecurity, using a different 
definition of food security than that used in the official food security data. These 
range from polling JRF has commissioned to statistics on the numbers of food 
bank users.

JRF’s cost of living tracker found that in the 30 days before being surveyed (in 
October to November 2022), family members in 6 in 10 (61%) of all low-income 
families had either cut down on or skipped meals, or went hungry because there 
was not enough money for food. That is 3.5 million low-income households 
going without the food they need and is equivalent to all the households living 
in London. The proportion of households in the bottom income quintile 
experiencing food insecurity rose by 9 percentage points (from 52% to 61%) 
between May/June 2022 and October/November 2022, while it remained stable 
for those in the second income quintile (37% and 36%).

What is also deeply worrying about these survey results is the degree of overlap 
between going without enough food and warmth. Among those unable to heat 
their home adequately between June and October/November 2022 more than 
three-quarters (79%) also reported either going hungry or cutting down on meals 
because there wasn’t enough money for food in the previous 30 days. Overall, that 
means one in four (27%) low-income households were going without enough food 
and were unable to keep their homes warm.

In 2020/21, food insecurity levels in households on Universal Credit (UC) were 
four-and-a-half times as high (27%) as the average household (7%). Since then, we 
have seen that UC recipients facing deductions are much more likely to be going 
hungry. 77% of UC recipients with deductions went hungry in the last 30 days 
before they were surveyed for JRF’s cost of living tracker in October to November 
2022, compared with 57% without deductions, while 31% of UC recipients with 
deductions visited a food bank compared with 20% without deductions.

page 114

https://www.trusselltrust.org/state-of-hunger/


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 92

People living in households that receive Universal Credit are almost 
four times as likely to experience food insecurity than all households 
across the UK

Source: Family Resources Survey, 2020/21

Food bank referral statistics from The Trussell Trust show that for the first time 
outside of the Covid-19 pandemic year (2020/21) food banks in The Trussell 
Trust network distributed more than 2.1 million food parcels in 2021/22. Their 
latest mid-year statistics tell us that they are on course to match or exceed that 
number this year with 1.3 million food parcels distributed in April to September 
alone (The Trussell Trust, 2022a). The referral statistics also tell us that 6 in 10 
(62%) of working-age people referred to a food bank in early 2020 were disabled 
(as defined by the Equality Act 2010). This is more than three times greater 
than the proportion of working-age adults who were disabled in 2017–19 in the 
general population (19%). Furthermore, in 2020/21, people living in a household 
with someone who was disabled were more than two and a half times as likely 
to experience food insecurity as those in a household where no one was disabled 
(11% compared with 4%).

page 115

https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/mid-year-stats/


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 93

People living in a household where someone is disabled are more than 
twice as likely to experience food insecurity than those who do not

Source: Family Resources Survey, 2020/21

JRF’s cost of living tracker included the same food security questions as those 
asked in the FRS to get a better indication of more recent trends. Although the 
two surveys were carried out in different ways and have different approaches to 
collecting income data (making results not directly comparable) the difference 
in the picture we see is stark. In autumn 2022 JRF’s cost of living tracker found 
that 61% of working-age families in the bottom 20% of the income distribution 
reported either cutting down or skipping meals or going hungry in the last 30 
days, compared with 14% of households with a total gross weekly income under 
£200 in the 2020/21 FRS before record inflation caused food costs to soar. The 
difference is so marked it is unlikely to be due to differences in data collection 
alone. These findings also mirror the work of others, such as The Food Foundation 
which has tracked a huge jump in levels of food insecurity since the start of 2021 
(The Food Foundation, 2022).

page 116

https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/mp-briefing-food-insecurity-levels-households-receiving-universal-credit


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 94

How has this changed over time?

The second year of data available from the FRS on food security allows us to make 
our first comparison of food insecurity data for households in poverty. As the 
FRS data accumulates each year, vulnerability in the population can be monitored 
over time. This data will also open new possibilities for testing the impacts of 
policy changes on food insecurity. Overall patterns of food insecurity remained 
the same – in 2020/21 children in poverty were still the most likely to be living 
in a household suffering from food insecurity, followed by working-age adults 
then pensioners. People in single-parent families in poverty were also still the 
most likely to be food insecure, followed by people in single households with no 
children, couples with children and then couples without children.

Among households in poverty, children and people living in single adult 
families were more likely to experience food insecurity in both 2019/20 
and 2020/21

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

Note: Shared households are excluded from household food security tables.

page 117



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 95

Although the data may not be directly comparable with other data sources, more 
recent indicators seem to point to a substantial increase in food insecurity. Food 
bank statistics can also be used to assess change in the number of people unable 
to access enough food. Over time there has been a rapid growth in the number of 
charitable food banks and the quantity of emergency food parcels they distribute. 
Destitution, which means that people cannot afford to buy the absolute essentials 
that we all need to eat, stay warm and dry, and keep clean, drives the need for food 
banks in the UK. Ahead of the pandemic destitution was rising (Fitzpatrick et al, 
2021), poverty was deepening, and all manner of warning lights were flashing, 
including food bank use (Schmuecker et al, 2022).

The 2.1 million food parcels distributed by food banks in The Trussell Trust 
network in 2020/21 was higher than the number distributed in any of the five 
years before the pandemic (The Trussell Trust, 2022b). It was an 81% increase 
from the same period five years ago and a 14% increase from 2019/20. The 
previous year (2020/21), when more than 2.5 million parcels were distributed, is 
a clear outlier driven by the economic and social upheaval caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic. Although the level of support distributed by food banks in The Trussell 
Trust network has fallen in 2021/22, it is important to recognise that 2020/21 
was an unprecedented year in which many people newly found themselves in crisis 
as a result of the pandemic.

The figures indicate that children continue to be more likely to need support than 
adults when looking at the support given out by food banks in this period. Two in 
five (38%) food parcels were distributed for children in 2021–22, despite people 
aged 0–16 making up just 20% of the UK population.

page 118

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/destitution-uk-2020
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/destitution-uk-2020
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 96

The Trussell Trust network distributed more emergency food parcels in 
2021/22 than in any year before the Covid-19 pandemic

Source: Trussell Trust data briefing on end-of-year statistics relating to use of food banks: April 2021–
March 2022

There is significant variation across local authorities and the nations and regions 
of the UK in the recorded change in the number of food parcels distributed 
in 2021/22. For example, there have been decreases in the number of parcels 
distributed in Scotland (-17%) and Wales (-4%) when compared with the same 
period in 2019/20. However, need in these areas remains concerningly high with 
almost 200,000 parcels distributed last year in Scotland alone.

What are the future prospects?

Despite the evidence on the severity and scale of food insecurity in the UK, there 
continues to be a lack of government leadership and no strategy for addressing it 
directly. Unless people receive sufficient income, they will continue to struggle to 
have access to good quality and enough food.

The aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic followed by a cost of living crisis has 
threatened the food security of millions of people even further. Reduced incomes, 
increased unemployment and higher food prices have greatly reduced access to 
food for those affected. There are key design features of the social security system 
that directly lead to higher food insecurity and have contributed to the rise in 
food bank use. Having to wait five weeks for the first Universal Credit payment, 
deductions to Universal Credit to pay off debts and arrears, low Local Housing 
Allowance rates and Local Housing Allowance caps relative to housing costs, 
the ‘bedroom tax’, and the structure and process of the Personal Independence 
Payment assessment all contribute to this (Bramley et al, 2021).

page 119

https://www.trusselltrust.org/state-of-hunger/


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 97

The decision to uprate benefits and the benefits cap in line with inflation in April 
2023 will go some way to help low-income families receiving benefits to cover the 
increased cost of living, including higher food costs. However, as benefit rates are 
currently at a historic low, many low-income households will continue to struggle 
to afford to feed their families. As the economic fallout following Covid-19 takes 
time to resolve and people’s resources continue to be eroded by the biggest cost 
of living crisis in a generation, greater numbers are likely to be food insecure 
and end up needing food banks to survive. Latest JRF research from October 
2022 (Earwaker, 2022b) highlights that more families are falling under the heavy 
burden of debt, arrears and hunger, with further government action needed this 
winter.

How does this section interact with other sections?

Food security and insecurity is closely linked to poverty, the quality and quantity 
of secure jobs and to the cost of living – higher food prices have greatly reduced 
access to food for the people who are struggling the most. People in poverty are 
already more likely to have poor physical and mental health, and their health 
problems are exacerbated by an inadequate diet. Food insecurity is also linked 
to cognitive ability making it harder, for example, for children to concentrate at 
school, leading to poorer educational attainment.

page 120

http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/not-heating-eating-or-meeting-bills-managing-cost-living-crisis-low-income


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 98

Health and poverty

Why is this important?

The circular relationship between health, income and deprivation is long 
established. Poorer health generally reduces the possibility of better life outcomes 
and opportunities. It can restrict employment prospects, reduce earnings and 
bring additional living costs associated with long-term illness and disability that 
must somehow be met. In turn, this can lead to living in deprivation, low income 
and poverty. Those who find themselves living in poverty or in deprived areas 
with one or more ill-health conditions endure reduced access to health-promoting 
services or assets such as better housing. All people living in poverty, whether with 
or without ill-health conditions, suffer extra stresses on day-to-day decisions that 
can cause or exasperate poor health, closing the poor health-poverty loop.

In this year’s report, health and poverty takes on a greater significance due to it 
covering the period when the UK was in the grip of the Coronavirus pandemic. 
With everyone facing a heightened risk to their health, those at the lowest end of 
the income distribution faced a greater risk still.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

In every UK nation the rate of deaths caused by Covid-19 was higher in the most 
deprived areas than in the least deprived. For England and Scotland, the death 
rate from Covid-19 in the most deprived areas was at least twice that in the least 
deprived areas. The pattern of death rates was very similar across each nation. As 
an area’s level of deprivation increased, so did its number of deaths from Covid-19.

Beyond the Covid-19 pandemic, the health inequalities driving mortality rates 
persist. Females and males born in the most deprived areas of the UK live shorter 
lives, on average, than females and males born in the least deprived areas.

Among working-age adults, people living in poverty are more likely to suffer 
from poor health; 16–34-year-olds in poverty are 1.5 times as likely to be in poor 
health (23% compared with 16%) than those not in poverty. The difference is even 
greater for 35–49-year-olds (34% compared with 18%) and 50–64-year-olds (28% 
compared with 43%). The gap decreases for older age groups; 44% of people aged 
65 and over in poverty are in bad health compared to 40% of those not in poverty. 
These differences are probably driven by multiple factors, including availability 
and uptake of health screening, or the longer life expectancy of higher-income 
households who may nevertheless have health issues towards the end of their life.

page 121



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 99

Percentage of adults living in less than good health by poverty status

In poverty 
(%)

Not in poverty 
(%)

16–34 years old 23 16

35–49 years old 34 18

50–64 years old 43 28

65 plus 44 40

These patterns are also seen in mental health outcomes. Individuals in the 
lowest household income quintile (calculated before housing costs) are more 
likely to experience symptoms of anxiety than those with higher household 
incomes. For example, 4% of people in the poorest fifth of households report 
losing sleep compared with 2% of those in the richest quintile; 30% report 
lacking energy compared with 17% in the richest quintile and 6% report feelings 
of depression compared with 2% in the richest quintile (Clark and Wenham, 2022).

The lower a person’s income, the more likely they are to experience a 
symptom of anxiety

Source: JRF analysis of Understanding Society, 2019/20

page 122

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/anxiety-nation-economic-insecurity-and-mental-distress-2020s-britain


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 100

The impact of Covid-19 on mortality by deprivation quintile

England

Out of all the UK nations, England (with Northern Ireland) experienced the 
highest Covid-19 mortality rate for people living in its most deprived areas. 
Between March 2020 and April 2021, the rate of deaths due to Covid-19 was 
2.2 times higher in the most deprived areas of England than in the least deprived 
areas (ONS,2021a). Of all UK nations, only Scotland has seen a greater disparity 
in Covid-19 mortality rates between the most and least deprived areas, but 
Scotland had lower mortality rates compared with England.

Wales

Like all UK nations, people living in the most deprived areas of Wales were more 
likely to die due to Covid-19 than those in the least deprived areas. The rate of 
deaths due to Covid-19 was almost two times higher in the most than the least 
deprived areas. However, the mortality rate for the most deprived quintile was 
lower than in England and Northern Ireland, but higher than in Scotland.

Scotland

Scotland has the lowest mortality rate per 100,000 people for every degree of 
deprivation across the UK, but it has also had the highest disparity in mortality 
rate between its least and most deprived areas of all UK nations (2.5 times higher) 
(NRS, 2022a).

Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland has the lowest disparity in Covid-19 mortality rates between its 
least and most deprived areas with rates only 1.5 times higher. However, this is 
mainly due to higher mortality rates for less deprived quintiles, as the mortality 
rate of the lowest quintile is among the highest across all countries (NISRA, 2021).

page 123

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/news/covid-19-deaths-march-2020-january-2021


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 101

Across all nations of the UK, the rate of deaths due to Covid-19 was 
higher in more deprived areas

Source: Office for National Statistics, National Records Scotland, Northern Ireland Statistics Research 
Agency

Note: Time periods differ, see references for individual nations for exact periods; England IMD deciles 
averaged to create comparable quintiles.

Why might these inequalities exist?

These inequalities are probably driven by both short-term and long-term factors 
that increased the risk of exposure to the virus in the most deprived areas of the 
UK. People in the most deprived areas of the UK are less likely to be in jobs that 
can be carried out remotely and were often more likely to have been designated 
as key workers during the pandemic. This meant that they had more public 
interactions and greater exposure to the virus when much of the country was in 
lockdown.

Pre-pandemic inequalities also increased the risk of Covid-19 transmission and 
Covid-19 death rates. Specifically, deprived areas tend to be more urban, with 
higher population density, and have greater rates of overcrowding. Self-isolating 
when infected or living with someone with Covid-19 in these conditions would 
have been much harder than for those living in less crowded conditions.

page 124



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 102

Pre-existing medical conditions also caused increased vulnerability to Covid-19. 
Socio-economically disadvantaged areas tend to have higher rates of people living 
with conditions linked with greater risk of deaths from Covid-19. These include 
respiratory disease, obesity and heart diseases. These conditions were already a 
driver of pre-pandemic health inequalities. Paired with Covid-19, they increased 
these inequalities even further.

People from disadvantaged backgrounds also face an increased risk of exposure 
to more severe versions of diseases and weakened resilience caused by chronic 
exposure to the social determinants of poor health (McGowan and Bambra, 
2022). During the Covid-19 pandemic, both unequal medical treatment (related to 
hospital care and access to respirators or antiviral medication) and differences in 
vaccine uptake have been considered as additional drivers of the worse outcomes 
experienced by people from disadvantaged backgrounds (Dolby et al, 2022).

Beyond the Coronavirus pandemic

The pandemic alone did not cause health inequalities. It simply intensified the 
differences in outcomes that already existed across the UK and highlighted them 
more starkly.

Health inequalities exist from birth and continue through an individual’s life. In 
2018/20, females born in the 10% least deprived areas in England were expected 
to live, on average, eight years more than females born in the 10% most deprived 
areas (ONS, 2021b). The gap for males is even greater (10 years). In Scotland, 
these differences are more pronounced; male life expectancy in the most deprived 
areas is 13.7 years less than in the least deprived areas while the gap in female life 
expectancy is 10.5 years (NRS, 2022b).

In Wales and Northern Ireland, data comparing the 20% most and least deprived 
areas also shows gaps in life expectancy. These gaps are smaller than those in 
England and Scotland, though this is probably due – at least in part – to the 
larger groups compared. In Wales, female life expectancy in the least deprived 
20% of areas was 6.3 years longer than in the most deprived areas, and male life 
expectancy was 7.5 years longer. In Northern Ireland, the female life expectancy 
gap between the least and most deprived 20% of areas is 5 years and the male life 
expectancy gap is 6.9 years (NISRA, 2022).

page 125

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00223-7/fulltext
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00223-7/fulltext
https://jech.bmj.com/content/76/7/646
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files/statistics/life-expectancy-in-scotland/19-21/life-expectancy-19-21-report.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/hscims-life-expectancy-ni-2018-20.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 103

The same pattern emerges when comparing the healthy life expectancy of people 
in the most and least deprived areas of England. On average, a female living in 
the least deprived areas will spend 85% of their life in good health, compared 
with 71% for a female living in the most deprived areas. Given the shorter life 
expectancy of women from deprived areas, this equates to 18 years less lived in 
good health. For a male, this gap is 19 years; a male born in the most deprived 
areas will live in good health for just 66% of their life compared with 82% for those 
in the least deprived area (ONS, 2021b).

In Scotland, the gaps in healthy life expectancy are once again larger; a female 
living in the least deprived area of Scotland will live 85% of their life in good 
health, compared with 65% in the most deprived areas while a male in the least 
deprived areas will spend 85% of their life in good health compared with 68% 
in the most deprived areas. This means that both men and women in the most 
deprived areas of Scotland are expected to have 24 fewer years in good health than 
their counterparts in the least deprived areas (NRS, 2022c).

When comparing the 20% most and least deprived areas in Wales and Northern 
Ireland, the healthy life expectancy gap is 13.4 years for males and 16.9 years for 
females in Wales and 11.8 years for males and 14.9 years for females in Northern 
Ireland (NISRA, 2022).

How has this changed over time?

Since life expectancy by level of deprivation was first reported in 2011, the life 
expectancy for those living in the most deprived areas of England has never been 
lower. This is the case for both females and males. In 2018–20 females were 
expected to live, on average, for nine fewer months and males for four fewer 
months than they had been in 2011/13. In contrast, the life expectancy of both 
men and women living in less deprived areas increased over the same period 
(ONS 2022a).

page 126

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages
https://www.gov.scot/publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-march-2022-report/pages/6/
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/hscims-life-expectancy-ni-2018-20.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 104

Those born in the most deprived areas of England between 2018–2020 
will live around half a year less compared with those born between 
2011–13

Source: JRF analysis of ONS Health state life expectancies by Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2015 and 
IMD 2019): England, all ages

In Scotland, data on life expectancy by deprivation is only available over a shorter 
time period. Here, male life expectancy in the most deprived areas fell by 
13 months and female life expectancy fell by 12 months between 2013/15 and 
2018/20. In Wales, where data is only available to compare the 20% most and least 
deprived areas, male life expectancy in the most deprived areas has fallen by four 
months and female life expectancy by nine months since 2011/13 (Public Health 
Wales Observatory, 2022).

Although the proportion of life lived in good health has increased, this is not 
necessarily reflecting an improvement in healthy life expectancy. As reported 
above, overall life expectancy is falling for people from the most disadvantaged 
backgrounds. Any increase in the proportion of life lived in good health for 
this group may therefore be, in part, a consequence of healthy life expectancy 
stagnating.

page 127

https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/PHWO_HeathExpectanciesWalesProfile_v2a/
https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/PHWO_HeathExpectanciesWalesProfile_v2a/


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 105

Since 2012/13, when this data was first collected, rates of poor health have 
remained stable, or improved, for most people. People aged 35 to 49 living in 
poverty were as likely to report less than good health in 2020/21 as they had been 
eight years earlier, with these rating falling for people living in poverty who were 
aged 50 or older. However, the opposite is true for people living in poverty aged 
16 to 34. In 2012/13, 17% of this youngest age group reported living in less than 
good health. By 2020/21, this figure was 24%. This is in line with findings from 
the ONS on the deteriorating physical and mental health of young people.

16- to 34-year-olds living in poverty are the only age group to have seen 
their rate of living in less than good health increase

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP

What are the future prospects?

The findings presented here show worrying trends of growing poor health. The 
pre-existing inequalities that led to disparities in health across the UK will not 
disappear without government intervention. This is truer than ever, as health 
inequalities deepened during the Covid-19 pandemic. Without specific policies 
aimed at improving public health through prevention, intervention and treatment 
of all health conditions and other causes of ill-health such as overcrowding and 
poor housing, further decreases in life and healthy-life expectancy must be 
expected.

page 128



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 106

As poverty causes ill-health, reducing levels of poverty will also have a positive 
impact on health outcomes. Any exposure to poverty in childhood is associated 
with worse health outcomes in adolescence and into adulthood (Lai et al, 2019) 
and the potential impact is greater for children in persistent poverty. This 
is particularly worrying given the impact of the cost of living crisis on living 
standards and years of chronically high poverty levels.

How does this section interact with other sections?

The most obvious link is with disability, but health could be considered to have a 
relationship with all other areas of this report. For example, we know that people 
from ethnic minorities have higher rates of poverty and are more likely to live in 
deprived areas, and we know people living in those states face greater risk of poor 
health. Many people struggling with poor health face loss of earnings through 
employment and indeed may be unable to work, leading them to interact with 
the benefit system. As well as impacts on wellbeing, those in poor health may 
also have increased living costs and children suffering with poor health will see an 
impact on their education.

page 129

https://adc.bmj.com/content/104/11/1049


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 107

Education and poverty

Why is this important?

School helps us learn the essential skills we need to interact with the world around 
us, for example paying bills or reading a bus timetable. Too many children are 
leaving school without these skills, including being unable to confidently read 
and use numbers. Schools also provide emotional support for many children and 
families and are anchors to communities and systems of support.

Educational qualifications are needed for much employment and higher qualifications 
are related to higher pay and lower levels of poverty. Attainment gaps between the 
most and least advantaged children are found from early years (Blanden and Machin, 
2017) through to graduate outcomes across the UK (Office for Students, 2020).

Education is a devolved power so education varies across the four nations in the 
UK; outcomes are therefore not directly comparable. In most cases schools and 
governments do not collect information on the incomes of parents so we use 
other information that is available to identify when children might be growing 
up in a household in poverty or low/lower incomes. In this section we mainly 
use free schools meals (FSM) data. Students are eligible for free school meals 
if their parents receive social security support for low incomes. In Scotland the 
government uses the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation which measures the 
level of deprivation in someone’s neighbourhood rather than within the individual 
family (Scottish Government, 2020). At some points we use parent occupational 
status. Lower occupational status is associated with lower incomes and is therefore 
used as an alternative measure when no other data is available.

What’s the headline story in the latest data?

Because education systems vary greatly between countries of the United Kingdom 
differences in attainment gaps between countries are not comparable. It is clear, 
though, that large attainment gaps between more and less disadvantaged children 
are common across all countries.

Primary and secondary education

Even at a young age there is a gap in young people’s educational attainment by 
parental income level, and this continues throughout the different stages of a 
child’s education. The Millennium Cohort Study found that children born in the 
UK at the start of the new millennium had lower attainment in cognitive tests 
in their early years if their parents had lower incomes. The gap in vocabulary 
development between children in the richest and poorest families (top and 
bottom 20% of household incomes) was, on average, 10 months at age three 
and 15 months at age five (Blanden and Machin, 2017).

page 130

https://cls.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/13_briefing_web.pdf
https://cls.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/13_briefing_web.pdf
https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/publications/differences-in-student-outcomes-further-characteristics/
https://www.gov.scot/collections/scottish-index-of-multiple-deprivation-2020/
https://cls.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/13_briefing_web.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 108

At age 11 there is a 23 percentage point gap in the proportion of children 
reaching expected levels at Key Stage 2 (KS2) in England. The Department 
for Education notes that there has been a widening in the attainment gap at 
KS2 level for children in England since 2021. This is because attainment for 
disadvantaged pupils has fallen further than for children not known to be 
disadvantaged, increasing the disadvantage attainment gap. In Scotland, at the 
end of primary school, there is a 24 percentage point gap in literacy and 23 
percentage point gap in numeracy between children from the most and least 
deprived neighbourhoods (based on the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation). 
There is no primary school data currently available for Northern Ireland or 
Wales.

Attainment in England

2021/22 Disadvantaged 
(%)

Not known to be 
in disadvantage 

(%)

Attainment 
gap

Aged 11 Proportion of 
pupils reaching 
expected standards 
in reading, writing 
and maths at KS2

43 66 23 percentage points

Aged 16 Percentage of 
pupils achieving 
grades five or 
above in English 
and mathematics 
GCSEs

30 57 27 percentage points

Note: Disadvantaged pupils are ordinarily defined as: those who were registered as eligible for free school 
meals at any point in the last six years; children looked after by a local authority or have left local authority 
care in England and Wales through adoption, a special guardianship order, a residence order or a child 
arrangements order.

Attainment in Scotland

2021/22 Most 
deprived 

20% of 
areas 

(%)

Least 
deprived 

20% of 
areas 

(%)

Attainment 
gap

Aged 11 Percentage of primary 7 
achieving literacy

56 80 24 percentage points

Percentage of primary 7 
achieving numeracy

62 85 23 percentage points

Aged 16–18 One or more at SCQF at level 
five on leaving school

78 96 18 percentage points

page 131



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 109

Attainment in Wales

2021/22 FSM 
(%)

Non-FSM 
(%)

Attainment 
gap

Aged 16 Percentage of GCSE entries 
awarded A*–C

53 80 27 percentage points

Note: teacher assessment of KS2 is no longer published by FSM status (Welsh Government, 2019).

Attainment in Northern Ireland

2021/22 FSM 
(%)

Non-FSM 
(%)

Attainment 
gap

Aged 16 Proportion of pupils achieving 
at least five GCSEs A*–C (or 
equivalents) including GCSE 
English and maths

60 84 24 percentage points

Note: primary attainment by FSM is not regularly published in Northern Ireland.

Attainment gaps persist across primary and secondary education. In Northern 
Ireland, there is a gap of 24 percentage points between children getting FSM and 
those not in attaining five passes at GCSE level including maths and English. In 
Wales, there is a 27 percentage point gap in the GCSE entries awarded an A*–C 
grade. In England, just 3 in 10 disadvantaged young people get a pass at GCSE in 
both English and maths compared with nearly 6 in 10 young people not known 
to be disadvantaged. In Scotland, the gap between children in the most and least 
deprived neighbourhoods seems smaller (18 percentage points) but the level being 
measured is lower at just one qualification at Level 5.

Across education systems we also know that intersectional attainment gaps exist 
with attainment among children in low-income families also varying by ethnicity, 
gender and whether they have any additional support needs (Shaw et al, 2016; 
Strand, 2021).

Higher education

In the UK, half the students studying for a first undergraduate degree have 
parents who are in professional or managerial occupations. In 2020/21, only 43% 
of the working-age population were in professional and managerial occupations, 
suggesting that young people who have one or more parent working at this level 
are more likely to attend university than those with parents in other occupations. 
Around one in five entrants to higher education from the UK have a parent 
working in a routine or semi-routine occupation. One per cent of young people 
starting a degree in 2020/21 have a parent who is long-term unemployed or never 
worked (this could be due to a range of reasons including disability and caring 
responsibilities).

page 132

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/special-educational-needs-and-their-links-poverty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 110

Proportion of higher education first degree undergraduate enrolments 
by highest parental occupational status in the UK 2020/21

(%)

Higher managerial and professional occupations 24

Lower managerial and professional occupations 26

Intermediate occupations 14

Small employers and own account workers 8

Lower supervisory and technical occupations 6

Semi-routine occupations 13

Routine occupations 9

Long-term unemployed or never worked 1

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

We know that people with higher qualifications are less at risk of living in poverty. 
Just over 1 in 10 working-age adults with an undergraduate degree or above are 
living in poverty compared with more than 4 in 10 working-age adults with no 
qualifications.

In 2020 the gross weekly pay for working adults aged 16 to 64 with no 
qualifications (or who did not know what their qualifications were) was £346 a 
week. This increases to £423 a week for someone with a qualification below degree 
level and to £750 a week for someone with a higher degree.

How has this changed over time?

As each of the UK’s education systems are distinct and have made changes 
to their structure, examinations and measurements of success, it is difficult 
to track comparable changes over time. However, we can be certain that 
there has consistently been a gap between the least and most disadvantaged 
children across all nations, that this is not new and that this will not close in 
the near future with current rates of progress. The Organization for Economic 
Cooperation and Development’s Programme for International Student Assessment 
measured students’ reading ability in 2018. It showed little improvement in the 
socio-economic reading attainment gap in the UK between 2009 and 2018.

page 133



UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 111

In 2020, students in each UK education system did not sit normal exams due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic, and instead teachers evaluated their work. This 
means that the latest year of data is not directly comparable. In England, a 
higher proportion of both disadvantaged and not known to be disadvantaged 
students achieved a grade five or above in GCSE English and maths in 2020/21, 
when teachers assessed grades, than in previous years when traditional exams 
were taken. In 2021/22 the proportion returned to levels similar to 2019/20 
for students not known to be from a disadvantaged background while it fell 
below that level for disadvantaged students. This means that the attainment gap 
widened slightly in 2021/22.7

In Scotland the results from teacher evaluation instead of typical exams reduced 
the attainment gap at Level 5 from 21 percentage points to 18 percentage 
points. Before this, the gap between young people in the most and least deprived 
neighbourhoods achieving one pass narrowed between 2009/10 and 2016/17 
as attainment of children from deprived neighbourhoods increased, but had 
remained stable since then.

In Wales the attainment gap in A*–C grades awarded at GCSE level has remained 
relatively constant since 2016/17, at around 27 percentage points. However, in 
2019/20 the gap spiked to 35 percentage points as students not in receipt of free 
school meals saw attainment rise.

In Northern Ireland since 2005/06, attainment at GCSE level for young people 
getting FSM has improved in line with those not getting FSM, however, this 
means that the attainment gap has remained relatively stable. In the most recent 
year, this gap had fallen slightly from 29 percentage points in 2018/19 to 24 
points in 2020/21.

What are the future prospects?

Research shows that the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has generally widened 
the attainment gap between the most and least disadvantaged pupils in the 
UK. This is due to a range of factors including the digital divide, home learning 
environments and potentially deepening poverty over the pandemic.

The challenges faced due to the cost of living crisis by families with children is 
likely to affect young people’s learning and attainment. As families cut back on 
essentials as they struggle to keep up with rising costs, the number of children 
attending school hungry is likely to rise, affecting their ability to take part and 
engage at school. Taking part fully in school, from having the right school uniform 
to attending school trips, also comes with costs that a growing number of families 
will struggle to cover as the cost of essentials rise (CPAG, 2022). Parental stress 
and worry is also known to have a negative impact on young people’s ability to 
learn in school, and this is likely to increase as a growing number of families worry 
about making ends meet.

page 134

https://cpag.org.uk/cost-of-the-school-day


UK Poverty 2023 The experience of being in poverty

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 112

How does this interact with other areas?

Education is an important driver of future poverty as it affects employment 
outcomes and earnings. It can also help to lessen poverty among future 
generations by ensuring parents have the essential skills needed to support their 
children and have access to services.

page 135



Annexes

UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 113

Annex 1: Poverty definitions 114

Annex 2: Macro economy 116

Annex 3: Average incomes and inequality 121

Annex 4: Public attitudes to poverty 124

Annex 5:  Note on data quality in the 2020/21 
Family Resources Survey 128

page 136



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 114

Annexes

Annex 1: Poverty definitions
Being in poverty is when your resources are well below what is enough to meet 
your minimum needs, including taking part in society. There are a several ways of 
measuring this. Headline measures include:

• Relative poverty after housing costs (AHC), that is where someone’s 
household income is below 60% of the middle household’s income, adjusted 
for family size and composition. This looks at whether the incomes of poorer 
households are catching up with average incomes.

• The Social Metrics Commission’s (SMC) core measure of poverty, which is 
low material resources compared with inescapable costs including housing 
costs. This looks beyond income at all material resources, assesses extra 
costs, including those due to disability and childcare, and includes people 
sleeping rough. It also uses a smoothed poverty line to avoid potentially 
misleading year-on-year changes.

• Absolute poverty AHC, that is where someone’s household income is below 
a fixed line based on an inflation-adjusted 2010/11 poverty line (set at 60% 
of median AHC income in 2010/11). This looks at whether the incomes of 
poorer households are increasing faster than inflation.

One important thing to note is that these measures are based on household 
income and vary in how sensitive they are to changes in the cost of living and 
high inflation. Of these measures, absolute poverty is most directly affected by 
immediate changes in the cost of living, as the poverty line rises with inflation. 
Relative poverty and the SMC measures are less sensitive to changes in the cost 
of living, with changes in both determined by how incomes of poorer households 
compare with those with higher incomes. Material deprivation measures, which 
are based on whether families say they are unable to access or afford a range of 
particular goods and activities, are also useful measures during periods where 
prices are rising quickly.

In this report, when we use the term poverty we are using the relative poverty 
rate AHC to measure poverty unless otherwise stated. As can be seen in JRF’s 
UK Poverty 2020/21 report (JRF, 2021), analysis shows that all measures agree 
on some of the key groups who have higher rates of poverty, including children, 
people in families not containing full-time workers, people in lone-parent families, 
people in families containing a disabled person, people in families with three or 
more children, people in rented accommodation, and people in households headed 
by someone of non-white ethnicity (particularly those of Pakistani, Bangladeshi or 
Black ethnicity).

page 137



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 115

The relative poverty after housing costs thresholds and median household 
incomes for various family types are given in the table below.

Poverty lines for different family types and thresholds in 2020/21

Household 
type

Median 
income

Poverty 
threshold 

(60% of median)

Deep 
poverty 

threshold 
(50% of median)

Very deep 
poverty 

threshold 
(40% of median)

Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Weekly Annual Weekly Annual

Lone parent 
with two 
children, 
one 14 or 
over and one 
under 14

£566 £29,500 £340 £17,700 £283 £14,800 £226 £11,800

Couple 
with two 
children, 
one 14 or 
over and one 
under 14

£764 £39,800 £458 £23,900 £382 £19,900 £306 £15,900

Adult, no 
children

£274 £14,300 £164 £8,600 £137 £7,100 £109 £5,700

Couple with 
no children

£472 £24,600 £283 £14,800 £236 £12,300 £189 £9,800

page 138



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 116

Annex 2: Macro economy
In looking at how poverty is changing, it is important to consider the performance 
of the wider macro economy. The health of the economy will have a bearing on lots 
of the factors affecting poverty levels. This includes tax revenues paying for public 
services and state support including social security, the performance of the labour 
market in terms of the number of jobs available, and how inflation is changing the 
cost of living. This annex draws on the Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR) 
latest Economic and Fiscal Outlook report and compares this to what it expected 
the prospects for the future were in the Economic and Fiscal Outlook report 
immediately before our last assessment of prospects for poverty in the United 
Kingdom (OBR, 2022). Since our last report there has been severe economic 
headwinds ranging from the war in Ukraine which has massively increased energy 
costs, as well as having a large knock-on effect on the price of other goods and 
services, to political instability here in the UK. The cumulative effect of this will be 
to worsen the macro-economic picture since the last report.

While only giving a partial picture, how the UK’s gross domestic product (GDP) 
per head is changing is an important measure of the health of the economy. We 
knew this showed a big coronavirus-related fall between the last quarter of 2019 
and second quarter of 2020. Because of subsequent coronavirus-related measures 
put in place, as well as long-term damage to the economy, in the October 2021 
Economic and Fiscal Outlook report, GDP per head was not forecast to rise above 
its pre-coronavirus level until some time during 2022. Unfortunately, future 
prospects have worsened since then, with the OBR’s assessment being that 
the United Kingdom is currently in recession, and GDP per head is expected to 
continue to fall until the middle of 2023. It is not expected to return to the level 
it had achieved at the end of 2019 until the second half of 2025.

page 139

https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-november-2022/


UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 117

Real GDP per head fell during the pandemic and rose immediately 
afterwards but is now falling again and will take many years to reach its 
pre-pandemic level

Source: OBR: Economic and Fiscal Outlook October 2021

The coronavirus-related reduction in GDP contributed to reduced employment, 
with the proportion of the 16+ population in employment falling by almost 
2 percentage points between the start and end of 2020 (equating to a decrease of 
800,000 in employment). The period from Q1 2021 to Q2 2022 saw a recovery 
in the labour market with an increase in the employment rate of 1 percentage 
point, which was a bigger improvement than the OBR forecast in October 2021, 
in part due to it over-estimating the effect of the withdrawal of the Coronavirus 
Job Retention Scheme and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme on 
unemployment. However, the medium-term forecast has worsened as part of the 
current recession, with employment expected to fall back to 60% by the start of 
2024 and still be below its current level at the start of 2028.

page 140



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 118

Employment fell during the coronavirus pandemic then rose until 
mid-2022, but is expected to fall from then until early 2024

Source: OBR: Economic and Fiscal Outlook October 2021

Inflation is where the worsening picture since our last report is most vividly seen. 
Inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index remained low through to the 
start of 2021 but rose rapidly over the course of 2021 and is not forecast to peak 
until late-2022 at a level of around 11% – a level not seen for around 40 years. 
The OBR then forecast rapidly falling inflation during 2023 and early 2024, with 
CPI forecast to be negative during 2024 and 2025 (indicating falling prices overall), 
before returning to within the margins around the Bank of England target CPI 
inflation rate in 2027.

page 141



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 119

Inflation was low at the start of the pandemic, but since then has risen 
very rapidly to levels last seen 40 years ago

Source: OBR: Economic and Fiscal Outlook October 2021

The pandemic massively increased public spending as a proportion of GDP to 
over half, the highest level since the Second World War. This was due to both 
increased pandemic-related public spending and a falling GDP. As shown earlier, 
GDP is forecast to fall in future years to levels lower than those forecast in October 
2021. This means that, while public spending has fallen as pandemic-related 
spending decreased, the proportion is forecast to settle at around 44.5% of GDP. 
This is higher than the level of around 40% seen before the financial crisis and 
41.5% which was the level forecast in October 2021. Much of the increase is due 
to increased debt interest, as well as increased spending on the National Health 
Service.

page 142



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 120

Public spending as a proportion of GDP increased during the pandemic 
before falling subsequently, but is expected to settle above the pre-
pandemic level

Source: OBR: Economic and Fiscal Outlook October 2021

page 143



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 121

Annex 3: Average incomes and inequality
A good measure of changes in overall living standards is how average incomes have 
moved over time. Incomes tend to grow over time as the gross domestic product 
of a country increases. Looking at how average incomes change also helps to 
understand changes in poverty, as the measure we use in this report is based on 
a threshold of 60% of median equivalised household income after housing costs 
have been deducted, so the poverty line increases when average incomes increase.

The chart below shows how average incomes have changed since 2008/09 
according to three measures: equivalised median income after housing costs have 
been deducted (the threshold used for our poverty statistics), equivalised median 
income before housing costs and real household disposable income (RHDI) per 
head, which is a national accounts derived dataset which includes the money 
households have to spend on consumption, or to save and invest, after taxes, 
National Insurance, pension contributions and interest have been paid. This data 
also includes incomes of non-profit institutions that provide goods or services to 
households including charities, trade unions and religious organisations. Therefore 
changes in the series may not be solely due to changes in household incomes, but 
it is a useful indicator of future household income prospects.8

Real household disposable income is expected to fall dramatically 
between 2021/22 and 2023/24 and is forecast to still be below its 
pre-pandemic level in 2027/28

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP & OBR: Economic and Fiscal Outlook 
October 2021

page 144



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 122

The income measures based on households below average income (HBAI) series 
follow a similar pattern to the national accounts RHDI index, with a fall in average 
incomes between 2009/10 and 2011/12 following the financial crisis, before a 
period of broadly growing incomes to 2019/20. The coronavirus pandemic stalled 
this growth, with the HBAI series showing a fall between 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
The RHDI series shows a large fall between 2021/22 and 2023/24, with incomes 
still below their 2019/20 level in 2027/28.

Two of the most commonly used measures of income inequality are the Gini 
Coefficient and the 90:10 ratio. The Gini Coefficient shows how incomes are 
distributed across all individuals. It ranges from zero (when everybody has 
identical incomes) to 100% (when all income goes to only one person). The 
90:10 ratio is the average (median) income of the top 20% (quintile five) divided 
by the average income of the bottom 20% (quintile one). The chart below shows 
that income inequality fell following the financial crisis (between 2009/10 and 
2010/11) but shows a very slightly increasing trend from then up to 2019/20.

There were relatively large falls in 2020/21, probably due in part to increased 
income from benefits during the coronavirus pandemic that supported the 
incomes of the poorest compared with those in the middle of the distribution 
who saw falling incomes. The Gini Coefficient in 2020/21 was around 2012/13 
levels, while the 90:10 ratio was around its 2005/06 level (not shown on chart). 
The future trend in inequality is uncertain – the Autumn Statement measures 
were broadly progressive, with benefits being uprated as usual. Much will depend 
on how the recession that we are now entering plays out. However, what is clear is 
that it is likely that most people will see falling living standards for a period.

page 145



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 123

Income inequality fell in 2020/21, probably due to coronavirus-related 
payments protecting the incomes of poorer households

Source: Households Below Average Income, 2020/21, DWP.

page 146



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 124

Annex 4: Public attitudes to poverty
It should be a fundamental responsibility of government to provide an adequate 
social security safety net and support for those out-of-work regardless of public 
attitudes. Nonetheless, as the British public continues to become more supportive 
of the UK Government helping those in need rather than weakening the safety 
net, public opinion provides an additional case for strengthening the support 
available to those out-of-work or claiming social security.

The British Social Attitudes Survey has looked at public attitudes on a wide range 
of topics, including government spending, social security and employment, since 
1983. Data from the latest wave of the survey, conducted in 2021, found that the 
public continues to become increasingly supportive of government action to help 
people in need (Curtice, 2022). Attitudes towards government tax and spending 
on health, education and social benefits have become more favourable over the 
past decade. At least half of the British public has agreed that these should be 
increased since 2017, while only around 1 in 20 people supported cuts to tax and 
spending throughout this period.

Since 2017, the majority of the British public has agreed that the 
government should increase tax and spending on health, education 
and social benefits

Source: British Social Attitudes survey, 1983–2021

page 147

https://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/39481/bsa39_taxation-welfare-and-inequality.pdf


UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 125

There has also been a smaller, but still notable, increase in the proportion of 
people who agree that the government should redistribute income from the 
better-off to those who are less well off over the course of the last decade; in 2021 
almost half of respondents (49%) agreed with this statement, compared with 37% 
10 years earlier. Support for government redistribution in the latest BSA was at its 
highest level since 1994.

The British public has also become more sympathetic to people receiving social 
security and benefits. Between 2007 and 2015, more than half of respondents 
to the BSA agreed that ‘if welfare benefits weren’t so generous, people would 
learn to stand on their own two feet’. In 2017, this fell to under 40% for the 
first time in 17 years, with similar numbers of people agreeing and disagreeing 
with this statement in 2021 (39% agreed and 38% disagreed). There has been a 
bigger change in people’s attitudes to how much people on social security deserve 
help. Since 2012, the proportion of people who disagree with the statement that 
‘many people who get social security don’t really deserve any help’ has risen from 
just under 3 out of 10 people to just over 4 out of 10 people. In the 2021 BSA, 
people were almost twice as likely to disagree as to agree with this statement 
(43% compared with 22%). Over the same period, people have also become more 
likely to disagree with the statement that ‘Most people on the dole are fiddling in 
one way or another’.

page 148



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 126

Almost half the British public agrees that the government should 
redistribute income from the better off to those who are less well off, 
and around 4 out of 10 have sympathetic attitudes to people receiving 
social security and benefits

Source: British Social Attitudes survey, 1983–2021

YouGov polling (2022) has also found sympathetic attitudes towards people 
receiving benefits; since June 2019, a majority of people polled have consistently 
said that either all/almost all or the majority of people who receive benefits are 
genuinely in need and deserving of help, with only around 1 in 10 believing that a 
minority or hardly any/none deserve help.

As high inflation and the increased cost of living across the UK has led to 
increasing pressures on low-income families, public opinion has continued to be in 
favour of a benefits system that supports their financial needs as costs continue 
to rise. According to polling by YouGov for JRF in October 2022, the majority of 
the public agreed that benefits should go up in line with inflation, with only 7% of 
people saying that they should not go up at all.

page 149

https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/trackers/do-brits-think-people-that-receive-benefit-deserve-it


UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 127

Support for additional support for low-income households through the social 
security and benefits systems comes after increased levels of government 
spending during the pandemic. While trends over time from the BSA suggest that 
support for tax and spending on health, education and social benefits increased 
as government spending was cut through the 2010s, the British public continues 
to support increases in benefit rates and the strengthening of the social security 
safety to protect those most in need.

page 150



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 128

Annex 5:  Note on data quality in the 2020/21 Family 
Resources Survey

The majority of findings in this report come from data collected in the Family 
Resources Survey (FRS) in 2020/21 and the Household Below Average Income 
(HBAI) data that was generated from this. These datasets are the UK’s official 
source of poverty estimates. They are used to estimate current levels of poverty 
across the UK and if, and how, the poverty rate has changed over time. Previous 
UK Poverty reports have drawn extensively on figures made available by the 
Department of Work and Pensions from these datasets.

Like all activities that required face-to-face contact during the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the lockdown restrictions introduced in March 2020 meant that face-to-face 
interviewing for the FRS had to be halted. This was replaced with telephone 
interviews for all data collected for the 2020/21 FRS. While this facilitated the 
collection of important information about households across the UK during a time 
of much economic and social disruption, the speed of the change to the survey 
mode did not allow for any testing to take place to investigate any potential impact 
on response rates, sample quality or unobservable bias. Therefore figures for this 
year are subject to additional uncertainty and may not be strictly comparable with 
previous years.

Changes to the survey mode in 2020/21 affected the size and composition of the 
sample of respondents from whom data was collected. This was particularly the 
case in the first half of the survey year, when changes to the fieldwork approach 
were first made. The achieved sample size for the 2020/21 FRS was just over 
10,000 households, compared with between 19,000 and 20,000 households 
in previous years. While different approaches (such as knock to nudge) were 
introduced in the second half of the year in some nations to increase response 
rates, it is not clear what additional biases these could have brought to the sample.

It is known, however, that the achieved sample of the 2020/21 FRS was older, 
more affluent and less likely to have children than in previous years. Working-
age respondents were also more likely to hold a university degree than in the 
population as a whole. There were also notable changes in the estimates of the 
number of disabled people across the UK from the survey. These differences 
(a 2 percentage point increase in the proportion of working-age adults reporting 
being disabled coupled with a 4 percentage point decline among pension-age 
people) are believed to have been driven, at least in some part, by sample bias.

page 151



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 129

To address these concerns about the data collected in the FRS, the grossing 
regime used for the FRS and HBIA data was changed. This included weighting 
the sample by respondents’ interview month to ensure the sample was balanced 
across the year (sample sizes were smaller at the beginning of the survey year, as 
the pandemic took hold), which was particularly important given fluctuations to 
household incomes over the course of the year. Responses were also weighted by 
respondents’ level of education due to low response rates among young people 
with education levels below degree level, as well as age, gender and region for the 
sample overall.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic was particularly relevant for many parts 
of the FRS that are used to calculate HBAI estimates. This included changes in 
household composition (including a decrease in the number of childless single 
adults living with other childless single adults), as well as changes in income 
(from earnings or benefits), employment, hours worked or the amount of support 
received from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme or the Self Employment 
Income Support Scheme throughout the year. Although the undercounting 
of benefits has been a long-term problem in such surveys, the DWP’s quality 
assurance process of the 2020/21 FRS data found inconsistent undercounting of 
the number of people receiving Universal Credit throughout the year. This will 
have affected low-income estimates most directly and, for example, is believed to 
be one of the drivers of lower than expected low-income rates in data collected in 
the first half of the year.

This is why it is recommended that analysis of small sub-groups of respondents 
within the data is carried out with caution. For this report, it is worth noting 
that the DWP has flagged child low-income rates broken down by further by 
other characteristics as a particular area of concern. Therefore, the DWP has 
not published the full range of detailed breakdowns that have previously been 
part of its FRS report, or made the data available on Stat Xplore for additional 
breakdowns of results. In addition, neither the Scottish Government, the Welsh 
Government nor the Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency published 
poverty statistics for the three-year period 2018–21 due to the underlying 
weaknesses in the data. Similarly, we decided not to publish our usual analysis of 
the figures in Poverty in Scotland 2022 (Birt et al, 2022) as the sub-sample of data 
for Scotland alone was not considered reliable enough to offer reliable insights 
into any trend over time.

page 152



UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 130

The DWP has conducted extensive quality assurance on the 2020/21 dataset, 
including assessments that found that item response accuracy was very similar 
to previous survey years. It has also made the raw data available for additional 
analysis through the UK Data Service. Therefore this report includes findings from 
breakdowns of smaller sub-groups within the data. This allows us to offer insights 
into differences in experiences of poverty during the Covid-19 pandemic between 
different groups of people within the data, and to place these results in context 
with longer-term trends seen from previous years’ data. In previous UK Poverty 
reports, analysis of breakdowns for small sub-groups of people were conducted 
using results from three years’ worth of data to ensure more robust findings. This 
approach has been replicated again for breakdowns by region and by ethnicity, 
which – as in previous years – facilitates the report of findings from these small 
samples of respondents within the data. Furthermore, no results are reported 
when the unweighted base of any group analysed is under 100 respondents.

While there are some concerns about the quality of the data available for 
analysis, and particularly for analysis broken down for smaller groups within 
the population, we still consider analysis of this data to offer valuable insights 
into poverty in the UK during the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic. While 
some findings need to be treated with more caution than in previous reports 
based on FRS and HBAI data, it is important to better understand people’s risk 
and experience of poverty during the pandemic, even though at times it may be 
difficult to distinguish between changes in findings that are driven by real world 
changes and potential issues with data collection during the pandemic. Analysis 
of the 2021/22 data will offer some insights into the extent to which any results 
of analysis using the 2020/21 data were driven by methodological changes. 
However, given that the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic brought economic 
disruption across the UK and an expansion of the social security system to help 
support people across the country, analysis of the 2020/21 data with its flaws 
offers an invaluable opportunity to investigate key factors linked to the causes and 
consequences of poverty in the UK.

page 153



Joseph Rowntree Foundation 131

UK Poverty 2023 Notes

1 Figures do not sum, due to rounding each separately.

2 Excludes children who are not in full-time work or education or training as they 
are classified as working age adults.

3 See https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9090/CBP-
9090.pdf for a comprehensive list of changes. These include among others: the 
benefit cap, the high income child benefit charge, localisation of Council Tax 
support, reforms to ESA, the under-occupation deduction (commonly known 
as the bedroom tax), changes to the calculation of local housing allowances, 
introduction of Personal Independence Payments, abolishing the Social Fund, 
turning Support for Mortgage Interest into a loan, introducing the two-child 
limit for certain benefits, introducing Universal Credit, changes to uprating 
including a benefits freeze.

4 JRF analysis of the Quarterly Labour Force Survey April–July 2022.

5 Liquid savings are made up of money in current and savings accounts, ISAs, 
national savings certificates/bonds, UK shares and UK gilts.

6 Calculated from equivalised net household income before housing costs.

7 The Department for Education states that due to all GCSEs in England 
having been reformed and using the new 9 to 1 grading system (rather than 
A*–G), year on year comparisons will be limited until these qualifications are 
consistently included from 2020 onwards. However, results for 2020 and 2021 
are not comparable with earlier years due to the cancellation of exams (due to 
Covid-19) and the changes to the way GCSE grades were awarded and results 
for 2022 are not comparable with previous years due to the changes relating to 
grading assessments.

8 Figure 1 at www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/
alternativemeasuresofrealhouseholdsdisposableincomeandthesavingratio/
apriltojune2018 shows the difference made by inclusion of non-profit 
institutions serving households is relatively small.

Notes

page 154

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9090/CBP-9090.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9090/CBP-9090.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/alternativemeasuresofrealhouseholdsdisposableincomeandthesavingratio/apriltojune2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/alternativemeasuresofrealhouseholdsdisposableincomeandthesavingratio/apriltojune2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/alternativemeasuresofrealhouseholdsdisposableincomeandthesavingratio/apriltojune2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/alternativemeasuresofrealhouseholdsdisposableincomeandthesavingratio/apriltojune2018


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 132

UK Poverty 2023 References

All Party Parliamentary Group for Ending Homelessness (2022) Is the 
Westminster Government on track to meet its manifesto commitment to ‘end 
the blight of rough sleeping’ in England by the end of this Parliament? [Online] 
Available at: https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/247903/crisis-appgeh-report-on-
ending-rough-sleeping-by-2024.pdf [Accessed: 9 December 2022].

Bank of England (2020) How has Covid affected household savings. [Online] 
Available at: https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/bank-overground/2020/how-has-
covid-affected-household-savings [Accessed: 28 November 2022].

Birt C, Cebula C, Evans J and Hay D (2022) Poverty in Scotland 2022 – what 
more evidence do governments need to act? York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 
Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-scotland-2022.

Blanden J and Machin S (2017) Millennium cohort study briefing 13: 
Intergenerational inequality in early years assessments. [Online] Available 
at: https://cls.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/13_briefing_web.pdf 
[Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Bramley G, Treanor M, Sosenko F and Littlewood M (2021) State of hunger. 
The Trussell Trust. [Online] Available at: www.trusselltrust.org/state-of-hunger 
[Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Carers UK (2022) State of caring 2022: A snapshot of unpaid care in the UK. 
[Online] Available at: www.carersuk.org/images/Research/CUK_State_of_
Caring_2022_report.pdf [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Child Poverty Action Group (2022) Cost of the school day. [Online] Available at: 
https://cpag.org.uk/cost-of-the-school-day [Accessed: 9 November 2022].

Clark T and Wenham A (2022) Anxiety nation? Economic insecurity and mental 
distress in 2020s Britain. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: www.
jrf.org.uk/report/anxiety-nation-economic-insecurity-and-mental-distress-2020s-
britain [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Curtice J (2022) British social attitudes 39: Taxation, welfare and inequality. 
[Online] Available at: www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/39481/bsa39_taxation-
welfare-and-inequality.pdf [Accessed: 24 November 2022].

References

page 155

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/247903/crisis-appgeh-report-on-ending-rough-sleeping-by-2024.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/247903/crisis-appgeh-report-on-ending-rough-sleeping-by-2024.pdf
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/bank-overground/2020/how-has-covid-affected-household-savings
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/bank-overground/2020/how-has-covid-affected-household-savings
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-scotland-2022
https://cls.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/13_briefing_web.pdf
https://www.trusselltrust.org/state-of-hunger/
https://www.carersuk.org/images/Research/CUK_State_of_Caring_2022_report.pdf
https://www.carersuk.org/images/Research/CUK_State_of_Caring_2022_report.pdf
https://cpag.org.uk/cost-of-the-school-day
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/anxiety-nation-economic-insecurity-and-mental-distress-2020s-britain
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/anxiety-nation-economic-insecurity-and-mental-distress-2020s-britain
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/anxiety-nation-economic-insecurity-and-mental-distress-2020s-britain
https://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/39481/bsa39_taxation-welfare-and-inequality.pdf
https://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/39481/bsa39_taxation-welfare-and-inequality.pdf


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 133

UK Poverty 2023 References

Department for Work and Pensions (2022a) Family resources survey: financial year 
2020 to 2021. [Online] Available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-
resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021 [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Department for Work and Pensions (2022b) Households below average income: 
for financial years ending 1995 to 2021. [Online] Available at: www.gov.uk/
government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-
ending-1995-to-2021 [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Department for Work and Pensions (2022c) Income dynamics: income movements 
and the persistence of low income, 2010 to 2020. [Online] Available at: www.gov.
uk/government/statistics/income-dynamics-2010-to-2020/income-dynamics-
income-movements-and-the-persistence-of-low-income-2010-to-2020 
[Accessed: 1 December 2022].

Department for Work and Pensions (2022d) Official statistics: The employment 
of disabled people 2021. [Online] Available at: www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-
people-2021 [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Department for Work & Pensions (2022e) Ethnicity facts and figures. [Online] 
Available at: www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/ 
[Accessed: 28 November 2022].

Dolby T, Finning K, Baker A, Fowler-Dowd L, Khunti K, Razieh C, Yates T 
and Nafilyan V (2022) Monitoring sociodemographic inequality in COVID-19 
vaccination uptake in England: a national linked data study. [Online] Available at: 
https://jech.bmj.com/content/76/7/646 [Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Earwaker, R (2022a) Going under and without: JRF’s cost of living tracker, winter 
2022/23. [Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-under-and-without-
jrfs-cost-living-tracker-winter-202223 [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Earwaker, R (2022b) Not heating, eating or meeting bills: managing a cost of living 
crisis on a low income. [Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/not-heating-
eating-or-meeting-bills-managing-cost-living-crisis-low-income 
[Accessed: 26 November 2022].

Elliott, J (2022) London, the North of England, and Scotland hit hardest by the 
crisis of spiralling prices. [Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/blog/london-north-
england-and-scotland-hit-hardest-crisis-spiralling-prices 
[Accessed: 12 December 2022].

Fitzpatrick S, Bramley G, Blenkinsopp J, Wood J, Sosenko F, Littlewood M, 
Johnsen S, Watts B, Treanor M and McIntyre J (2021) Destitution in the UK. 
[Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/destitution-uk-2020 
[Accessed: 12 December 2022].

page 156

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/income-dynamics-2010-to-2020/income-dynamics-income-movements-and-the-persistence-of-low-income-2010-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/income-dynamics-2010-to-2020/income-dynamics-income-movements-and-the-persistence-of-low-income-2010-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/income-dynamics-2010-to-2020/income-dynamics-income-movements-and-the-persistence-of-low-income-2010-to-2020
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk
https://jech.bmj.com/content/76/7/646
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-under-and-without-jrfs-cost-living-tracker-winter-202223
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-under-and-without-jrfs-cost-living-tracker-winter-202223
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/not-heating-eating-or-meeting-bills-managing-cost-living-crisis-low-income
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/not-heating-eating-or-meeting-bills-managing-cost-living-crisis-low-income
https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/london-north-england-and-scotland-hit-hardest-crisis-spiralling-prices
https://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/london-north-england-and-scotland-hit-hardest-crisis-spiralling-prices
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/destitution-uk-2020


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 134

UK Poverty 2023 References

John E, Thomas G and Touchet A (2019) The disability price tag 2019 policy 
report. [Online] Available at: https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/
disability-price-tag/ [Accessed: 28 November 2022].

JRF (2021) UK poverty 2020/21. The leading independent report. York: JRF. 
Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2020-21 
[Accessed: 9 December 2022].

JRF (2022) UK poverty 2022. The essential guide to understanding poverty in 
the UK. York: JRF. Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2022 
[Accessed: 9 December 2022].

Lai E, Wickham S, Law C, Whitehead M, Barr B and Taylor-Robinson D (2019) 
Poverty dynamics and health in late childhood in the UK: evidence from 
the Millennium Cohort Study. [Online] Available at: https://adc.bmj.com/
content/104/11/1049 [Accessed: 23 November 2021].

McGowan V and Bambra C (2022) COVID-19 mortality and deprivation: 
pandemic, syndemic, and endemic health inequalities. [Online] Available at: 
www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00223-7/fulltext 
[Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Moore J (2021) So now we know – one in five employers wouldn’t hire a disabled 
person, The Independent, 30 November. Available at: www.independent.co.uk/
voices/disability-employment-gap-discrimination-pagegroup-b1966891.html 
[Accessed: 5 December 2022].

National Records of Scotland (2022a) Deaths involving coronavirus (COVID-19) 
in Scotland. Edinburgh: NRS. Available at: www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-
monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-
scotland [Accessed: 14 November 2022].

National Records of Scotland (2022b) Life expectancy in Scotland 2019-21. 
Edinburgh: NRS. Available at: www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files/statistics/life-
expectancy-in-scotland/19-21/life-expectancy-19-21-report.pdf 
[Accessed 15 December 2022].

National Records of Scotland (2022c) Long-term monitoring of health 
inequalities: March 2022 report. Edinburgh: NRS. Available at: www.gov.scot/
publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-march-2022-report/
pages/6/ [Accessed 15 December 2022].

Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA) (2021) Covid-19 deaths, 
March 2020 to January 2021. Belfast: NISRA. Available at: www.nisra.gov.uk/
news/covid-19-deaths-march-2020-january-2021 [Accessed: 14 November 2022].

page 157

https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag/
https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag/
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2020-21
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2022
https://adc.bmj.com/content/104/11/1049
https://adc.bmj.com/content/104/11/1049
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00223-7/fulltext
https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/disability-employment-gap-discrimination-pagegroup-b1966891.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/disability-employment-gap-discrimination-pagegroup-b1966891.html
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files/statistics/life-expectancy-in-scotland/19-21/life-expectancy-19-21-report.pdf
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files/statistics/life-expectancy-in-scotland/19-21/life-expectancy-19-21-report.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-march-2022-report/pages/6/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-march-2022-report/pages/6/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-march-2022-report/pages/6/
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/news/covid-19-deaths-march-2020-january-2021
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/news/covid-19-deaths-march-2020-january-2021


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 135

UK Poverty 2023 References

Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA) (2022) Life Expectancy 
in Northern Ireland 2018–20. Belfast: NISRA. Available at: www.health-ni.gov.
uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/hscims-life-expectancy-ni-2018-20.pdf 
[Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) (2022) Economic and fiscal outlook – 
November 2022. London: OBR. Available at: https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-
fiscal-outlook-november-2022/ [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2020) Young people’s well-being measures. 
[Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
wellbeing/datasets/youngpeopleswellbeingmeasures 
[Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2021a) Deaths due to COVID-19 
by local area and deprivation. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/
deathsduetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation [Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2021b) Health state life 
expectancies by Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2015 and IMD 
2019): England, all ages. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/
healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages 
[Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022a) Health state life expectancies 
by national deprivation deciles, England: 2018 to 2020. [Online] 
Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/
healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020 
[Accessed: 14 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022b) Health state life expectancies 
by national deprivation quintiles, Wales: 2018 to 2020. [Online]. 
Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/
healthstatelifeexpectanciesbynationaldeprivationdecileswales/2018to2020 
[Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022c) Impact of increased cost of living 
on adults across Great Britain: June to September 2022. [Online] Available at: 
www.ons.gov.uk/releases/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritain 
junetoseptember2022 [Accessed: 8 November 2022].

page 158

https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/hscims-life-expectancy-ni-2018-20.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/hscims-life-expectancy-ni-2018-20.pdf
https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-november-2022/
https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-november-2022/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/datasets/youngpeopleswellbeingmeasures
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/datasets/youngpeopleswellbeingmeasures
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimdenglandallages
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbynationaldeprivationdecileswales/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbynationaldeprivationdecileswales/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbynationaldeprivationdecileswales/2018to2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritainjunetoseptember2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/impactofincreasedcostoflivingonadultsacrossgreatbritainjunetoseptember2022


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 136

UK Poverty 2023 References

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022d) Index of Private Housing Rental 
Prices, UK, November 2022. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/economy/
inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/
november2022 [accessed 14 December 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022e) Labour market overview, UK: October 
2022. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/
peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/
october2022 [Accessed: 8 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022f) Labour market overview, 
UK: December 2022. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/
employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/
bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022 [Accessed: 13 December 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022g) Outcomes for disabled 
people in the UK: 2021. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/
outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2021 [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2022h) Wealth and assets survey, waves 1–5 
and rounds 5–7, 2006–2020. [data collection]. 17th Edition. UK Data Service. SN: 
7215, DOI: 10.5255/UKDA-SN-7215-17.

Office for National Statistics (ONS) and HM Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) (2022) Earnings and employment from pay as you earn 
real time information. [Online] Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/
employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/
bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/
november2022 [Accessed 29 November 2022].

Office for Students (2020) Differences in student outcomes: further characteristics. 
[Online] Available at: www.officeforstudents.org.uk/publications/differences-in-
student-outcomes-further-characteristics/ [Accessed: 8 December 2022].

Public Health Wales Observatory (2022) Health expectancies in Wales with 
inequality gap. [Online] Available at: https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/
PHWO_HeathExpectanciesWalesProfile_v2a/ [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Schmuecker K, Matejic P, Bestwick M and Clark T (2022) Going without: 
deepening poverty in the UK. [Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-
without-deepening-poverty-uk [Accessed: 17 November 2022].

Scottish Government (2020) Scottish index of multiple deprivation. 
[Online] Available at: www.gov.scot/collections/scottish-index-of-multiple-
deprivation-2020/ [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

page 159

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/october2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/november2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/earningsandemploymentfrompayasyouearnrealtimeinformationuk/november2022
https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/publications/differences-in-student-outcomes-further-characteristics/
https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/publications/differences-in-student-outcomes-further-characteristics/
https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/PHWO_HeathExpectanciesWalesProfile_v2a/
https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/PHWO_HeathExpectanciesWalesProfile_v2a/
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-without-deepening-poverty-uk
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/going-without-deepening-poverty-uk
https://www.gov.scot/collections/scottish-index-of-multiple-deprivation-2020/
https://www.gov.scot/collections/scottish-index-of-multiple-deprivation-2020/


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 137

UK Poverty 2023 References

Scottish Widows (2022) 2022 retirement report. [Online] Available at: 
https://adviser.scottishwidows.co.uk/assets/literature/docs/60677.pdf 
[Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Shaw B, Bernardes E, Trethewey A and Menzies L (2016) Special educational needs 
and their links to poverty .[Online] Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/report/special-
educational-needs-and-their-links-poverty [Accessed: 15 December 2022].

Stone J (2022) Local indicators of child poverty after housing costs, 2020/21. 
[Online] Available at: https://hdl.handle.net/2134/20974252.v1 
[Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Strand S (2021) Ethnic, socio-economic and sex inequalities in educational 
achievement at age 16. [Online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-
supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-
achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

The Food Foundation (2022) MP briefing, May 2022: food insecurity in 
households in receipt of benefits. [Online] Available at: https://foodfoundation.
org.uk/publication/mp-briefing-food-insecurity-levels-households-receiving-
universal-credit [Accessed: 12 December 2022].

The Health Foundation (2022) Percentage of employees in insecure work by 
region/nation, sex, age, ethnicity and income. [Online] Available at: www.health.
org.uk/evidence-hub/work/job-security/percentage-of-employees-in-involuntary-
insecure-work-by-region-sex-age-ethnicity-income [Accessed: 28 November 2022].

The Trussell Trust (2022a) Emergency food parcel distribution in the United 
Kingdom: April–September 2022. [Online] Available at: www.trusselltrust.org/
news-and-blog/latest-stats/mid-year-stats/ [Accessed: 18 November 2022].

The Trussell Trust (2022b) Trussell Trust data briefing on end-of-year statistics 
relating to use of food banks: April 2021–March 2022. [Online] Available at: www.
trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/ 
[Accessed: 27 October 2022].

Tims S and Caddick D (2022) Losing the inflation race. [Online] Available at: 
https://neweconomics.org/2022/05/losing-the-inflation-race 
[Accessed: 28 November 2022].

Welsh Government (2019) Achievement and entitlement to free school meals. 
[Online] Available at: https://gov.wales/achievement-and-entitlement-free-school-
meals#latest-release [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

page 160

https://adviser.scottishwidows.co.uk/assets/literature/docs/60677.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/special-educational-needs-and-their-links-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/special-educational-needs-and-their-links-poverty
https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Local_indicators_of_child_poverty_after_housing_costs_2020_21/20974252/1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-socio-economic-and-sex-inequalities-in-educational-achievement-at-age-16-by-professor-steve-strand
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/mp-briefing-food-insecurity-levels-households-receiving-universal-credit
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/mp-briefing-food-insecurity-levels-households-receiving-universal-credit
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/mp-briefing-food-insecurity-levels-households-receiving-universal-credit
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/work/job-security/percentage-of-employees-in-involuntary-insecure-work-by-region-sex-age-ethnicity-income
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/work/job-security/percentage-of-employees-in-involuntary-insecure-work-by-region-sex-age-ethnicity-income
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/work/job-security/percentage-of-employees-in-involuntary-insecure-work-by-region-sex-age-ethnicity-income
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/mid-year-stats/
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/mid-year-stats/
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/
https://neweconomics.org/2022/05/losing-the-inflation-race
https://www.gov.wales/achievement-and-entitlement-free-school-meals#latest-release
https://www.gov.wales/achievement-and-entitlement-free-school-meals#latest-release


Joseph Rowntree Foundation 138

UK Poverty 2023 References

YouGov (2022) Do Brits think people that receive benefit deserve it? [Online] 
Available at: https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/trackers/do-brits-think-people-
that-receive-benefit-deserve-it [Accessed: 25 November 2022].

Zoopla (2022) UK rental market report December 2022. [Online] Available 
at https://advantage.zpg.co.uk/insights/rental-market-report [Accessed: 12 
December 2022].

page 161

https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/trackers/do-brits-think-people-that-receive-benefit-deserve-it
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/trackers/do-brits-think-people-that-receive-benefit-deserve-it
https://advantage.zpg.co.uk/insights/rental-market-report/


UK Poverty 2023 Annexes

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 139
page 162



UK Poverty 2023 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 140

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation is working with governments, businesses, 
communities, charities and individuals to solve UK poverty. This report provides 
a comprehensive, independent and authoritative overview of UK poverty in 2022, 
which we hope will make more people want to solve poverty, understand it and 
take action.

A pdf version of this publication is available from the JRF website www.jrf.org.uk. 
Further copies of this report, or any other JRF publication, can be obtained from 
the JRF website www.jrf.org.uk/publications or by emailing publications@jrf.org.uk.

A CIP catalogue record for this report is available from the British Library.

All rights reserved. Reproduction of this report by photocopying or electronic 
means for non-commercial purposes is permitted. Otherwise, no part of this 
report may be reproduced, adapted, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted by 
any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, or otherwise without the prior 
written permission of the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

© Joseph Rowntree Foundation 2023

First published January 2023 by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation

ISBN 978 1 915305 09 1

Cover image: JRF / Holly Leese 
Typeset by: Pinnacle Graphic Design Ltd

Joseph Rowntree Foundation
The Homestead
40 Water End
York YO30 6WP
www.jrf.org.uk

Ref 3365

page 163


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 December 2022
	8 Update on Warm Spaces - Yusef Masih, Interim Housing Services Manager
	9 Greater Manchester Poverty Action East Devon District strategy - case study - Cll Dan Ledger, Chair
	10 Joseph Rowntree Foundation - The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK - Yusef Masih, Interim Housing Services Manager

